Division of Intensive Care Medicine Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine Helsinki University Hospital and Doctoral Program in Clinical Research Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

INFLAMMATION AND SEPTIC ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY

Sanna Törnblom

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Biomedicum Helsinki, Lecture Hall 2, Haartmaninkatu 8, on 3 March 2023, at noon.

Helsinki 2023

Supervisors

Docent Eero Pesonen Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Professor Ville Pettilä Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers

Docent Timo Kaakinen Medical Research Center of Oulu, Research Group of Translational Medicine and Intensive Care Unit, Oulu University Hospital Oulu, Finland

Docent Tapio Hellman Kidney Center Turku University Hospital and University of Turku Turku, Finland

Official Opponent

Docent Mika Valtonen Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care, Emergency Care and Pain Medicine Turku University Hospital and University of Turku Turku, Finland

The Faculty of Medicine uses the Ouriginal system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations.

ISBN 978-951-51-8917-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-8918-9 (PDF)

http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Unigrafia Helsinki 2023

To my family

ABSTRACT

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a frequent problem in intensive care units (ICUs): during their ICU stay, up to 50% of critically ill adults are diagnosed with AKI. Among them, the most common cause of AKI is sepsis. The risk factors and mechanisms of septic AKI have been updated recently, suggesting fluid balance and inflammation as potential targets for prophylactic and therapeutic interventions. The study objectives were: 1) to investigate the influence of adjusting plasma creatinine for fluid balance on ICU AKI incidence, 2) to study the association of inflammatory and neutrophil activation biomarkers with septic AKI and to assess their temporal variations during early sepsis, and 3) to scrutinize the incremental value of urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (uNGAL) to predict septic AKI and other intensive care outcomes. Studies I–IV utilized clinical data and samples from the national FINNish Acute Kidney Injury (FINNAKI) study. During a 6-month period, all emergency admissions and elective admissions with an expected ICU stay >24 h were included.

Study I included patients who stayed in the ICU for at least 24 h, were not transferred to other ICUs during the first 5 days, were not treated with renal replacement therapy (RRT) before ICU admission, and had recorded weight, fluid input and output data. Daily creatinine (Cr) values from the first five ICU days were adjusted for cumulative fluid balance, and either highest adjusted or highest unadjusted Cr alone or with urine output (UO) and RRT data was applied to obtain AKI incidence, using Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) criteria. Study I included 2044 patients. The mean difference between adjusted and unadjusted Cr values was 5 (\pm 15) µmol/l. Using adjusted Cr together with UO and RRT (full KDIGO criteria) yielded 19 (1%) additional AKI diagnoses, corresponding to 0.9% (95% confidence interval 0.3–1.6%) absolute difference in AKI incidence. Using only Cr criterium resulted in a slightly larger but not clinically meaningful differences existed between the reclassified and those not changing their AKI category.

Study II included a cohort of FINNAKI patients having both o h and 24 h plasma samples available and fulfilling severe sepsis criteria, by the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) and the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM), between 24 h preceding ICU admission and the second ICU day. Activin A, interleukins 6 (IL-6) and 8 (IL-8), and myeloperoxidase (MPO) were measured from plasma and urine upon ICU admission and from plasma 24 h later, and their associations with AKI were evaluated. Analyzing the 182 patients included in Study II, we found that increased plasma activin A and IL-8 were associated with septic AKI, indicating intravascular neutrophil activation.

Concomitant plasma and urine MPO measurements suggested that urine MPO might not have derived from plasma but possibly reflected renal neutrophil activation associated with septic AKI.

Study III included all Study II patients who had a recorded time label for the first sepsis-associated organ dysfunction (OD). To assess the kinetics of heparin binding protein (HBP), MPO, IL-6, and IL-8 in early sepsis, we compared their concentrations between healthy controls and three patient groups: those having the plasma sample taken >1 h before OD emergence, those with sample taken close to the first OD emergence (±1 h), and those with sample taken >1 h after OD emergence. Study III included 167 sepsis patients. Healthy controls had lower plasma HBP, MPO, IL-6, and IL-8 levels than sepsis patients. Unlike HBP and MPO, IL-6 and IL-8 levels differed among sepsis patients according to the sample timing: highest values were observed among those with sample obtained >1 h after the first OD and lowest among those with sample taken >1 h before the first OD.

Study IV included all sepsis patients meeting the latest Sepsis-3 criteria from the previous FINNAKI-NGAL study. To evaluate the clinical applicability of uNGAL, we first constructed clinical risk models using the routinely available admission data without uNGAL. We then assessed the ability of uNGAL to improve AKI, RRT, and 90-day mortality prediction in sepsis patients using recently introduced statistical instruments: risk assessment plot (RAP) and decision curve analysis (DCA). Analyzing the 484 sepsis patients included in Study IV, we found that adding uNGAL to the clinical risk models led to modest improvement in AKI and RRT prediction, but no change in 90-day mortality prediction. With test trade-offs between 40 (for AKI) and 74 (for RRT), we cannot recommend uNGAL for clinical use in this patient group.

To conclude, adjusting Cr for fluid balance was unnecessary to diagnose and stage AKI or to detect high—risk ICU patients if the full KDIGO criteria, including UO, were applied. Septic AKI and systemic neutrophil activation were linked. Concomitant plasma and urine neutrophil activation marker measurements suggested neutrophil accumulation in the kidneys of patients with septic AKI. Systemic elevation of neutrophil activation markers HBP and MPO was an early event in sepsis, appearing before the first OD emerged. HBP and MPO plasma levels were not influenced by the sampling time within the first 24 h following ICU admission, unlike IL-6 and IL-8. uNGAL, a proposed biomarker for AKI prediction among sepsis patients, did not offer clinically meaningful incremental value to predict AKI or other relevant clinical outcomes.

Keywords: acute kidney injury, fluid balance, creatinine, incidence, mortality, activin A, interleukin 6, interleukin 8, myeloperoxidase, sepsis, critical illness, intensive care, heparin binding protein, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In this study, we analyzed samples originating from the national FINNAKI study. I am most grateful to the FINNAKI study group and all the nurses and colleagues in Finnish ICUs for collecting the data in the middle of their hectic daily work. I thank all the participants in this study. I am thankful for financial support from the Helsinki University Hospital institutional grants and from state Clinical Research funding. Our research group has also received grants from the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, from the Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation and from the Academy of Finland.

My deepest gratitude for accomplishing this thesis goes to my supervisors Docent Eero Pesonen and Professor Ville Pettilä. Docent Eero Pesonen, the father of this project, is an enthusiastic, diligent researcher who helped and guided me whenever I happened to need it. He generously shared his knowledge and endless library of references. Professor Ville Pettilä, against my primarily clinical orientation, pushed me forward to do this academic project, which has proved very educational and rewarding in the end. His extensive experience has been of utmost importance when planning and publishing this study. Professor Pettilä's research-friendly attitude as head of department enabled this academic effort while working in a busy intensive care unit. I also thank Professor Klaus Olkkola for advancing academic qualifications in our specialty. I am utterly grateful to Docents Minna Bäcklund, Marja Hynninen, Anu Koivusalo, Anna-Maija Korhonen, Leena Soininen, and Tero Varpula for letting me have all the research weeks I requested throughout this time-consuming project, despite occasional difficulties in arranging daily clinical work.

My heartfelt thanks go to my colleagues and co-workers I have been honored to work with: Renske Wiersema, for her enthusiastic spirit and tireless effort in accomplishing Study I; Suvi Vaara, for her motherly support to this beginner and her smart advice in all kinds of academical and practical problems; Liisa Petäjä, for her persistent, intelligent input when I was trying to understand cumbersome statistical tools; Sara Nisula, for her kind support in research as well as in surrounding clinical work; Meri Poukkanen, for her valuable comments and contribution to FINNAKI sepsis patients' analyses; Mikko Haapio, for always encouraging me in this somewhat prolonged project; John Prowle for offering his expertise to benefit our study; and Professor Sture Andersson, for his constructive comments and for providing an excellent research environment.

I warmly thank the reviewers of this study, Docents Tapio Hellman and Timo Kaakinen for their prompt responses and valuable comments and suggestions. I thank Alyce Whipp for the excellent language editing and Pauliina Pitkänen for drawing a beautiful, yet professional, figure of a complex pathophysiological entity.

I could not have succeeded without all my wonderful colleagues at the intensive care units of Helsinki University Hospital. Without your encouragement, spirit, wisdom, and—above all—peculiar sense of humor, I would probably have quit long ago. In the end, I would not have accomplished this achievement without the help of Sari Sutinen and Leena Pettilä and the other wonderful research nurses who have worked in our department over the years. You all deserve my deepest gratitude. I am not able to mention all, but numerous other people have also helped me along the way and deserve my heartfelt thanks.

I am thankful to all the fabulous ladies on my soccer teams HPS Queens and Fc TimAntti for keeping me physically and mentally fit throughout these years and for demonstrating that learning is a lifelong process.

I thank my trusted colleague and my oldest friend from the first class, Ira Saarinen, and my dearest friends and colleagues: Katja Helske, Aila Junnikkala, Leena Kurvinen, Minna Mäenpää, and Anu Mähönen. You all have offered me invaluable debriefing along the way, let alone the recovery brought about by the cheerful gatherings with your spouses and children. I am grateful to Eeva Pappila and Kristian Thomasson for letting me sail away, at times, from the demands of academic work.

My special thanks go to my friends and teammates from childhood, my "circle of trust": Maija Aunio, Anu Mustakari, Pirre Sandström, and Johanna Sarviharju. Sharing my setbacks with you has been priceless as has been our occasional habit of dancing the night away.

I am grateful to my mother for saying out loud her overly-optimistic view of my capabilities, to my late father for his admirable calmness I have tried to learn from when taking the blows of manuscript rejection, and to my wonderful mother-in-law for changing her plans whenever I needed help. My sister, brother, sister-in-law, and brother-in-law deserve my warmest thanks for their support, and for organizing all the uplifting family gatherings I wished for but could not organize over these busy years. Above all, I thank my extraordinary husband Marko and our brilliant sons Aaro and Vilho, who have tolerated my frequent absent-mindedness and taken care of me and our household. Your wisdom constantly amazes and inspires me. I cannot put into words the joy you bring to my everyday life.

Helsinki, January 2023

Sanna Törnblom

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications:

- I Törnblom S*, Wiersema R*, Prowle JR, Haapio M, Pettilä V, Vaara ST.
 Fluid balance-adjusted creatinine in diagnosing acute kidney injury in the critically ill. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2021; 65: 1079–1086.
 *Equal contribution
- II Törnblom S, Nisula S, Vaara ST, Poukkanen M, Andersson S, Pettilä V, Pesonen E. Neutrophil activation in septic acute kidney injury: A post hoc analysis of the FINNAKI study. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2019; 63: 1390–1397.
- III Törnblom S, Nisula S, Vaara ST, Poukkanen M, Andersson S, Pettilä V, Pesonen E. Early prolonged neutrophil activation in critically ill patients with sepsis. Innate Immunity 2021; 27(2): 192–200.
- IV Törnblom S, Nisula S, Petäjä L, Vaara ST, Haapio M, Pesonen E, Pettilä V, and the FINNAKI study group. Urine NGAL as a biomarker for septic AKI: a critical appraisal of clinical utility—data from the observational FINNAKI study. Annals of Intensive Care. 2020; 10(1): 51.

The publications are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

CONTENTS

Ak	ostra	ct	4				
Ac	knov	vledgements	6				
Lis	st of	original publications	8				
Ak	brev	riations	12				
1	Intr	oduction	14				
2	2 Review of the literature						
	2.1	Defining, staging, and diagnosing septic AKI					
		2.1.1 Sepsis definition	17				
		2.1.2 AKI definition and staging	19				
		2.1.3 Measuring kidney function	20				
		2.1.4 Diagnosis of septic AKI	22				
	2.2	Epidemiology of septic AKI	22				
	2.3	Genetics of septic AKI	24				
	2.4	Pathophysiology of septic AKI	25				
		2.4.1 Histopathology	25				
		2.4.2 Macrocirculation and renal blood flow (RBF)	25				
		2.4.3 Microcirculation and endothelial dysfunction	26				
		2.4.4 Role of neutrophils	27				
		2.4.5 Cellular response to danger and kidney function in sepsis \ldots	28				
		2.4.6 Organ cross-talk	30				
	2.5	Biomarkers of septic AKI					
		2.5.1 Proinflammatory mediators IL-6 and IL-8	33				
		2.5.2 Activin A	33				
		2.5.3 Neutrophil granule markers HBP, MPO, and NGAL	33				
		2.5.4 KIM-1	34				
		2.5.5 sTREM-1	34				
		2.5.6 Cell cycle arrest markers: TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7	34				
		2.5.7 Predicting AKI progression: furosemide stress test	35				
		2.5.8 Statistical evaluation of biomarkers for clinical use	35				
	2.6	Outcome of septic AKI	36				
	2.7	Prevention and future treatment of septic AKI					
		2.7.1 Alkaline phosphatase	38				
		2.7.2 Angiotensin II	38				
		2.7.3 Corticosteroids	39				
		2.7.4 Blocking the "cytokine storm"	39				

3	Aims of the study				
4	Pat	ients a	nd methods		
	4.1 Patients				
	4.2	Data o	collection		
	-	4.2.1	Sepsis definition (II–IV)		
		4.2.2	AKI definition		
		4.2.3	Outcomes		
	4.3	Blood	and urine samples		
	4.4	Labor	atory assays		
		4.4.1	Activin A (II)		
		4.4.2	IL-6 (II–III)		
		4.4.3	IL-8 (II–III)		
		4.4.4	MPO (II–III)		
		4.4.5	HBP (III)		
		4.4.6	NGAL (IV)		
	4.5	Statis	tical analyses		
		4.5.1	Sample size calculations (II-III)		
		4.5.2	Data presentation and group comparison		
		4.5.3	Logistic regression analysis (II) and multivariable		
			logistic regression analysis (IV)	49	
		4.5.4	AUROC (II, IV)	49	
		4.5.5	Category-free net reclassification improvement (cfNRI),		
			integrated discrimination improvement (IDI), and risk		
			assessment plot (RAP) (IV)	49	
		4.5.6	Decision curve analysis (DCA) (IV)	50	
		4.5.7	Software		
5	Res	ults			
-	5.1	Patier	nt characteristics and clinical outcomes		
	5.2	Influe	nce of adjusting Cr values for fluid balance (I)		
	0	5.2.1	Incidence of AKI (I)		
		5.2.2	90-dav mortality (I)		
	5.3	Plasm	a measurements of proinflammatory cytokines and	0)	
	0.0	neutro	ophil activation markers		
		5.3.1	Interleukins 6 and 8 (II–III)		
		5.3.2	Activin A (II)		
		5.3.3	MPO (II–III)		
		5.3.4	HBP (III)		
	5.4	Urine	measurements of proinflammatory cytokines and		
	0° r	neutro	ophil activation markers		
		5.4.1	Interleukins 6 and 8, activin A, and MPO (II)		
		5.4.2	Usefulness of uNGAL to predict AKI, RRT,		
			and 90-day mortality in sepsis (IV)		

6	Discussion	74
	6.1 Effect of adjusting Cr for fluid balance on AKI incidence and	
	on 90-day mortality (I)	74
	6.2 Association of inflammation and neutrophil activation with	
	septic AKI (II)	75
	6.3 Timing of the "cytokine storm" and systemic neutrophil	
	activation in sepsis (III)	76
	6.4 Added value of uNGAL as a biomarker for septic AKI (IV)	77
	6.5 uNGAL as a prognostic biomarker for RRT and 90-day	
	mortality among sepsis patients (IV)	77
	6.6 Study strengths, limitations, and methodological considerations	78
	6.7 Clinical implications and future aspects	80
7	Conclusions	82
8	References	83

ABBREVIATIONS

ACCP	American College of Chest Physicians
AKI	acute kidney injury
AKIN	Acute Kidney Injury Network
APACHE II	acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II
ATHOS-3	Angiotensin II for the Treatment of Vasodilatory Shock 3
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
AUROC	area under the receiver operating characteristic (curve)
cfNRI	category-free net reclassification improvement
CI	confidence interval
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CKD-EPI	Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
CrCl	creatinine clearance
CRF	case report form
CRP	c-reactive protein
DAMP	damage-associated molecular pattern
DCA	decision curve analysis
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FINNAKI	FINNish Acute Kidney Injury (study)
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
HBP	heparin binding protein
ICU	intensive care unit
IDI	integrated discrimination improvement
IGFBP-7	insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 7
IL	interleukin
IQR	interquartile range
KDIGO	Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes
KIM-1	kidney injury molecule 1
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAP	mean arterial pressure
MDRD	Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group
MPO	myeloperoxidase
OD	organ dysfunction
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
RAP	risk assessment plot
RBF	renal blood flow
RIFLE	Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End-stage

RRT	renal replacement therapy
SAPS II	simplified acute physiology score II
SCCM	Society of Critical Care Medicine
(s)Cr	(serum) creatinine
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SOFA	sequential organ failure assessment
sTREM-1	soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1
TIMP-2	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 2
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF(α)	tumor necrosis factor (alpha)
(u)NGAL	(urine) neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin
UO	urine output

1 INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common complication among acutely hospitalized adult patients: it affects approximately one in five of them ¹. The latest definition and staging of AKI, by the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) workgroup, is based on creatinine (Cr), urine output (UO) and administered renal replacement therapy (RRT). AKI incidence and the need for RRT are growing as the population ages ^{2,3}. Currently, AKI incidence among critically ill patients is reported to be 32–50% ^{4,5}, of which roughly 50% is caused by sepsis ⁶. Beyond acute morbidity, AKI contributes to long-term illness and mortality since it predisposes individuals to chronic kidney disease and associated health problems ⁷. After an AKI episode, deterioration of kidney function is more likely to happen—a phenomenon called "accelerated ageing"—despite normalized Cr values following the primary insult ⁸.

Earlier interpretation of the pathophysiology of sepsis-induced AKI, or septic AKI for short, emphasized macrocirculatory mechanisms ⁹. Based on experimental studies, it was suggested that lowered mean arterial pressure (MAP) and vasoconstriction would result in diminished renal blood flow (RBF), renal ischemia, tubular necrosis, and the clinical AKI syndrome. Recently, this macrocirculatory theory as the primary mechanism of septic AKI has been questioned. First, post-mortem studies of sepsis patients' kidneys have not verified significant tubular necrosis ¹⁰ or even apoptosis ¹¹. Second, a critically ill patient frequently develops AKI even though RBF is normal or elevated ¹². In fact, a large emergency department study revealed an increased immune response and AKI in every fourth hemodynamically stable pneumonia patient not even needing intensive care ¹³. Experimental evidence of inflammatory mechanisms in septic AKI is growing as well ^{14,15}.

Based on the new evidence, Gomez and colleagues ¹⁶ have introduced a unified theory of septic AKI. According to the theory, pathophysiological mechanisms of septic AKI include activated inflammatory cascades, disordered and heterogenous renal microvascular flow, and tubular epithelial cell impairment ¹⁶. The inflammatory response to pathogen invasion is triggered by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), interacting with pattern recognition receptors. These in turn activate leukocytes and complement and coagulation pathways. Necrotic cell death releases damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that also bond to pattern recognition receptors, further intensifying inflammation ¹⁷. Early sepsis mortality is caused by an inappropriately intense systemic inflammatory response, characterized by a "cytokine storm", the following widespread organ dysfunction (OD), and, eventually, irreversible multiple organ failure.

The kidney meets the inflammatory burst in the frontline since it receives 20% of cardiac output and filtrates 120–150 milliliters of plasma each minute. Indeed, AKI, manifested by oliguria, is often among the first emerging ODs after sepsis onset. The microcirculatory dysfunction observed in sepsis slows down the peritubular blood flow and increases the tubular cells' exposure time to activated leukocytes, PAMPs, DAMPs, and cytokines mediating inflammation. The danger signal is passed on to more distal tubular cells by paracrine signaling. This leads to cell metabolism reprioritization, cell cycle arrest, and shutdown of kidney function, observed as clinical AKI ¹⁶.

Clinical evidence on the association of inflammation with septic AKI is grounded on only a few interleukin studies. In the Prospective Recombinant Human Activated Protein C Worldwide Evaluation in Severe Sepsis trial placebo group, high interleukin 6 (IL-6) plasma concentration, not macrocirculatory parameters, was associated with septic AKI ¹⁸. A similar association between IL-6 and AKI was observed among pneumonia patients ¹³. Payen and colleagues ¹⁹ found that IL-6 and IL-10 correlated with AKI severity, being highest in the most severe AKI. The interleukin concentrations decreased rapidly during the first three intensive care unit (ICU) days ¹⁹. IL-6 has also shown association with sepsis severity ¹³.

Neutrophil activation is the key point in the early innate immune response, and, according to Gomez and colleagues ¹⁶, septic AKI development. Therefore, measuring neutrophil activation markers is clinically tempting. Activin A, stored in the neutrophil cytosol ²⁰⁻²², is rapidly released into the plasma from activated neutrophils—elevating even earlier than IL-6 in experimental sepsis ^{23,24} and correlating with disease severity and mortality in sepsis patients ²⁵. Heparin binding protein (HBP) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) are neutrophil granule markers, of which HBP is released mostly intravascularly and MPO upon neutrophil activation in the tissues ²⁶. Among sepsis patients, plasma HBP predicts AKI ^{27,28} and OD in general ²⁹. Plasma MPO is associated with the development of OD and mortality ^{30,31}.

AKI biomarkers have been under intense research over the years. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) has shown promise in predicting AKI after cardiac surgery, but less success with regards to heterogenous intensive care patients ³². Proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-18 ³³, and leukocyte surface receptors, such as soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (sTREM-1) ³⁴, have also not performed well enough in clinical studies. The sensitivity and specificity of new cell cycle markers, for instance, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 2 (TIMP-2) and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 7 (IGFBP-7) might be better ³⁵, and combining several markers

could be useful. Nonetheless, a truly kidney-specific marker, "renal troponin", is yet to be found.

Despite experimental evidence and evolving theories, we still do not have proper tools to predict, prevent, or treat septic AKI. According to the latest knowledge, the kidneys adapt to the overwhelming inflammatory burst by shutting down all non-essential functions early in the course of septic infection. Supporting this, Murugan and colleagues showed that almost two-thirds of hospitalized adult pneumonia patients who developed AKI already fulfilled the criteria when arriving at the emergency room ¹³. Even so, AKI diagnosis relies on a late functional marker, Cr, which possibly dilutes following fluid resuscitation, further postponing AKI diagnosis. Under these circumstances, carrying out timely preventive interventions is challenging, to say the least.

Although experimental evidence is growing, our knowledge on the human inflammatory reaction and septic AKI pathophysiology is scarce. Considering the presented concern about the effect of fluid accumulation on ICU AKI diagnoses, we first studied the influence of cumulative fluid balance on the KDIGO AKI diagnosis to find out whether Cr dilution affects ICU AKI incidence. The main aims of the study were to investigate the association of inflammation and neutrophil activation with septic AKI, to address the kinetics of proinflammatory cytokines and neutrophil activation markers in sepsis patients around the OD onset, and to test if urine NGAL (uNGAL) is useful to predict AKI in critically ill sepsis patients.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Defining, staging, and diagnosing septic AKI

2.1.1 Sepsis definition

Sepsis, a phenomenon recognized in antiquity, has sowed horror through the centuries and is still a considerable burden to intensive care globally ³⁶. Reflecting the complexity of the syndrome, the first definition (Sepsis-1) was not published until 1992 ³⁷. This consensus statement by the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) and the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) was based on the concept of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), describing the physiological derangements caused by the host's response to infection. SIRS was considered present when a patient had more than one of the following clinical findings: body temperature higher than 38°C or lower than 36°C, heart rate higher than 90 beats/min, hyperventilation evidenced by respiratory rate higher than 20 breaths/min or partial pressure of carbon dioxide lower than 4.3 kPa in arterial blood, and white blood cell count higher than 12.0 E9/l or lower than 4.0 E9/l, or >10% immature neutrophils. Sepsis was defined as SIRS due to a proven or suspected infection. If acute OD, defined, for example, by Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score ³⁸ (Table 1), was simultaneously present, criteria for severe sepsis were met. Septic shock, the most serious sepsis manifestation, was defined as sepsis with persisting hypotension, or need for vasopressors, despite adequate fluid resuscitation and unexplained by other causes. The Sepsis-2 definition from 2001 added weight on the clinical judgement of an infectious etiology and introduced new inflammatory and OD parameters and SIRS components. The main concept stayed the same though ³⁹.

The inadequate specificity and sensitivity of SIRS criteria attracted criticism. It is well known that SIRS frequently exists without infection: for instance, with pancreatitis, sterile burns, after major surgery. Kaukonen and colleagues showed that the need for two or more SIRS criteria to define severe sepsis excluded one in eight otherwise similar patients with infection, organ failure, and substantial mortality, and failed to define a transition point in the risk of death ⁴⁰. Accordingly, the latest sepsis definition from 2016, Sepsis-3, omitted SIRS and the term severe sepsis ⁴¹. The Sepsis-3 definition also abandoned the idea of a continuum through severe sepsis to septic shock. The new definition describes sepsis as life-threatening OD caused by a dysregulated host response to infection. Based on the finding that general hospital patients

with presumed infection and ≥ 2 SOFA OD points already have a notable 10% overall mortality risk ⁴², the revised sepsis definition requires an infectionrelated acute increase of more than two points from the patient's baseline SOFA score ³⁸ (Table 1). The updated septic shock definition stipulates infection associated with persistent hypotension requiring vasopressors to maintain adequate tissue perfusion and a blood lactate >2 mmol/l despite adequate fluid resuscitation. The former (Sepsis-1) and the current (Sepsis-3) definitions are compared in Table 2. Outside the ICU, the quick SOFA score (Table 3) is one recommended tool to differentiate potential sepsis cases among patients with infection ⁴¹.

	CNS	Cardiovascular system	Respiratory system	Coagulation	Liver	Renal function
Score	GCS	MAP OR administration of vasopressors required	PaO ₂ /FiO ₂ , mmHg	Platelets, ×10³∕µl	Bilirubin, µmol/L	Cr, µmol/L (or UO)
+0	15	MAP ≥70 mmHg	≥400	≥150	<20	<110
+1	13–14	MAP <70 mmHg	<400	<150	20-32	110–170
+2	10-12	dopamine ≤5 µg/kg/min OR dobutamine (any dose)	<300	<100	33-101	171–299
+3	6-9	dopamine >5 µg/kg/min OR epinephrine ≤0.1 µg/kg/min OR norepinephrine ≤0.1 µg/kg/min	<200 AND mechanically ventilated (including CPAP)	<50	102-204	300-440 (OR <500 ml/d)
+4	<6	dopamine >15 µg/kg/min OR epinephrine >0.1 µg/kg/min OR norepinephrine >0.1 µg/kg/min	<100 AND mechanically ventilated (including CPAP)	<20	>204	> 440 (OR <200 ml/d)

Table 1	Sequential	Organ	Failure	Assessment	(SOFA)	Score
---------	------------	-------	---------	------------	--------	-------

CNS, central nervous system; CPAP, continuous positive airway pressure; Cr, creatinine; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; MAP, mean arterial pressure; PaO2/FiO2, ratio of the partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood to the inspired oxygen fraction; UO, urine output

Table 2	Comparison	of	Sepsis-1	and	Sepsis-3	criteria.
---------	------------	----	----------	-----	----------	-----------

	Sepsis-1 (1992)	Sepsis-3 (2016)
Sepsis	Known/suspected infection + $\geq 2/4$ SIRS criteria: temperature >38°C or <36°C, heart rate >90/min, respiratory rate >20/min or pCO ₂ <4.3 kPa or mechanical ventilation, leukocyte count >12E9/l or <4 E9/l or >10% immature neutrophils	Known/ suspected infection + acute increase of SOFA ≥2
Severe sepsis	Sepsis + organ dysfunction	Not a category
Septic shock	Sepsis + refractory hypotension/vasopressor need after adequate fluid resuscitation	Sepsis + vasopressors and lactate >2 mmol/l

SIRS, systemic inflammatory response syndrome; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment

 Table 3
 The Quick SOFA criteria.

Respiratory rate ≥22 breaths/min
Systolic blood pressure ≤100 mmHg
Altered mentation (GCS <15)

GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale

Like SIRS, SOFA has its shortcomings from the clinician's perspective. As an example, to define cardiovascular SOFA points, the chosen vasopressor/ inotrope medications and their cut-off doses can be questioned, especially when treating sedated patients using fluid-restrictive strategies. These patients easily get high cardiovascular SOFA points that do not necessarily reflect true disease severity, especially when compared with other organ system points. Another obvious problem is that renal SOFA points do not take ongoing RRT into account.

2.1.2 AKI definition and staging

AKI is a clinical syndrome of sudden kidney function decline, manifested by a decrease in glomerular filtration rate (GFR). The first AKI definition (RIFLE: Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End-stage)—based on serum creatinine (sCr), estimated GFR, and UO—was proposed in 2004 ⁴³. With some changes made by the Acute Kidney Injury Network (AKIN), the AKIN criteria for AKI were published a few years later ⁴⁴. The latest guidelines for diagnosing and staging AKI were released by the KDIGO workgroup in 2012 ⁴⁵. They harmonized pediatric and adult criteria and included both relative and absolute sCr changes.

Using the latest KDIGO definition, an individual has AKI when any of the following three criteria are present:

- sCr increase ≥ 0.3 mg/dl ($\ge 26.5 \mu$ mol/l) within 48 h, or
- sCr increase to ≥1.5 times baseline, presumed or known to have occurred in the previous 7 days, or
- UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for 6 h.

All three (RIFLE, AKIN, and KDIGO) lean on GFR surrogates sCr and UO, and stage AKI into categories of increasing severity. The characteristics and differences between these three definitions are illustrated in Table 4.

	RIFLE criteria		AKIN criteria	KDIGO criteria	All
R(isk)	sCr \geq 1.5 x baseline within 7 days for \geq 24 h or \geq 25% decrease in eGFR	Stage 1	sCr ≥1.5 x baseline or increase of ≥26.2 µmol/l within 48 h	sCr \geq 1.5 x baseline within 7 days or \geq 26.2 µmol/l increase within 48 h	Diuresis <0.5 ml/kg/h for 6-12 h
l(njury)	sCr ≥2.0 x baseline or >50% decrease in eGFR	Stage 2	sCr ≥2.0 x baseline	sCr ≥2.0 x baseline	Diuresis <0.5 ml/kg/h for ≥12 h
F(ailure)	sCr ≥3.0 x baseline or >75% decrease in eGFR or an absolute sCr ≥354 μ mol/I with an acute rise of at least 44 μ mol/I	Stage 3	sCr ≥3.0 x baseline or an absolute sCr ≥354 µmol/l with an acute rise of at least 44 µmol/l or initiation of RRT	sCr ≥3.0 x baseline or an absolute sCr ≥354 µmol/l or initiation of RRT	Diuresis <0.3 ml/kg/h for \geq 24 h or anuria for \geq 12 h

 Table 4
 Comparison of RIFLE, AKIN and KDIGO criteria for AKI diagnosis and staging.

AKI, acute kidney injury; AKIN, Acute Kidney Injury Network; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; RIFLE, Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End-stage; RRT, renal replacement therapy; sCr, serum creatinine

2.1.3 Measuring kidney function

The best overall measure of kidney function is renal filtering capacity, GFR. It is a measure of the amount of plasma-like fluid filtered through the glomerular capillaries into the renal tubules in a time unit. A young healthy adult's GFR is 120–130 ml/min/1.73m², but it declines with age and >90 ml/min/1.73m² is generally considered normal. GFR is calculated using the following equation:

GFR (ml/min) = (Cu x Qu)/Cp Cu = concentration of a substance in urine (mg/ml) Cp = concentration of a substance in arterial plasma (mg/ml) Qu = urine flow rate

Ideally, the substance used to measure GFR must be freely filtered through glomeruli-not secreted nor reabsorbed by tubular cells. Inulin clearance is the "gold standard", but exogenous substances are not feasible in everyday clinical practice. Instead, creatinine clearance (CrCl) is used as a surrogate, although 5% of Cr is excreted in the proximal tubule and the excretion rate depends on sCr concentration ⁴⁶. Thus, CrCl overestimates GFR by 10–20%. Easily obtainable serum (or plasma) Cr, a breakdown product of dietary meat and creatine phosphate of skeletal muscle, is dependent on an individual's age, sex and race, his/her muscle mass, catabolic rate, and fluid status ⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. It is also well known that certain medications may influence sCr levels. An alternative biomarker for GFR estimation is cystatin C, a basic endogenous protein produced by all nucleated cells and thereby not dependent on a person's muscle mass ⁴⁹. Dietary protein intake does not influence cystatin C ⁵⁰. It is freely filtered at the glomeruli and almost completely reabsorbed and metabolized in the proximal tubule ⁴⁹. Cystatin C is particularly useful to estimate GFR in early renal insufficiency when Cr is still within normal limits ⁵¹.

KDIGO AKI definition involves a sCr increase from the baseline. Without recent Cr measurement, the baseline kidney function of an acutely ill patient is unknown—Cr could have been elevated chronically. Under steady state conditions, GFR (or CrCl) for a patient without chronic kidney disease (CKD) can be estimated using one of several existing equations that include sCr and other variables influencing GFR. Unfortunately, neither Cr production nor elimination are stable in evolving AKI, meaning that none of the existing equations are really accurate in these patients.

The Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group (MDRD) formula, usually the simplified 4-variable modification, has been widely used for adults, and was the recommended equation during our study enrollment period ⁵².

The MDRD equation (simplified 4-variable equation without urea and albumin, International System of Units):

GFR (ml/min/1.73m²) = $175 x (sCr/88.4)^{-1.154} x age^{-0.203} x (0.742 if female) x (1.212 if of African descent)$

Recently, the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) formula has become the recommended equation for clinical practice ^{53,54}. With CKD-EPI, either Cr or cystatin C, or both, can be used to calculate GFR ⁵⁵.

2.1.4 Diagnosis of septic AKI

Diagnosing AKI requires clinical judgement. Although ancillary tests and checklists may help in the process ⁵⁶, the KDIGO definition itself can be troublesome. First, the observation periods determining anuria/oliguria in the current KDIGO definition and staging are somewhat arbitrary: a patient with oliguria for 5 h 59 min hardly "develops AKI" a minute later. Second, a critically ill or deteriorating patient, admitted to ICU from the emergency department or from a hospital ward, often comes without preceding UO data. Then, Cr becomes the sole applied KDIGO criterion for AKI diagnosis. This can be problematic because high-volume fluid resuscitation administered to a critically ill patient may dilute sCr, and the dilution effect may mask or delay AKI diagnosis ^{47,57,58}. Therefore, adjusting Cr for fluid balance has been suggested ⁵⁹, but the rationale for the available adjustment equations has been criticized for using several days' cumulative fluid balance to correct a single Cr measurement ⁶⁰.

Third, a fundamental weakness in the present AKI definition is that neither sCr elevation nor UO decrease are early signs of injury. There is "renal reserve": deteriorating kidney function is not manifested by Cr elevation until half the kidney function has already been lost. Furthermore, when a steady state has not been achieved as in evolving AKI, sCr poorly reflects GFR. Traditionally recommended urine biochemistry (fractional excretion of sodium and urea) does not offer any beneficial information for differential diagnosis or AKI prognosis in the ICU ⁶¹ and has been abandoned in many countries, including Finland. To promote more rapid diagnosis, several novel kidney injury biomarkers have been studied ^{62,63}. Some may be included in the future AKI definitions and staging ⁶⁴.

As stated previously, by the current Sepsis-3 definition, sepsis is accompanied by acute OD. If OD emerges in the kidneys and meets the KDIGO AKI criteria, septic AKI is present. Because diagnosing each of these two syndromes—sepsis and AKI—requires clinical judgement, diagnosing septic AKI is not always straightforward. A high level of vigilance is warranted to identify these high-risk patients.

2.2 Epidemiology of septic AKI

Sepsis is the most common causative factor for AKI among ICU patients ⁶⁵. A study from Australia and New Zealand estimated the annual population incidence of ICU-treated sepsis to be 0.77/1000 adults per year ⁶⁶. Sepsis incidence in the western world is rising along with the aging population's increasing prevalence of chronic diseases, invasive medical procedures

and disease- and therapy-related immunosuppression, as well as antibiotic resistance ⁶⁷. Cases of septic AKI will probably increase accordingly. In Finland, our national prospective cohorts have showed an increase in the incidence of ICU-treated severe sepsis from 0.39/1000 adults per year (2005) to 0.60/1000 adults per year (2012) ^{68,69}. Sepsis incidence has been studied predominantly in ICUs with convenient routinely collected data, perhaps because patients outside ICUs do not have that much data on sepsis and infection diagnoses. Obviously, the entire burden of sepsis is much broader than the tip of the iceberg observed within intensive care in high-income countries. In the United States, for example, half the patients with severe sepsis are treated outside ICUs ⁷⁰. Many of these patients may develop septic AKI ^{13,70}. Moreover, a recent worldwide study of hospital and death records revealed much higher sepsis incidence in low-income countries than in the United States or Europe ⁷¹, but no prospective studies have been conducted to unravel sepsis epidemiology globally ⁷². The effect of the new Sepsis-3 definition on incidence is unknown.



Figure 1 AKI in ICU patients.

AKI, acute kidney injury; CKD, chronic kidney disease; D, day; ICU, intensive care unit; RRT, renal replacement therapy. Figure by the author.

Previously, varying AKI definitions made it impossible to determine septic AKI incidence precisely. This age of unawareness continued until the beginning of the 21st century, when generally accepted AKI definitions started emerging. Recent studies have reported that 45–53% of ICU sepsis patients are diagnosed with AKI ^{69,73}. Well-known risk factors for all-cause AKI include CKD, advanced age, chronic or acute cardiovascular failure, diabetes, chronic or acute liver disease, hypoalbuminemia, pulmonary disease, and mechanical ventilation ⁷⁴. There are no commonly established validated risk scores for septic AKI. Figure 1 shows the crude AKI prevalence in hospitalized patients and contributing factors among the critically ill.

2.3 Genetics of septic AKI

Genetic susceptibility to AKI has aroused research interest recently. Although two unrelated persons share 99.9% of their DNA sequences, there are variations known as gene polymorphisms, resulting in differing gene variants, or alleles. These variations producing biological diversity can range from a single nucleotide polymorphism to a 10–200 nucleotide sequence, repeated 5–50 times between two restriction sites and characterized by many alleles. Some of the polymorphisms cause production of an abnormal protein and some correlate with specific phenotypes relevant to human disease. These polymorphisms are not necessarily incriminated in the disease pathogenesis but may merely be located in proximity to other pathogenic genetic factors, which is called "linkage disequilibrium".

Some evidence of genetic susceptibility to septic AKI exists, according to studies on genes that encode inflammatory mediators. Although the overall quality of these genetic studies is not that good 75, some examples are worth mentioning. Polymorphism of the gene encoding tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) influences TNFa concentration, and a high concentration is associated with multiple organ dysfunction syndrome 76. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a chemoattractant, augments macrophage differentiation, activates platelets and increases vascular permeability, and the hypersecretory phenotype is associated with AKI 77. MPO, a phagolysosomal enzyme and neutrophil activation marker, has lower plasma concentrations in some MPOgene haplotypes that are associated with a reduced need for RRT 78. Gene polymorphisms of proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8, on the other hand, have not been associated with AKI among general intensive care patients or ICU patients with severe sepsis 77,79. Most of the reported associations have not been reproducible. It is thus likely that single polymorphisms have little impact and predisposition to AKI is polygenic.

Reflecting the polygenic nature of septic AKI, recent studies in sepsis patients have identified genetically and clinically distinct endotypes that react differently to bacteremia regarding inflammatory response ⁸⁰⁻⁸². Using routinely available clinical data on hospital presentation, Seymour and colleagues identified four sepsis phenotypes, reproducible across different datasets ⁸¹. These phenotypes differed in their inflammatory response, coagulation derangement and kidney injury markers, and mortality. Phenotypes γ and δ with the highest levels of inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-10 and TNF were admitted to intensive care more frequently and had higher in-hospital mortality than the less inflammatory phenotypes α and β . The phenotypes were not distinguishable by infection site, illness severity, or OD patterns alone ⁸¹. The heterogenous responses of the distinct phenotypes might explain the modest overall treatment effects observed in immunomodulatory trials of unselected sepsis populations.

2.4 Pathophysiology of septic AKI

2.4.1 Histopathology

Based on experimental findings of ischemia-reperfusion models, acute tubular necrosis was also thought to be the key histopathological feature in septic AKI. Current evidence indicates, however, that ischemic and septic AKI are profoundly different ^{10,83}. Contradicting the earlier hypothesis of acute tubular necrosis, recent experiments in sheep with septic AKI detected practically no renal morphological changes at all, even though researchers observed a substantial increase in Cr and decrease in GFR and UO ^{84,85}. A similar paucity of morphological changes has been reported in human postmortem studies as well. Only minor focal tubular lesions, leukocyte infiltration and scarce apoptosis have been found in septic kidneys, but most nephrons look normal, and the histological changes are not consistent with the functional deficiency ^{10,11}.

2.4.2 Macrocirculation and renal blood flow (RBF)

The former theory of septic AKI was constituted on the grounds of experimental endotoxin studies. It was assumed that diminished RBF and ischemia following systemic vasodilation and hypotension caused the clinical septic AKI syndrome ⁹. Attempts to treat septic AKI were therefore targeted to maintain RBF by increasing cardiac output and perfusion pressure—first and foremost using intravenous fluids. Since then, growing evidence has challenged overly aggressive fluid loading and macrocirculatory targets aiming at "normal"

or even higher than that. As an example, in the SEPSISPAM study of septic shock patients undergoing resuscitation, a MAP target of 80 to 85 mmHg, as compared with 65 to 70 mmHg, did not result in significant differences in RRT demand or in the endpoint of plasma Cr doubling 86. Additionally, successfully resuscitated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients with prolonged warm ischemia of the kidneys seldom develop AKI 87. Further evidence is presented by a study comprising 159 original articles that use animal models. This study reported that RBF findings in experimental sepsis depend on the model used, but in sepsis with increased cardiac output, RBF is typically increased ⁸⁸. Decreased RBF is not a universal finding in human septic or non-septic AKI either, according to a review by Prowle and colleagues ¹², but positive fluid balance is associated with AKI and other adverse outcomes ⁸⁹⁻⁹¹. As a matter of fact, a pilot study of 100 ICU patients indicates that restrictive fluid management may reduce the need for RRT 92. Aiming at traditional resuscitation targets, such as certain mean arterial or central venous pressure, may cause more harm than benefit for the kidneys.

2.4.3 Microcirculation and endothelial dysfunction

How, in the situation of normal or even increased RBF, is GFR decreased, then? First, greater efferent than afferent glomerular dilatation lowers intraglomerular filtration pressure in sepsis 93-96. Second, endothelial dysfunction and glycocalyx damage increase vascular permeability. The resulting tissue edema and congestion may raise venous output pressures inside the renal capsule, further challenging kidney function. Third, renal microcirculation in peritubular and glomerular areas, not the global RBF, may be the key player-particularly because it lies between tubular endothelium and circulating immune cells 97. Indeed, in renal microcirculation of animals with experimental sepsis, there are areas of sluggish peritubular flow 98. Furthermore, evidence exists of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 being up-regulated in the peritubular endothelium, which contributes to prolonged leukocyte transit and increased signaling with kidney dendritic cells 99. An LPS model of murine sepsis demonstrated that tubular cell redox stress was highly correlated with the percentage of dysfunctional capillaries ⁹⁹. Gomez and colleagues suggest that the prolonged transit of activated leukocytes through dysfunctioning capillaries exposes tubular epithelial cells to excessive proinflammatory cytokine load and to abundant PAMPs and DAMPs that amplify the inflammatory signal and cause oxidative stress ¹⁶. Corroborating this, incubating cultured human tubular cells in the plasma of septic burn patients with AKI induces cell damage and dysfunction ¹⁰⁰.

2.4.4 Role of neutrophils

During the early hours and days of infection, our defense against a newly encountered microbe relies on rapid recognition of the intruder as "non-self" and the following innate immune system activation programed to destroy the pathogens before infection spreads. Comprehensive experimental data confirms that neutrophils, polymorphonuclear phagocytic cells, are essential participants in the early innate immune response to infection. Under normal conditions, most neutrophils are stored in the bone marrow. Only a small circulating fraction can be observed, and healthy tissues are essentially neutrophilfree ¹⁰¹. Intruding bacteria and their specific molecular features (PAMPs) activate pattern recognition receptors on immune, endothelial and epithelial cells. This triggers proinflammatory transcription factors that increase the transcription of genes encoding mediators and receptors necessary for systemic inflammation 102. Chemotactic mediators, such as IL-8, produced by macrophages, epithelial and endothelial cells, recruit neutrophils to the infection site 103,104. Neutrophils express toll-like receptors (TLRs) themselves and react to PAMPs and DAMPs by secreting inflammatory mediators and chemokines that further amplify inflammation and lure more and more neutrophils from their bone marrow storage ¹⁰⁵. Inflammatory mediators activate not only neutrophils, but also thrombocytes and the coagulation pathway.

Activated neutrophils are short-lived ¹⁰⁶ and destined to die killing bacteria¹⁰⁷. From their cytosol and intracellular granules, activated neutrophils sequentially release activin A (a cytokine promoting neutrophil phagocytic function and oxidative burst) ^{21,108}, HBP (a protein with multiple functions including regulation of vascular permeability), and MPO (an enzyme producing cytotoxic agents) 26,109. Excessive systemic toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) stimulation can lead to increased cell death and exhaustion of the bone marrow neutrophil reservoir resulting in neutropenia and a worse prognosis ¹¹⁰. Although TLR2mediated neutrophil activation is essential to limit infection at the site, overly extensive systemic TLR2 signaling also causes downregulation of C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 2 surface expression and impaired neutrophil migration to the infection site ¹⁰². At the same time, activated neutrophils upregulate their surface expression of C-C chemokine receptor type 2, a receptor undetectable on "resting" neutrophils, enhancing neutrophil migration into tissues other than the infection focus ¹⁰². Subsequent neutrophil infiltration and cytokine release contribute to damage and secondary OD in distant organs ^{111,112}. Septic AKI experiments in animals have shown that neutrophils infiltrate the kidney and that the amount of infiltration correlates with the degree of renal dysfunction. Correspondingly, neutrophil depletion and other interventions reducing renal neutrophil accumulation have a protective effect ^{14,15,113-116}. Since endothelial cells also express TLRs and become activated, resulting adhesion of activated circulating neutrophils and thrombocytes to capillary walls causes occlusion of flow and tissue ischemia (Figure 2).

2.4.5 Cellular response to danger and kidney function in sepsis

As stated above, it is not necrosis or large-scale apoptosis that causes kidney dysfunction during sepsis. Instead, a torrent of mediators reaches the kidney, altering its normal functions. Initially, circulating PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by TLR2- and TLR4-expressing epithelial cells of the proximal tubules. From those alarmed proximal tubular cells, the danger signal is conveyed to the adjacent tubular epithelium and all the way to the distal nephron by paracrine mediators, such as TNFa¹¹⁷. Gomez and colleagues hypothesize that this inflammatory alarm cascade triggers tubular cells to suppress energy turnover and energy-consuming activities and to prioritize processes necessary for cell survival ¹⁶. This is achieved by down-regulating mitochondrial metabolism, redirecting energy consumption, recycling cellular organs, and inhibiting cell division; in other words, the aim is to prevent energy imbalance and DNA damage potentially activating apoptotic and necrotic signaling pathways. The mitochondria orchestrate the switch to "hibernation": their diminished adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production triggers pathways that lead to cell division inhibition, namely cell-cycle arrest ^{118,119}. Furthermore, mitophagy activates as early as 3 h after cecal ligation and puncture in an experimental sepsis model ¹²⁰, reducing energy consumption and enabling protein and lipid recycling to produce energy.

It is largely unclear how the tubular cell energy-saving mode links with markedly decreased GFR. One suggested mediating mechanism is the tubuloglomerular feedback system ¹⁶. As a result of cellular energy conservation, energy-consuming ion transporters are inhibited. For instance, tubular sodium and chloride reabsorption decreases ¹²⁰. Consequently, NaCl increases at the *macula densa*, and the tubuloglomerular feedback system mediates the afferent arteriole vasoconstriction, resulting in a GFR decrease ¹⁶. Evidently, lower GFR further saves energy by reducing the electrolyte reabsorption workload in tubular cells.



Figure 2 A modified schematic illustration of development of septic AKI suggested by Gomez et al. Shock 41(1):3-11 (2014).

AKI, acute kidney injury; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; PAMP, pathogenassociated molecular pattern; PRR, pattern recognition receptor Figure by the author.



Figure 3 An illustration of renal tubular mechanisms contributing to septic AKI.

ATP, adenosine triphosphate; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; NHE1, sodium/hydrogen exchanger 1; PAMP, pathogen-associated molecular pattern; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1; TNFα, tumor necrosis factor alpha

Figure by Pauliina Pitkänen, based on Gomez et al. Shock 41(1):3-11 (2014).

Unfortunately, little is known of the mechanisms causing the diverse metabolic derangements observed in septic AKI. In sheep with experimental septic shock and severe AKI, crude renal function markers such as RBF, oxygen consumption, and renal lactate flux remained unchanged ⁸⁴. It has been shown, though, that inflammatory mediators downregulate the expression and inhibit the activity of ion channels and pumps involved in renal solute reabsorption ^{121,122}. The consequences are diverse, and the net effect varies, but, for instance, chloride excretion impairment may manifest clinically as hyperchloremic acidosis. Another interfering mechanism, found in rodents with LPS-induced sepsis, is that LPS inhibits the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger 1. As a result, bicarbonate re-absorption is blocked in the loop of Henle, which may cause acid-base balance disturbances 123. However, interpretation of acidbase balance derangements accompanying critical illness is complex because acidifying and alkalizing factors may coexist and influence an AKI patient's blood gas analysis results. The actual cellular mechanisms that lead to vast UO and CrCl changes in human septic AKI are probably numerous, but still poorly known.

To summarize the current understanding of septic AKI, the tubular cell apparently adjusts its metabolism, adapting to the hostile inflammatory environment in order to survive until the conditions improve. This happens at the expense of tubular function that is largely sacrificed—at least transiently. The suggested mechanisms of this emerging theory are illustrated in Figures 2 and 3.

2.4.6 Organ cross-talk

AKI is a syndrome probably affecting most, if not all, organs; interactions with at least the heart, lung, brain, liver, gut, and spleen have been reported to date ¹²⁴. According to the literature on acute illness, the kidney and the lung are strongly inter-related. Although mere oliguria in AKI could cause pulmonary fluid accumulation and consequent lung injury, experimental and clinical data suggest that the interaction between the kidney and the lung is mediated by the circulating proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 ¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸. As an example, a bilateral nephrectomy mouse model demonstrated increased IL-6 levels and associated pulmonary dysfunction following acute loss of kidney function ¹²⁵. Another murine AKI study found that, after bilateral nephrectomy or ischemic insult, circulating IL-6 upregulates endothelial chemokine expression leading to neutrophil infiltration into lung tissue ¹²⁶. Likewise, Andres-Hernando and colleagues showed that murine ischemic kidney injury causes lung inflammation ¹²⁷. Seven days after the experimental insult, the researchers detected elevated circulating IL-6 and pulmonary neutrophil accumulation

with increased MPO activity—even among study participants whose sCr was normal ¹²⁷. To conclude, inflammation and neutrophil accumulation appear to be the common denominators in kidney and lung injuries.

The interaction between the kidney and the lung is presumably bidirectional. Analogically to well-known cardiorenal and hepatorenal syndromes, patients with pneumonia or acute respiratory distress syndrome commonly develop AKI ^{13,129}, and mechanical ventilation is a known risk factor for AKI ¹³⁰.

2.5 Biomarkers of septic AKI

AKI is currently defined using two functional biomarkers, sCr and UO ⁴⁵. Besides age, gender, muscle mass, and diet, changes in the volume of distribution could influence Cr values used to detect and stage AKI ⁴⁷. Since changes in the classical markers Cr and UO are delayed and their sensitivity and specificity for true tissue-level injury are low, an intense search for earlier and more sensitive markers, kidney stress or injury biomarkers, has been ongoing for a couple of decades. Ideally, a biomarker for AKI should be measurable by a rapid, cost-effective, highly sensitive and specific assay utilizing easily available samples (blood or urine). The ideal biomarker would have dynamically changing levels that correlate with disease progression/improvement and prognosis. Because only supportive care exists for AKI, and treating symptoms with earlier RRT has not brought survival benefit ¹³¹, biomarkers are directed predominantly for risk prediction after insult, AKI prevention or early diagnosis, and possibly for evaluation of AKI progression and recovery ⁶⁴.

However, the clinical performance of suggested AKI biomarkers has been far from perfect, and their value beyond conventional clinical evaluation and routine laboratory data has been questioned ¹³². Many candidate markers have succeeded well among children, who have less comorbidities than adults. Some have predicted AKI satisfactorily in the perioperative period when patients have a known time-point of kidney insult and sampling can be timed accordingly. Sepsis patients, however, are admitted to the hospital at variable disease phases and the exact time of the kidney insult is often unclear—as is the optimal time for drawing a biomarker sample ¹³³. Moreover, the flourishing systemic inflammation and neutrophil activation complicates AKI biomarker interpretation. Suggested biomarkers for septic AKI include NGAL, kidney injury molecule 1 (KIM-1), sTREM-1, and cell cycle arrest proteins TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7 ^{134,135}. Table 5 compares these biomarkers. **Table 5** Characteristics of some of the most studied AKI biomarkers suggested for diagnosing septic AKI. Sensitivity, specificity and AUROC data for NGAL, KIM-1 and TIMP-2 x IGFBP-7 from meta-analyses by Albert et al. ¹³⁶, Geng et al. ¹³⁷, and Zhang et al. ¹³⁸.

AKI biomarker	NGAL	КІМ-1	sTREM-1ª	TIMP-2 x IGFBP-7
Source	3 molecular forms, of which 2 produced by damaged renal tubular cells and all 3 by activated neutrophils	released into urine from damaged proximal tubular cells	soluble form of a surface receptor of neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages	kidney stress markers of cell cycle arrest
Sample	plasma or urine	urine	plasma or urine	urine
Marker of stress(S)/ damage(D)	D	D	?	S
Suggested clinical use in AKI				
Prediction	-	+	+	+
Diagnosis	+	+	+	+
Severity	+	+	-	+
Clinical performance in diagnosing AKI				
Sensitivity (%)	66 (plasma) * 56 (urine) *	74*	94**	89*** 45****
Specificity (%)	73 (plasma) * 71 (urine) *	84*	76**	48*** 93****
AUROC	0.77 (plasma)* 0.74 (urine) *	0.62*	0.75 to 0.79 (plasma) 0.71 to 0.92** (urine)	0.75*** 0.84****
Cost effectiveness data available	-	-	-	+/- (limited data in hospital population)

 $^{\rm a}$ no meta-analyses of AKI prediction or diagnosis available, data from two small sepsis studies 34,139 * cutoff by Youden index, ** cutoff 69.04 pg/ml, *** cutoff 0.3 (ng/ml)²/1000, **** cutoff 2.0 (ng/ml)²/1000

AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; IGFBP-7 insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 7; KIM-1, kidney injury molecule 1; NGAL, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin; sTREM-1, soluble form of the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1; TIMP-2, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 2

2.5.1 Proinflammatory mediators IL-6 and IL-8

As pointed out above, the current view is that septic AKI develops as a result of dysregulated inflammation, manifesting with a "cytokine storm" ¹⁶. One of the proinflammatory cytokines, IL-6, is secreted by macrophages as a response to PAMPs bound to pattern recognition receptors on their cell surface. IL-6 mediates fever and acute phase reaction and stimulates neutrophil production in the bone marrow, among other things. High IL-6 plasma concentration is strongly associated with septic AKI and elevates as AKI stage grows, along with mortality ^{18,19}. In vitro studies have shown that circulating IL-6, after binding with the soluble IL-6 receptor, induces IL-8 production by endothelial cells 126. IL-8 is a powerful neutrophil chemoattractant, involved in neutrophil activation, infiltration into tissues, and phagocytosis, and has been reported to be associated with slower kidney recovery and higher mortality among RRTtreated critically ill patients 140. Some studies have shown markedly high IL-6 and IL-8 levels even among AKI patients with less severe infection and no sepsis at all, indicating that AKI is a stronger determinant than sepsis when it comes to IL-6 and IL-8 elevation 13,141.

2.5.2 Activin A

Activin A is a member of the transforming growth factor- β superfamily. Besides functions involving cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, activin A is a multifunctional cytokine involved in many inflammatory diseases. LPS challenge sepsis experiments show that activin A rises in the serum even earlier than IL-6 ^{23,24,142}. Neutrophil cytosol is the main source of rapidly released activin A ^{20-22,143}, which probably explains its early intravascular peaking. Neutrophils are not only the origin of activin A but also the targets of it as activin A has been shown to increase neutrophil phagocytic function and oxidative burst in mice ¹⁰⁸. Correlation with human sepsis severity and mortality has been reported ¹⁴⁴, but, to our knowledge, activin A involvement in septic AKI has not been previously investigated.

2.5.3 Neutrophil granule markers HBP, MPO, and NGAL

HBP, a member of the serine protease family, is a neutrophil granule protein. HBP is released into circulation from secretory vesicles when polymorphonuclear leukocytes are stimulated by certain bacterial structures, and is markedly elevated in septic AKI ²⁷. It mediates endothelial hyperpermeability ^{27,145,146}. The HBP rise takes place at least 12 h before hypotension onset and up to 24 h before OD in sepsis patients ^{29,147}. MPO, a traditional neutrophil activation marker, is, unlike HBP, predominantly released from neutrophil azurophilic granules after neutrophil infiltration into tissues ²⁶. Therefore, MPO tissue concentration reflects the magnitude of neutrophil infiltration in that tissue. Renal MPO levels cannot be directly measured, but urine samples are easily obtainable.

NGAL is a widely studied biomarker for renal tubular injury, used to detect AKI, and to monitor AKI evolution and outcome ^{148,149} (Table 5). It is released from specific granules of activated neutrophils during bacterial infection and systemic inflammation, but has numerous other functions and sources, including kidney, respiratory, and gastrointestinal tract epithelia. Sepsis is known to raise NGAL levels, which may confound measurements for septic AKI ^{150,151}. Another problem is that NGAL is elevated in CKD ¹⁵². Despite these pitfalls, the assay is already clinically used in several countries. Either urine or plasma samples can be analyzed, but uNGAL may have higher specificity for AKI. However, the optimal cutoff values are unknown and NGAL performance in septic AKI is unclear.

2.5.4 KIM-1

KIM-1 is a type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein of the proximal tubular cells and a receptor for phosphatidylserine, a signaling agent that identifies apoptotic cells to be phagocytosed. Elevated KIM-1 levels are detected in toxic and ischemic kidney injury ^{153,154}. Performance figures of KIM-1 are listed in Table 5. A study of 150 sepsis patients reported an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of 0.864 for urine KIM-1 to diagnose AKI 6 h after ICU admission, but with earlier samples, AUROCs were under 0.500 ¹⁵⁵.

2.5.5 sTREM-1

Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, found on neutrophil and monocyte surfaces, and involved in the inflammatory reaction. The soluble form of this transmembrane receptor, sTREM-1, is a suggested biomarker of disease severity in sepsis ¹³⁹. A few small sepsis studies have reported that serum and urine sTREM-1 is associated with AKI ^{34,139}, AUROCs presented in Table 5.

2.5.6 Cell cycle arrest markers: TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7

Cell cycle arrest markers have been under investigation because they might offer an early warning of evolving AKI. Table 5 shows the characteristics of TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7 combined. These two have also been promising to predict septic AKI ³⁵. In a study analyzing AUROCs and risk prediction improvement

compared with clinical variables, a combination of TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7 was superior to any previously suggested biomarker in critically ill patients, including those with sepsis ¹⁵⁶. This test is currently commercially available for evaluating patient's risk for impending AKI. TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7 are probably useful as "kidney stress markers" but not as actual injury markers, and the response to a furosemide stress test may be better than cell cycle arrest markers, or any laboratory marker, to predict AKI evolution ¹⁵⁷.

2.5.7 Predicting AKI progression: furosemide stress test

The furosemide stress test is a clinical tool suggested for AKI progression evaluation. Intravenous furosemide (1.5 mg/kg for those previously on furosemide medication and 1.0 mg/kg for those without) is given to a patient of interest. Urine output >200 ml over 2 hours after furosemide administration is considered responsiveness ¹⁵⁸. According to observational studies, unresponsive patients have an increased risk for progression to stage 3 AKI, an increased need for RRT, and increased mortality ¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶⁰.

2.5.8 Statistical evaluation of biomarkers for clinical use

A biomarker measurement is justified only if it improves clinical judgement and outperforms traditional markers, such as Cr and UO. To assess biomarker performance before its clinical implementation, the first step is to define the population of interest. Second, one must set a clinically meaningful goal for the biomarker: Is it early diagnosis, prediction of a clinically relevant outcome, kidney function monitoring, or something else? Aiming at early AKI detection probably emphasizes test sensitivity over specificity, whereas AKI monitoring (for instance, response to therapy) would require a high specificity. Third, pre-existing, competing risk models must be taken into consideration. Fourth, appropriate statistical tools and model evaluation tests must be chosen. For instance, D'Agostino has described a step-by-step formula to follow 161. To start, the statistical significance and the relative risk or hazard ratio of the new test must be assessed in a multivariate model which adjusts for the known risk factors and other relevant variables. Provided that the new test is statistically significant and has a clinically meaningful relative risk/hazard ratio, the test's discriminative ability-that is, its ability to rank individuals correctly in order of their risk and to separate those developing the outcome event from those who will not-should be tested. An established means to do this involves calculating the AUROC. Next, test calibration, completed using the chi-squared test, describes how the predictions of a model match the actual observed rates.

In the literature, novel AKI biomarkers are often analyzed using AUROC analyses alone. Unfortunately, calculating the AUROC does not address a biomarker's incremental value compared with conventional clinical examination and laboratory testing. Thus, reclassification through the prediction model that includes the new biomarker can be evaluated using recently introduced category-free net reclassification improvement (cfNRI) and integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) 162. However, these metrics have been criticized for being too cryptic to interpret and even misleading 163,164. With risk assessment plots (RAPs), cfNRI and IDI values are visualized, and model improvement or non-improvement in patients with and without the outcome event become easily observable across varying risks of the event ¹⁶⁵. When evaluating a proposed biomarker, the objective is to assess the clinical usefulness of the model including the new marker-that is, to compare the old and the new prediction model to find out if a net benefit exists when the new biomarker is added. A novel method for this comparison is the decision curve analysis (DCA) ^{166,167}, described in detail in the methods section.

While it is evident that AUROCs alone are insufficient to evaluate biomarkers for clinical use, the novel statistic tools discussed above have their shortcomings as well and cannot replace sensitivity and specificity measures or c-statistics. If a proposed biomarker does not have a clinically meaningful hazard ratio or good enough discrimination and calibration in the population in question, further clinical usefulness evaluation with advanced statistical tools is obviously not indicated. In conclusion, to scrutinize a novel biomarker, a stepwise and thorough approach involving several statistical tiers is mandatory ^{168,169}.

2.6 Outcome of septic AKI

A global multicenter study reported hospital mortality from sepsis to be as high as 35%, although variations between countries and even between hospitals were significant ³⁶. Despite recent survival improvements ^{170,171}, absolute mortality is growing worldwide as sepsis incidence is rising ^{69,172}. Sepsis and AKI are a particularly deadly combination: concomitant AKI worsens sepsis prognosis significantly ¹⁷³ and seems to be an independent predictor of death ^{19,174,175}. Studies have shown that an ICU sepsis patient with AKI has up to 6–8 times higher risk for in-hospital death than those without AKI ^{176,177}. A Finnish national multicenter study found that 90-day mortality was 24.7% in severe sepsis patients without AKI and 38.1% in those with AKI ⁶⁹. Moreover, the mortality increased along with septic AKI severity: the 90-day mortality was 31.4% in sepsis patients with KDIGO stage 1 AKI, 46.2% in patients with KDIGO stage 3 AKI and 49.3% in those treated with RRT for septic AKI. The corresponding
hospital mortality figures were 19.1% (KDIGO1) to 42.8% (RRT)⁶⁹. Importantly, overall hospital mortality is higher in septic AKI compared with AKI of another etiology, possibly due to inflammation-induced extrarenal OD that worsens the prognosis ^{178,179}.

In countries with adequate critical care and other health-care facilities, an increasing number of septic AKI patients will survive. Septic AKI is a syndrome of acute kidney function impairment and organ damage not only causing acute electrolyte and acid-base disturbances, deranged fluid balance regulation, and hindered excretion of waste products, but also long-term adverse outcomes and comorbidity. Although many consequences of AKI can be controlled and treated with RRT, earlier RRT initiation has not improved survival among ICU AKI patients 131,180,181. AKI severity depends on the extent of acute tissue injury superimposed on underlying organ reserve. Septic AKI is often reversible, but long insult duration and poor renal reserve may limit renal function restoration ^{182,183}. When AKI of at least stage 1 persists after 7 days from the initiating event, the criteria for acute kidney disease are met. In case of nonrecovery at three months from the initiating event, CKD diagnosis can be made. A fact to acknowledge is that sCr may not be the ideal AKI recovery marker for ICU patients who often suffer from muscle wasting that lowers creatinine values. Even in the fortunate case of complete functional recovery, characterized by sCr normalization, a history of AKI still strongly predisposes the individual to future AKI relapses 184,185, CKD, end-stage renal disease, and non-renal adverse outcomes such as cardiovascular disease 7,173,185-188.

2.7 Prevention and future treatment of septic AKI

According to a meta-analysis comprising 154 studies and over 3 million participants, AKI complicates the hospital stay of 1 in 5 adults ¹⁸⁹. Although no specific therapies for established AKI exist, it has been claimed that as many as 20–30% of the cases might be preventable if increased risk was recognized early enough ¹⁹⁰. Machine learning risk assessment tools may help in finding vulnerable patients ¹⁹¹, and nephrology rapid response teams, triggered by AKI risk assessment and TIMP-2 and IGFBP-7 monitoring, have been suggested ¹⁹². To prevent septic AKI specifically, the first step is to recognize sepsis earlier. Accordingly, campaigns aim at raising concern among professionals as well as laymen. Inside hospitals, developing medical emergency teams and associated criteria for escalating care enables prompt recognition and timely reaction to emerging sepsis. To date, septic AKI prevention has leaned on the early initiation of appropriate antibiotic therapy, source control and hemodynamic stabilization. Few clinical studies have tested pharmacologic therapies aiming

specifically to prevent or mitigate septic AKI, but human recombinant alkaline phosphatase and angiotensin II are two potentially beneficial agents ¹⁹³.

Since 2019, immunomodulation has returned to the limelight as the pandemic caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2¹⁹⁴ has evoked enormous research resource mobilization across the scientific community. In this novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), severe hypoxic respiratory dysfunction is the clinical hallmark of those who end up in intensive care—immune response dysregulation being the most important disease severity denominator. This observation has directed treatment attempts toward immunomodulatory drugs ¹⁹⁵. Although COVID-19 pathophysiology is somewhat different from bacterial sepsis, there are noticeable similarities: hyperinflammation seems to be associated with severe disease and multiorgan failure in COVID-19 as well ¹⁹⁶. While early effective antibiotic therapy and source control remain essential to improve sepsis prognosis and reduce AKI ¹⁹⁷, the evidence gained from immunomodulatory COVID-19 treatment may advance future treatment of sepsis and associated OD, including AKI.

2.7.1 Alkaline phosphatase

Human recombinant alkaline phosphatase, an endogenous dephosphorylating enzyme, has shown promise in treating inflammation in septic AKI 198. Alkaline phosphatase was recently shown to improve endogenous CrCl as well as septic AKI 28-day and 90-day survival 199. Alkaline phosphatase cleaves phosphate groups from LPS 200 and other PAMPs and DAMPs. Dephosphorylated endotoxin still binds to TLR4 but fails to activate the signaling cascade, thus acting as an antagonist to TLR4-mediated signaling. Alkaline phosphatase also inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase and thus presumably restrains nitric oxide mediated caspase-3 activity preserving peritubular microcirculation ²⁰¹. As evidence of the suggested mechanisms, animal studies have demonstrated inflammatory response attenuation (for instance, lower IL-6 and nitric oxide levels) following alkaline phosphatase treatment 202,203. Another target of alkaline phosphatase is extracellular ATP, which is released by stressed renal cells and acts as a DAMP. Alkaline phosphatase dephosphorylates ATP yielding adenosine, which is a mediator in macula densa control of GFR via the tubuloglomerular feedback system ²⁰⁴.

2.7.2 Angiotensin II

Angiotensin II is part of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system that activates in hypotensive states. Angiotensin II binds to a G-protein receptor in blood vessels, causing vasoconstriction. It also increases tubular NaCl reabsorption and water retention, aldosterone and vasopressin secretion, and sympathetic activity. A *post hoc* analysis of the Angiotensin II for the Treatment of Vasodilatory Shock 3 (ATHOS-3) trial reported improved 28-day survival and less RRT -dependency at day 7 among RRT-treated patients who received angiotensin II for refractory vasodilatory shock ²⁰⁵. However, this observation has not been replicated, and the ATHOS-3 trial limitations regarding internal and external validity warrant further studies before implementing this treatment.

2.7.3 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids act as non-specific inflammation attenuators and are utilized in various states of acute and chronic inflammation. The well-known corticosteroid side -effects include hyperglycemia, hypernatremia, increased risk for ICU-acquired weakness and susceptibility to superinfections. Unlike in COVID-19 ^{206,207}, the benefit versus harm of corticosteroids is continuously debated in sepsis. A series of contradicting trials and alternating meta-analyses have been published over the years. Yet, the most recent pooled data on corticosteroids in septic shock indicate a 28-day survival benefit, shorter time to shock resolution, and a lower SOFA score on day 7 ²⁰⁸. The latest guidelines by the Surviving Sepsis Campaign suggest hydrocortisone in septic shock with ongoing vasopressor therapy ²⁰⁹.

2.7.4 Blocking the "cytokine storm"

Tocilizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody that inhibits IL-6 by blocking the IL-6 receptor, is an immunosuppressive drug for rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic polyarthritis, giant cell arteritis, and severe cytokine release syndrome related to chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapies. High IL-6 levels in broncho-alveolar lavage fluid and sputum are associated with severe COVID-19²¹⁰. Following results indicating reduced mortality and reduced need for invasive ventilation from two large COVID-19 trials ^{211,212}, the World Health Organization now strongly recommends systemic IL-6 inhibitors, added to corticosteroid treatment, for life-threatening COVID-19 ²¹³. Apparently, certain gene variants of the IL-6 inflammatory pathway are associated with the most severe COVID-19 forms ²¹⁴, supporting the treatment strategy of preventing IL-6 action. A similar approach has not improved survival among non-selected sepsis patients thus far, but phenotyping patients can help in identifying hyperinflammatory individuals ⁸¹ who might benefit from therapies suppressing the IL-6 pathway ²¹⁵. Concurrently, the potential harms of immunomodulatory the rapies, particularly the increased risk of secondary infections, must be considered carefully $^{\rm 216}.$

Another drug for rheumatic and autoimmune diseases, a recombinant receptor antagonist of IL-1 α and IL-1 β , anakinra, is currently studied as a potential COVID-19 medication. Like IL-6, IL-1 takes part in the inflammatory response to lung injury ²¹⁷ and "cytokine storms". Anakinra is used, off label, to treat hyperinflammatory conditions ²¹⁸. A recent meta-analysis of non-randomized cohort studies indicated significant reduction in COVID-19 mortality and in need for mechanical ventilation ²¹⁹. Although randomized controlled trials studying anakinra in sepsis have failed to demonstrate reduced mortality ^{220,221}, a subgroup analysis indicated improved survival among sepsis patients with hyperinflammation ²²².

To conclude, immunomodulatory agents dampening the "cytokine storm" seem to perform better in severe COVID-19 than in sepsis. There may be several explanations for this. Obviously, COVID-19 is caused by one virus whereas sepsis by various bacteria or fungi. Perhaps more importantly, the study population of a trial investigating a single viral disease is inevitably more selected and homogenous than the corresponding sepsis trial population. Another factor explaining response to immunomodulation may be that COVID-19 patients expressing the most severe respiratory dysfunction and hypoxia also have the highest cytokine levels ¹⁹⁶. Furthermore, the timing of hospital admission and, thus, initiation of medication, is highly constant with COVID-19: dyspnea requiring hospitalization usually develops at approximately one week from the first symptoms ²²³. This time point is considered safe to introduce immunomodulatory drugs that would potentially weaken the initial response to the microbial invader. Choosing the right patient phenotypes and the optimal timing for immunomodulation is probably more laborious in the more diverse sepsis syndrome but might bring significant progress.

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The primary aim of this study was to explore suggested inflammatory mechanisms of septic AKI and to evaluate some present and emerging septic AKI biomarkers in a clinical intensive care setting.

The specific targets were:

- 1. To evaluate the usefulness of adjusting plasma Cr for fluid balance: To discover if it influences the ICU AKI incidence and if 90-day mortality differs between patients who changed category from non-AKI to AKI after adjustment and those who did not (I).
- 2. To study the association of proinflammatory cytokines and neutrophil activation markers with septic AKI in critically ill sepsis patients (II).
- 3. To study the temporal changes in proinflammatory cytokine levels and intravascular neutrophil activation in relation to OD onset in critically ill patients with early sepsis (III).
- 4. To evaluate, with novel statistical instruments, whether uNGAL adds value to risk models based on routine clinical and laboratory evaluation in predicting AKI, RRT or 90-day mortality in critically ill sepsis patients (IV).

4 PATIENTS AND METHODS

4.1 Patients

All patients in Studies I–IV were participants in the FINNAKI study ⁴, which was a prospective observational national study conducted in 17 Finnish ICUs. Between 1 September 2011 and 1 February 2012, all emergency admissions and elective admissions with an expected ICU stay >24 h were included. The exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) Age under 18, 2) Readmitted patient who had received RRT during the previous admission, 3) Elective patient treated for <24 h if discharged alive, 4) Patient on chronic dialysis, 5) Organ donor, 6) No permanent residency in Finland or insufficient language skills, 7) Transfer from another ICU if patient had already participated in the study for 5 days, 8) Patient in intermediate care.

Patients of **Study I** originated from the FINNAKI study. We excluded patients having stayed in ICU for <24 h, those transferred to another ICU during the first 5 days, those with missing fluid input/output or weight data, and those treated with RRT prior to ICU admission.

Study II included 182 FINNAKI study patients who fulfilled the ACCP/ SCCM criteria ³⁷ for severe sepsis at any time between 24 h preceding admission and the second calendar day in the ICU. To achieve this number, 237 consecutive patients were screened from the end of the FINNAKI study period backwards. Patients not having both admission and 24 h plasma samples available were excluded.

In **Study III**, we included all Study II patients who had a recorded time label for the first emerging sepsis-associated OD.

In **Study IV**, we investigated a sepsis patient subpopulation from the FINNAKI-NGAL -study ³², which included a random patient sample from the first half of the original FINNAKI study. We included only patients who fulfilled the most recent Sepsis-3 criteria ⁴¹ during the first three ICU days. Flow charts of Studies I–IV are shown in Figure 4.

Studies I–IV were approved by the local Ethics Committee of the Helsinki University Hospital. A deferred consent was granted to include patients immediately upon ICU admission and to obtain samples promptly. This was considered appropriate as the studies were observational and included no interventions other than collecting a small amount of blood and urine. When deferred consent was applied, a written informed consent was obtained from the patient or next of kin as soon as possible.



4.2 Data collection

Studies I–IV utilized prospectively collected data from the FINNAKI study⁴. Clinicians filled in a standardized case report form on patients' admission to ICU and daily thereafter until discharge or day 5. Comorbidities, present health status, certain pre-determined medications and laboratory test results, possible risk factors for AKI, information on operative treatment, daily fluid input and output, AKI, and RRT were recorded in the case report form (CRF).

In Study I, we calculated fluid balance by subtracting daily total fluid output (urine output, ultrafiltration, losses to drains and gastrointestinal tract, and a surrogate for evaporation) from daily total input (intravenous crystalloids, colloids, blood products, drug infusions, nutrition, and oral intake). To adjust Cr measurements for the fluid balance, we used the following previously introduced formula ^{58,224}:

adjusted Cr = Cr x [(0.6 x patient weight) + cumulative balance in liters] / (0.6 x patient weight).

The fluid balance used for Cr adjustment was calculated as the cumulative fluid balance from ICU admission until each Cr measurement. For the analyses, we chose the highest unadjusted Cr and the highest adjusted Cr of the first 5 ICU days.

Study III utilized the CRF originally created for the FINNAKI study, with screening for severe sepsis and OD 24 h preceding admission, on admission, and each day until ICU day 5. Data collection has been described previously⁶⁹. The onset of septic shock and every new OD (hh:mm) was recorded by the attending clinician according to the following pre-defined criteria:

- Hypotension: a) systolic arterial pressure ≤90 mmHg, or reduction of over 40 mmHg from baseline for over 1 h, or b) hypotension not responding to intravenous fluids after 1 h infusion and requiring inotrope/vasopressor treatment.
- 2. Signs of hypoperfusion: lactate above the local laboratory reference value, or oliguria, or acutely altered mental status.
- 3. Acute respiratory dysfunction: ratio of the partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood to the inspired oxygen fraction <200 mmHg, if respiratory dysfunction only, and <250 mmHg, if other ODs present.

- 4. Acute kidney dysfunction: UO ≤ 0.5 ml/kg for 1 h despite adequate fluid resuscitation.
- 5. Acute cardiovascular dysfunction: systolic arterial pressure ≤ 90 mmHg or mean arterial pressure (MAP) ≤ 70 mmHg for at least 1 h.
- 6. Acute hematological dysfunction: thrombocytes ≤80 E9/l or ≥50% decrease in 3 days.
- 7. Unexplained metabolic acidosis: pH ≤7.30, or base excess ≤-5 and lactate >1.5 times normal likely to be caused by infection.

Admission diagnoses, physiologic data including hourly UO, and prognostic (acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II, APACHE II; simplified acute physiology score II, SAPS II) as well as disease severity scores (SOFA) were collected from the Finnish Intensive Care Consortium database. This database, maintained by Tieto Ltd, Helsinki, Finland, and described in the original FINNAKI study report⁴, consists of routinely collected benchmarking data from Finnish ICUs. The data are mostly automatically transferred from electronic medical records, laboratory systems, patient monitors, and ventilators, but validated by automated filters and by trained personnel.

4.2.1 Sepsis definition (II-IV)

Sepsis definition has evolved in recent years. At the time of the FINNAKI study enrollment, the ACCP/SCCM criteria ³⁷ were used to screen sepsis. To have severe sepsis, which was the inclusion criteria in Studies II–III, a patient had to fulfill all three of the following criteria:

- 1. Verified or strongly suspected infection
- 2. SIRS, that is, at least two of the following:
 - a. core temperature $\ge 38^{\circ}$ C or $\le 36^{\circ}$ C
 - b. heart rate $\ge 90/\min$
 - c. respiratory rate ≥20/min or partial pressure of carbon dioxide ≤4.3 kPa in arterial blood, when breathing spontaneously, or ventilator support
 - d. white blood cell count ≥ 12.0 E9/l or ≤ 4.0 E9/l or > 10% immature neutrophils

- 3. At least one OD likely to be caused by infection:
 - a. hypotension not responding to fluid therapy
 - b. signs of hypoperfusion (lactatemia, oliguria, acute change in level of consciousness)
 - c. acute respiratory dysfunction
 - d. AKI
 - e. acute liver failure
 - f. metabolic acidosis
 - g. disseminated intravascular coagulation defined by International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis criteria ²²⁵

To detect OD, we used the SOFA score ³⁸. In Studies II–III, the attending clinician was responsible for deciding whether or not a study patient had infection-related OD. In Study IV, sepsis was defined *post hoc* according to the latest Sepsis-3 definition ⁴¹ as a life-threatening OD caused by a dysregulated host response to infection. The criteria for sepsis included suspected or documented infection and an acute increase of ≥ 2 SOFA points, reflecting OD ³⁸.

4.2.2 AKI definition

We defined and staged AKI according to KDIGO criteria ⁴⁵, including plasma Cr, UO, and RRT criteria. In addition, we used fluid balance-adjusted Cr for AKI diagnosis and staging in Study I. The last available plasma creatinine value from the preceding year up to one week before ICU admission was used as the baseline value. If not available, we estimated the baseline creatinine value using the MDRD equation assuming a GFR of 75 ml/min/1.73 m² ⁵². The highest KDIGO stage of the observation period was chosen for each patient's final KDIGO stage. In Study IV, we defined KDIGO stage 2–3 AKI as "severe" AKI.

4.2.3 Outcomes

Throughout the observation period, given RRT was recorded daily in the CRF. ICU length of stay data were collected from the Finnish Intensive Care Consortium database. 90-day all-cause mortality data for Studies I, II, and IV were obtained from the Finnish Population Register Center.

4.3 Blood and urine samples

Plasma Cr samples were obtained daily as part of ICU routine laboratory testing. Blood samples for Studies II–III were drawn from the peripheral arterial cannula into ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid tubes upon ICU admission and 24 h later. The admission samples were centrifuged and aliquoted immediately after ICU admission or by 2 hours at the latest. Storage was at -80°C until assayed.

We collected urine samples at the time of ICU admission in Study II. For Study IV, urine samples were obtained on admission, and at 12 h and 24 h from admission. All urine samples were centrifuged and aliquoted as soon as possible and stored at -80°C until assayed.

4.4 Laboratory assays

We used commercially available kits and conducted all laboratory assays in duplicate according to the manufacturer's instructions. The individuals who performed the laboratory analyses were blinded to patient records. Daily routine laboratory tests including blood leukocytes, plasma C-reactive protein (CRP), and Cr were analyzed in the local laboratory, HUSLAB.

4.4.1 Activin A (II)

For plasma and urine assays of activin A in Study II, we used a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Quantikine®, R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK; detection limit 4 pg/ml).

4.4.2 IL-6 (II-III)

For plasma IL-6 assays in Studies II–III and urine IL-6 assays in Study II, we used a commercial ELISA kit (DiaClone®, Besancon, France; detection limit 2 pg/ml).

4.4.3 IL-8 (II-III)

For plasma IL-8 assays in Studies II–III and urine IL-8 assays in Study II, we used a commercial ELISA kit (Cymax®, Abfrontier, Seoul, South Korea; detection limit 0.3 pg/ml).

4.4.4 MPO (II-III)

For plasma MPO assays in Studies II–III and urine MPO assays in Study II, we used a commercial ELISA kit (BioLegend Inc., San Diego, CA, USA; detection limit 28 pg/ml).

4.4.5 HBP (III)

For plasma HBP assays in Study III, we used a commercial ELISA kit (Axis-Shiled Diagnostics, Dundee, UK; detection limit 5.9 ng/ml).

4.4.6 NGAL (IV)

NGAL ELISA Rapid Kit (BioPorto® Gentofte, Denmark; measurement range 10–1000 ng/ml), with good intra- and inter-assay precision, was used for uNGAL assays in Study IV.

4.5 Statistical analyses

4.5.1 Sample size calculations (II-III)

For power calculation in Study II, previous clinical data only existed for IL-6 concentrations in septic AKI ¹⁹. Additionally, we utilized the results of an unpublished pilot study of 32 sepsis patients, presented later in the results. We aimed at 80% power to detect a 2.5-fold increase in plasma IL-6 concentration between AKI and non-AKI patients. To be on the safe side when previous data for plasma IL-8, Activin A and MPO did not exist, we increased the sample size to 90 per group (AKI and non-AKI). For Study III, we used the IL-6 and IL-8 results of the above-mentioned pilot study and one-way analysis of variance, the parametric equivalent of the Kruskall–Wallis test, to estimate the patient number needed for 80% power. To get the sample size for a non-parametric test, we added 10% to the resulting number of patients, as usual. We could not influence the sample size in Studies I and IV because they were *post hoc* analyses of previously published studies ^{4.32}.

4.5.2 Data presentation and group comparison

We present the data as numbers and percentages, as medians with interquartile range (IQR) or range, or as means with standard deviations, depending on distributions. Point estimates of incidences and AUROCs are presented with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). For study variables with non-normal

distributions, we used non-parametric tests: proportions were compared using Chi square or Fisher's exact tests and bivariate correlations with the Spearman test. For continuous variables, we used the Mann-Whitney U test to compare groups. For comparisons between three or more groups, we chose the Kruskall– Wallis test with pairwise comparison as a *post hoc* test. In Study I, we used Wilson's method for non-paired samples to compare mortality rates between non-paired groups and Student's T-test to compare groups, when appropriate. P-values <0.05 were considered significant except when Bonferroni correction was used, and the p-value was lowered as appropriate.

4.5.3 Logistic regression analysis (II) and multivariable logistic regression analysis (IV)

In Study II, we used logistic regression analysis to test if comorbidities or disease severity contributed to AKI. We entered all covariates at the same time, not stepwise. To construct clinical risk models in Study IV, we conducted multivariable logistic regression analysis entering variables with the strongest associations with outcomes (max 1 per 8 dependent endpoints) simultaneously. We imputed missing values as recommended ²²⁶. Model calibration was tested with Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness of fit.

4.5.4 AUROC (II, IV)

In Studies II and IV, we calculated AUROCs using the method published by DeLong et al. ²²⁷. We presented binomial exact 95% CIs for AUROCs to assess the diagnostic accuracy of the studied biomarkers (II) and the risk models (IV).

4.5.5 Category-free net reclassification improvement (cfNRI), integrated discrimination improvement (IDI), and risk assessment plot (RAP) (IV)

In Study IV, we evaluated the additive predictive power of uNGAL with cfNRI and IDI. In the risk models of Study IV, each patient received a calculated risk probability from 0 (0%) to 1 (100%). We compared the probabilities of the new risk model including uNGAL with the probabilities of the clinical risk model ("old"). Each patient was given a value of either +1 or -1 depending on whether the change in the calculated risk was in the correct direction (higher for those with events and lower for those without) or incorrect direction (lower for those with events and higher for those without), respectively. The cfNRI_{events} is the sum of these values among the patients with the outcome event and cfNRI_{nonevents}, correspondingly, the sum of the values among the patients without the outcome

event. The cfNRI is the sum of cfNRI_{events} and cfNRI_{nonevents}. We also calculated IDI, which detects both the direction and the quantity of the change between risk models for patients with and without the event, defined as

$$IDI = (IS_{new} - IS_{old}) - (IP_{new} - IP_{old}),$$

where IS is the integral of sensitivity over all possible cut-off values and IP is the integral of "1 minus specificity". We draw RAPs, plotting the portion of patients above a certain calculated risk against the certain risk, to visualize how cfNRI and IDI vary in patients with and without the event, according to the risk of the event.

4.5.6 Decision curve analysis (DCA) (IV)

In Study IV, we conducted DCAs plotting net benefit against threshold probability for the outcomes to illustrate the net benefit of adding uNGAL to the clinical prediction models. Net benefit delineates gained new true-positive results without false-positive results varying according to the chosen threshold probability. This is the probability above which the patient is offered treatment (for instance, ICU admission). A threshold probability is chosen according to the significance of false-negative versus false-positive results. Threshold probability of 0.1 means that we consider the harm of a false-negative result (for instance, denial of a necessary ICU admission) to be 9 times (1 - 0.1/0.1) worse than a false-positive result (unnecessary ICU admission). For more serious outcomes, false-negative results are considered more harmful and the threshold lowered. We calculated test trade-offs to determine the minimum patient number to be tested per one extra true-positive classification.

4.5.7 Software

We used SPSS 22 or 24 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), MedCalc Statistical Software version 18 (MedCalc Software bvba, Ostend, Belgium; http://www.medcalc.org; 2018), R 3.4.3 and 3.6.1 (R Development Core Team, Vienna, Austria), and Stata 16 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, Texas, USA) to conduct the statistical analyses.

5 RESULTS

5.1 Patient characteristics and clinical outcomes

Study I was a *post hoc* analysis of the original FINNAKI study of 2901 patients. After excluding 857 patients, there were 2044 patients in Study I. 1330/2044 patients (65%) had baseline Cr data with a median value of 76 [62–92] µmol/l. For those 714 (35%) without baseline Cr, we used MDRD back-calculation. The baseline characteristics and the admission diagnosis groups are shown in Table 6. 1722/2044 admissions (85%) were acute. 1526/2044 (75%) patients were mechanically ventilated. The median ICU length of stay was 3 days (IQR 2–6 days); 657 patients (32%) were discharged and 125 (6%) were deceased before 5 days. 201/2044 (9.8%) patients were treated with RRT during the first 5 ICU days. Overall 90-day mortality was 22%.

Of the 182 sepsis patients in Study II, 97 (53%) had severe sepsis by the ACCP/SCCM criteria-that is, had at least one sepsis-associated OD-at the time of admission to intensive care. 85/182 (47%) patients fulfilled the criteria for severe sepsis later during the admission day or the day thereafter. 92/182 (51%) patients were diagnosed with AKI by the KDIGO criteria during the first 5 ICU days. Of the patients with AKI, 50/92 (54%) fulfilled AKI criteria on admission day, 35/92 (38%) on the following day, and 7/92 (7.6%) later during the 5-day observation period. The time of AKI diagnosis in relation to ICU admission is shown in Figure 5. AKI severity was distributed as follows: 37/92 (40%) had KDIGO stage 1, 19/92 (21%) stage 2, and 36/92 (39%) stage 3 AKI. Of all 182 patients, 26 (14%) were treated with RRT during the 5-day observation period. Baseline patient characteristics and admission diagnosis groups are shown in Table 6. When AKI and non-AKI groups were compared, history of hypertension was more frequent among patients with AKI than in those without. Additionally, septic shock was more common among patients diagnosed with AKI and they also had a higher maximum SOFA score (renal points subtracted) than patients without AKI. In logistic regression analysis of 11 baseline variables, only diabetes, systolic heart failure and maximum SOFA score without renal points were associated with AKI.

In Study II, 167 of 182 patients had a recorded time label for the first OD and were included in Study III. 166/167 (99%) patients fulfilled the latest Sepsis-3 criteria for sepsis. The onset of the first OD was later than 1 h after admission (indicating early ICU admission) in 38/167 patients (23%), ± 1 h from admission in 74/167 (44%), and earlier than 1 h before admission (indicating late ICU admission) in 55/167 patients (33%). The median time between the

first OD and ICU admission was 0.0 h. The time of OD onset in relation to ICU admission is shown in Figure 6. The 3 groups, stratified according to the time of onset of the first OD, using cut points of ± 1 h from admission, were comparable regarding comorbidities and disease severity, as shown in Table 7.

484 patients from the previously conducted FINNAKI NGAL -study fulfilled the Sepsis-3 definition during the first 3 ICU days and were included in Study IV. Table 6 presents characteristics and admission diagnosis groups of the included 484 critically ill sepsis patients. 217/484 (44.8%) patients developed AKI during the 3-day follow-up; 115/217 patients (53%) fulfilled AKI criteria on day 1 (admission day), 87/217 (40%) on day 2, and 15/217 (7%) on day 3. Of 46 patients treated with RRT during the first 3 ICU days, 20 (43%) commenced RRT on the first ICU day, 19 (41%) on day 2, and 7 (15%) on day 3. For uNGAL analyses, we used the first available urine sample, which was the 0 h sample in 460/484 patients (95%). 90-day mortality was 36.4% (95% CI 30.0–43.2%) among patients with AKI and 21.3% (95% CI 16.6–26.8%) in those without. **Table 6** Baseline patient characteristics in the included studies.

	Study I	Study II (includes Study III patients)	Study III	Study IV
Study population	ICU admissions with LOS ≥24 h	Severe sepsis (ACCP/SCCM criteria)	Severe sepsis (ACCP/SCCM criteria) and recorded onset of 1 st OD	Sepsis (Sepsis-3 criteria)
Number of patients	2044	182	167	484
Age, median [IQR]	64 [53-74]	62 [52-72]	62 [53-72]	65 [54-75]
Male gender, n/data available (%)	1331/2044 (65)	115/182 (63)	108/167 (65)	310/484 (64)
Co-morbidities, n/data available (%)				
Hypertension	999/2031 (49)	87/180 (48)	77/165 (47)	255/484 (53)
Diabetes	444/2044 (22)	39/182 (21)	34/167 (20)	117/484 (24)
Atherosclerosis	276/2012 (14)	17/180 (9)	17/165 (10)	64/484 (13)
Systolic heart failure	250/2028 (12)	13/179 (7)	12/165 (7)	64/484 (13)
Chronic kidney disease	137/2034 (7)	0/182 (0)*	0/167 (0)*	35/484 (7)
Admission type, n/data available (%)				
Emergency	1722/2018 (85)	179/182 (98)	164/167 (98)	465/482 (96)
Operative	799/2043 (39)	41/181 (23)	36/166 (22)	123/484 (25)
APACHE dx groups, n/data available (%)				
Cardiovascular, operative	390/2043 (19)	2/182 (1)	2/167 (1)	23/484 (5)
Cardiovascular, non-operative	277/2043 (14)	15/182 (8)	12/167 (7)	65/484 (13)
Respiratory tract, non-operative	253/2043 (12)	58/182 (32)	58/167 (35)	109/484 (23)
Gastrointestinal tract, operative	187/2043 (9)	31/182 (17)	27/167 (16)	63/484 (13)
Neurological, non-operative	182/2043 (9)	11/182 (6)	10/167 (6)	26/484 (5)
Gastrointestinal tract, non-operative	128/2043 (6)	14/182 (8)	12/167 (7)	36/484 (7)
Metabolic	128/2043 (6)	8/182 (4)	5/167 (3)	23/484 (5)
Sepsis (not urosepsis)	120/2043 (6)	21/182 (12)	21/167 (13)	64/484 (13)
Neurological, operative	100/2043 (5)	4/182 (2)	4/167 (2)	10/484 (2)
Other	278/2043 (14)	18/182 (10)	16/167 (10)	75/484 (15)
Disease severity				
SAPS II, median [IQR]	37 [29–50]	43 [35-52]	43 [35-52]	40 [32-53]
SOFA score day 1, median [IQR]	7 [5-10]	8 [6-11]	8 [6-11]	8 [5-10]
Norepinephrine during first 24 h in ICU, n/data available (%)	1368/2044 (67)	120/182 (66)	118/167 (71)	321/484 (66)
ICU LOS, days, median [IQR]	3.1 [1.9-5.9]	4.6 [2.7-8.0]	4.5 [2.7-8.1]	4.0 [2.2-7.6]

*patients with chronic kidney disease were excluded

ACCP/SCCM, American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine; APACHE, acute physiology and chronic health evaluation; ICU, intensive care unit; IQR, interquartile range; LOS, length of stay; OD, organ dysfunction; SAPS, simplified acute physiology score; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment





Figure 5 Time of diagnosis of acute kidney injury (AKI) in relation to intensive care unit admission in Study II. Figure by the author.



n = 167, mean 00:39, standard deviation 0.4214 days

Figure 6 Time of onset of the first organ dysfunction in relation to intensive care unit admission in Study III. Figure by the author.

Table 7Comparison of comorbidities and disease severity in the three groups with different samplingtime in Study III, modified from table originally appearing in Innate Immunity 2021;27(2):192-200.

	Data available	Before OD (n=38)	At OD (n=74)	After OD (n=55)	p
Time from ICU admission to first documented OD, h, median (range)	167	12.3 (1.0-45.6)	0 (-0.9-0.9)ª	-4.1 (-23.81.2)ª	
Age, median [IQR]	167	60 [50-71]	63 [56-73]	61 [52-72]	0.310
Male gender, n (%)	167	24 (63)	46 (62)	38 (69)	0.700
Co-morbidities, n (%)					
Hypertension	165	15 (40)	31 (42)	31 (56)	0.238
Diabetes with oral or insulin medication	167	8 (21)	12 (16)	14 (26)	0.433
Atherosclerosis	165	4 (11)	7 (10)	6 (11)	0.853
Systolic heart failure	165	3 (8)	7 (10)	2 (4)	0.451
Admission type and status					
Emergency, n (%)	167	38 (100)	72 (97)	54 (98)	0.797
Operative, n (%)	166	13 (34)	6 (8)	17 (31)	0.001
SAPS II, median [IQR]	167	41 [32-51]	44 [35-56]	44 [36-50]	0.459
Sepsis severity and organ dysfunction					
Septic shock during first 5 ICU days, n (%)	167	26 (68)	49 (66)	43 (78)	0.317
Lactate, mmol/I (first in ICU, median [IQR])	134	1.5 [1.1–2.1]	1.6 [1.0-3.7]	1.6 [1.0-4.0]	0.612
Highest SOFA, median [IQR]	167	9 [8-12]	9 [7-11]	10 [7-12]	0.342
AKI, n (%)	167	19 (50)	34 (46)	32 (58)	0.386
RRT for AKI, n (%)	167	4 (11)	10 (14)	9 (16)	0.722
ICU LOS, days, median [IQR]	167	4.6 [2.9-8.3]	4.1 [2.6-8.0]	5.0 [2.7-8.2]	0.856

"Before OD", patients who developed their first organ dysfunction > 1 h after ICU admission; "At OD", patients presenting their first organ dysfunction \pm 1 h from admission; "After OD", patients who had organ dysfunction > 1 h before ICU admission.

^aA negative value indicates that organ dysfunction has emerged before admission.

APACHE, acute physiology and chronic health evaluation; AKI, acute kidney injury; ICU, intensive care unit; IQR, interquartile range; LOS, length of stay; OD, organ dysfunction; RRT, renal replacement therapy; SAPS, simplified acute physiology score; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment

5.2 Influence of adjusting Cr values for fluid balance (I)

In Study I, we assessed 7279 plasma Cr values of 2044 ICU patients, with the median being 4 [IQR 2–5] measurements per patient. Highest Cr was measured on day 2 [median; IQR 2–3]. The median fluid balance used to calculate the highest adjusted Cr value for each patient was 17 ml (-167–616 ml). The mean difference between all adjusted and unadjusted Cr values was 5 μ mol/l (±15 μ mol/l) (Figure 7).



Figure 7 Mean unadjusted versus adjusted creatinine values (μ mol/; y-axis, left) and median fluid balance (ml; y-axis, right) during the first 5 days of intensive care in Study I. Number of observations per day: Day 1: 1536; Day 2: 1905; Day 3: 1402; Day 4: 1018; Day 5: 760. Cr, creatinine; FB, fluid balance.

Figure originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2021;65:1079–1086 with permission from Wiley (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License).

5.2.1 Incidence of AKI (I)

Using unadjusted Cr, 616/2044 (30%; 95% CI 28-32%) patients were diagnosed with AKI. Adjusting Cr for fluid balance yielded 38 additional AKI diagnoses resulting in an incidence of 31% (95% CI 29-34%). The absolute difference between these incidences was 2% (95% CI 1-3%). 15 patients had AKI based on unadjusted Cr but not when adjusted Cr was used. 53 patients were diagnosed with AKI based on adjusted but not on unadjusted Cr. Table 8 shows cross tabulation.

When full KDIGO criteria (including unadjusted Cr, UO and RRT) were applied, AKI incidence was 44% (95% CI 41–46%), and based on the full criteria with adjusted Cr, 45% (95% CI 42–47%). The absolute incidence difference

was 0.9% (95% CI 0.3–1.6%). Thereby, using adjusted Cr with UO and RRT criteria led to AKI diagnosis in 19 additional patients (1%). The cross tabulation for the full KDIGO criteria with or without Cr adjustment is shown in Table 9. Figure 8 illustrates the highest KDIGO stages using either only Cr or full criteria with or without Cr adjustment. We detected no marked differences in AKI incidence in various subgroups when the full criteria were used (Figure 9). The number of patients changing category after adjustment was similar among those not having baseline Cr available, although their AKI incidences were lower regardless of Cr adjustment (Table 10).

Table 8 Cross tabulation of AKI in Study I based on Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) creatinine (Cr) criterion only (adjusted or unadjusted). Table originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2021;65:1079–1086 with permission from Wiley (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License).

	No AKI -using adjusted Cr, n (%; 95% CI)	AKI -using adjusted Cr , n (%; 95% CI)
No AKI based on unadjusted Cr	1375 (67.3%; 65.2–69.3)	53 (2.6%; 1.9–3.3)
90-day mortality	244 (17.7%; 15.7–19.8)	21 (39.6%; 26.5–53.9)
AKI based on unadjusted Cr	15 (0.7%; 0.4–0.12)	601 (29.4%; 27.4–31.4)
90-day mortality	2 (13.3%; 3.7–37.8)	189 (31.4%; 27.7–35.3)

Table 9 Cross tabulation of AKI in Study I based on full KDIGO criteria including adjusted or unadjusted Cr. Table originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2021;65:1079–1086 with permission from Wiley (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License).

	No AKI -adjusted Cr , n (%; 95% CI)	AKI -adjusted Cr , (%; 95% CI)
No AKI -unadjusted Cr	1122 (54.9%; 52.7–57.1)	31 (1.5%; 1.0-2.2)
90-day mortality	180 (16.0%; 13.9–18.3)	8 (25.8%; 11.8-44.6)
AKI -unadjusted Cr	12 (0.6%; 0.3–1.0)	879 (43.0%; 40.8-45.2)
90-day mortality	1 (8.3%; 4.3–35.4)	267 (30.4%; 27.3-33.5)

Table 10 Comparison of AKI incidence for Study I patients with and without baseline Cr. Table originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2021;65:1079-1086, supporting information, with permission from Wiley (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License).

AKI	No baseline Cr available (n=714)	Baseline Cr available (n=1330)	P-value
Unadjusted Cr only	183 (25.6%)	433 (32.6%)	0.001
Adjusted Cr only	189 (26.5%)	465 (35.0%)	0.001
Unadjusted full criteria	284 (39.8%)	607 (45.6%)	0.011
Adjusted full criteria	284 (39.8%)	626 (47.1%)	0.002

Results



Figure 8 The highest KDIGO stages of Study I population when using either only unadjusted or adjusted Cr, or these in combination with UO and RRT criteria.

AKI, acute kidney injury; Cr, creatinine; Full, Cr and UO and RRT; KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes.



Figure 9 Incidence of AKI in Study I subgroups when using the UO, RRT, and unadjusted or adjusted Cr criteria. Error bars denote 95% confidence intervals. Numbers in parenthesis indicate the number of patients in the group. Highest fluid balance quartile >667 ml (up to 12 198 ml). Highest SAPS II score quartile >50 points (up to 102). AKI; Acute kidney injury, SAPS; Simplified Acute Physiology Score.

Figures 8-9 originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2021;65:1079–1086 with permission from Wiley (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License).

5.2.2 90-day mortality (I)

The 90-day mortality rate was 31% (95% CI 28-35%) among patients having AKI based on both unadjusted and adjusted Cr. Of those without AKI, 244 (18%) had died by 90 days. The 90-day mortality of those 53 patients who had AKI only after Cr adjustment was 40% (95% CI 26-53%), which was not significantly different compared to patients having AKI on both unadjusted and adjusted Cr criteria (absolute mortality rate difference 8%; 95% CI -7-22%). Cross tabulations with all mortality rates when using either only Cr criterion or the full criteria are shown in Tables 8 and 9, respectively.

5.3 Plasma measurements of proinflammatory cytokines and neutrophil activation markers

5.3.1 Interleukins 6 and 8 (II–III)

Sepsis patients had higher plasma IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations than the healthy controls (III; Figure 10). At 0 h and 24 h from ICU admission, patients with septic AKI had higher IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations than those without (II; Table 11). Plasma IL-6 and IL-8 at 0 h and 24 h, stratified by AKI severity, are shown in Figure 11 (II). The AUROCs of IL-6 and IL-8 for septic AKI were 0.644 (95% CI 0.562–0.725) and 0.710 (95% CI 0.634–0.785), respectively. Using "severe" (KDIGO 2–3) AKI as an outcome did not improve the AUROCs (II).

Those sepsis patients with admission plasma samples drawn >1 h before developing their first OD (indicating an early disease phase) had lower IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations than those whose sample was obtained simultaneously with the first OD emergence (\pm 1 h), and patients with sample taken >1 h after the first OD (indicating a late disease phase) had the highest IL-6 and IL-8 levels (III, Figure 10). Both IL-6 and IL-8 levels dropped significantly during the first 24 h following the onset of the first OD (III, Figure 12).

Before Study II, we conducted a pilot study of 32 severe sepsis patients with OD onset \leq 36 h before ICU admission. In this unpublished pilot cohort, plasma IL-6 concentrations 0, 12, 24, and 48 h after admission followed a similar declining pattern (Figure 13).

5.3.2 Activin A (II)

At o h and 24 h from ICU admission, patients with septic AKI had higher activin A concentrations than those without (Table 11). The concentrations followed AKI severity: patients with KDIGO stage 3 AKI had significantly higher activin A levels than KDIGO stage 1 patients (Figure 11). The AUROC of activin A for septic AKI was 0.706 (IQR 0.630-0.782). Using "severe" (KDIGO 2-3) AKI as an outcome did not improve the AUROC (II).

5.3.3 MPO (II-III)

Sepsis patients had higher plasma MPO concentrations than the healthy controls (III, Figure 10), but admission plasma MPO concentrations did not differ significantly between patients with and without septic AKI (II, Table 11). At 24 h from ICU admission, patients with septic AKI had higher MPO concentrations than those without (II, Table 11).

Plasma MPO concentrations did not differ between those sepsis patients whose sample was taken early, before the first OD, and those with sample taken later, after the first OD (Figure 10). Compared with healthy controls, sepsis patients already had elevated MPO before OD onset, and MPO remained stably high for at least 24 h following the first OD emergence (III, Figures 10 and 12).

5.3.4 HBP (III)

Sepsis patients had higher plasma HBP concentrations than the healthy controls (III, Figure 10). Plasma HBP concentrations did not differ between those sepsis patients, whose sample was taken early, before the first OD, and those with sample taken later, after the first OD (Figure 10). Compared with healthy controls, sepsis patients already had elevated HBP before OD onset, and HBP remained stably high for at least 24 h following the first OD emergence (III, Figures 10 and 12).



Figure 10 Plasma inflammatory biomarkers a) HBP,

b) MPO,

c) IL-6, and

d) IL-8 in controls and in the three groups with different sampling times in relation to the onset of organ dysfunction (OD).

p <0.01, controls vs. "before OD"/ "at OD"/ "after OD"; * p <0.05 and ** p <0.01, among sepsis patients. Study III, figure appearing originally in Innate Immunity 2021;27(2):192-200. **Table 11** Plasma and urine biomarkers according to the presence or absence of AKI in StudyII, originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2019;63:1390-1397.Reproduced with permission from Wiley.

		All	No AKI (n=90)	AKI (n=92)	AKI vs. no AKI
Activin A (pg/ml)	Plasma O h	661 [368-1287]	469 [285-862]	845 [554-1895]	P <0.001
	Plasma 24 h	563 [389-1060]***	470 [301-827]	795 [433-1363]**	P <0.001
	Urine O h	7.1 [0.0-41.1]	4.0 [0.0-33.0]	9.7 [1.4-42.6]	P =0.064
IL-8 (pg/ml)	Plasma O h	101 [30-673]	50 [19-164]	240 [60-971]	P <0.001
	Plasma 24 h	47 [20-120]***	32 [13-74]***	79 [31–219]***	P <0.001
	Urine O h	23.5 [6.9-95.5]	9.5 [2.7–28.7]	50.4 [19.8-145.3]	P <0.001
IL-6 (pg/ml)	Plasma O h	203 [53-947]	109 [38-366]	402 [73-2148]	P =0.001
	Plasma 24 h	101 [31-278]***	52 [0-143]***	182 [67-696]***	P <0.001
	Urine O h	48.6 [20.6-80.7]	37.8 [11.4-67.2]	67.7 [28.7-147.9]	P <0.001
MPO (ng/ml)	Plasma O h	151 [100-248]	144 [88-215]	169 [111-300]	P =0.059
	Plasma 24 h	167 [110-261]*	132 [103-211]	207 [136-323]**	P <0.001
	Urine O h	3.9 [1.0-10.5]	1.9 [0.4-6.9]	7.7 [1.5-12.6]	P <0.001
B-Leukoc (E9/l)	ytes min	10.3 [5.5-15.6]	9.2 [5.4–13.5]	11.4 [6.1–16.1]	P =0.19
P-CRP ma	ix (mg/l)	163 [61-259]	122 [49-256]	173 [102-267]	P =0.11

Data are expressed as median [IQR]. Urine was available in 118 patients. Minimum leukocyte count and maximum P-CRP values \leq 24 h prior to ICU admission were available in 160 and 172 patients, respectively.

*p <0.05; **p <0.01; ***p <0.001, 24 vs. 0 h.

AKI, acute kidney injury; ICU, intensive care unit; IL-8, interleukin 8; IL-6, interleukin 6; IQR, interquartile range; MPO, myeloperoxidase; P-CRP, plasma C-reactive protein





Figure 11 Plasma activin A, IL-8, IL-6, and MPO upon ICU admission (0 h) and 24 h thereafter (24 h) in Study II patients without AKI (white bars), and with KDIGO stage 1 (the lightest gray bars), stage 2 (gray bars), and stage 3 AKI (the darkest gray bars).

* p <0.01 and ** p <0.005, 0 h vs. 24 h in the Mann-Whitney test with the Bonferroni corrected significance level of p <0.0125;

p <0.05 and ## p <0.01, KDIGO stage 1 vs. KDIGO stage 3 in the Kruskal-Wallis test with pairwise comparison as the post hoc test.

Figure originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2019;63:1390-1397. Reproduced with permission from Wiley.





Results



Figure 12 Plasma inflammatory biomarkers a) HBP, b) MPO, c) IL-6, and d) IL-8 in Study III subgroup of patients with onset of organ dysfunction ±1 h from intensive care unit admission, at 0 h (admission) and 24 h later (24 h; n =74), appearing originally in Innate Immunity 2021;27(2):192-200.

*** p <0.001, 0 h vs. 24 h



c) 6000 5500 X IL-6, pg/ml 600 400 200



4000 3000 ** 500 IL-8, pg/ml 400 300 200 100 0 0 h 24 h

64

d)



Figure 13 Unpublished data from the pilot study of 32 sepsis patients, stratified by AKI status, showing a decline in plasma IL-6 during the first 48 h of ICU stay. Small circles mark outliers. Figure by the author.

5.4 Urine measurements of proinflammatory cytokines and neutrophil activation markers

5.4.1 Interleukins 6 and 8, activin A, and MPO (II)

In Study II, 118/182 severe sepsis patients had admission urine samples available for measurements. The groups with and without urine samples did not differ regarding comorbidities and disease severity, but those without urine samples were slightly younger: 59 (IQR 47.25–67.75) vs 63 (IQR 55–73) years; p<0.05. Urine IL-6, IL-8 and activin A correlated only weakly with the corresponding plasma measurements (r=0.335–0.415; all p <0.01), while urine and plasma MPO did not correlate at all. AKI patients had higher urine IL-6, IL-8 and MPO concentrations than those without AKI, but activin A did not differ between these groups (Table 11). There was a positive correlation between urine IL-8 and urine MPO (r=0.627, p<0.001). Of the four measured biomarkers, only IL-8 concentrations increased with AKI severity, being significantly higher in KDIGO stage 3 patients than in KDIGO 1 patients (Figure 14). The AUROCs of IL-6, IL-8 and MPO for AKI were moderate and comparable to the AUROCs of the corresponding plasma measurements.



Figure 14 Urine inflammatory biomarkers a) activin A, b) IL-8, c) IL-6, and d) MPO upon admission to intensive care in Study II patients without AKI (white bars), with KDIGO stage 1 AKI (the lightest gray bars), stage

AKI (the darkest gray bars). ## p <0.01, KDIGO stage 1 vs. stage 3 AKI in the Kruskal-Wallis test with pairwise comparison as the post hoc test. Urine was available in 118/182 sepsis patients.

2 AKI (gray bars), and stage 3

Figure originally from Törnblom et al. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2019;63:1390-1397. Reproduced with permission from Wiley.





5.4.2 Usefulness of uNGAL to predict AKI, RRT, and 90-day mortality in sepsis (IV)

Table 12 shows the associations of variables available at the time of ICU admission with the four studied outcomes (AKI, "severe" AKI, RRT, and 90-day mortality). Variables with the strongest associations, marked with asterisks, were entered in the multivariable logistic regression analyses to construct the clinical risk models. The AUROCs for uNGAL alone to predict the four studied outcomes-AKI, "severe" (KDIGO stage 2-3) AKI, RRT, and death-were 0.690 (95% CI 0.647-0.731), 0.728 (95% CI 0.686-0.767), 0.769 (95% CI 0.729-0.806), and 0.600 (95% CI 0.555-0.644), respectively. The corresponding AUROCs for the clinical risk models were between 0.717 and 0.797, shown with 95% CIs in Table 13. We found statistically significant model improvement when uNGAL was added to the clinical risk models to predict AKI, severe AKI, and RRT (Table 13, Figure 15a-c). The 90-day mortality prediction did not improve (Table 13, Figure 15d). Despite observed model improvement predicting AKI, severe AKI, and RRT, the net benefits in the range of the predefined threshold probabilities (0.3, 0.2, and 0.1, respectively; Figure 16a-c) were modest: 2.5% (95% CI 0.2-4.6%) for AKI, 1.4% (95% CI 0.4-4.1%) for severe AKI, and 1.4% (95% CI 0.1-2.8%) for RRT. The corresponding test trade-offs were 40 (AKI), 71 (severe AKI), and 74 (RRT), meaning that 40 to 74 patients would have to be tested for one extra true-positive.

Table 12 Associations of variables explored in the univariable models with outcomes in Study IV. Modified from table in Törnblom et al. Annals of Intensive Care 2020;10:51, supplementary information, with permission from SpringerOpen (Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License).

	Data	Two-sided p-values for outcomes			
available (of 484)		AKI (KDIGO 1-3, n=217)	Severe AKI (KDIGO 2-3, n=134)	RRT (n=46)	Death by day 90 (n=136)
Age	484	0.022*	0.450*	0.160*	<0.001*
Gender (male)	484	0.636*	0.180*	0.339	0.119*
Diabetes	484	0.663*	0.016	0.113*	0.204*
СКD	484	0.016*	0.023*	0.003*	0.009*
COPD	476	0.221*	0.241*	0.801	0.680
Liver disease	478	0.596*	1.000*	1.000	<0.001*
Systolic heart failure	484	0.958*	0.404	0.269	0.025*
Hypertension	484	0.605*	0.669*	0.590	0.236*
Atherosclerosis	484	0.195*	0.715*	1.000	0.294*
ACE or ARB	477	0.295*	0.783*	1.000	0.792
NSAID	466	0.279*	0.263*	0.611	0.547*
Corticosteroids	481	0.506*	0.859*	0.856	0.001*
Pre-ICU hypovolemia	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.003*	0.598
Pre-ICU diuretics	484	0.040*	0.020*	0.700	0.184*
Pre-ICU colloids	484	0.109*	0.179*	0.422	0.737
Pre-ICU hypotension	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.013*	0.007*
Nonoperative admission	484	0.776*	0.407	0.672	0.005*
Emergency surgery	482	0.769*	0.336	0.200	0.024*
SAPS II (-age and renal points)	484	0.192*	0.491*	0.466	<0.001*
Highest lactate (day 1)	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.002*	<0.001*
Acute liver failure	484	0.143*	0.008*	0.163	0.002*

Variables with smallest p-values*, restricting the number of covariates to 1 per 8 dependent endpoints, were included in multivariate logistic regression analyses with corresponding endpoints.

ACE, angiotensin convertase enzyme-inhibitor (permanent medication); ARB, angiotensin II receptor blocker (permanent medication); CKD, chronic kidney disease; colloids, starch or gelatin; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ICU, intensive care unit; NSAID, non-steroid anti-inflammatory drug (permanent medication); SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score

Table 13 Model improvement with uNGAL added to the clinical risk models for the endpoints (IV). Modified from table originally appearing in Annals of Intensive Care 2020;10:51 (SpringerOpen, Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License).

		АКІ	Severe AKI (KDIGO 2-3)	RRT	90-day mortality
Goodness of fit ^a					
	clinical risk model	0.406	0.400	0.973	0.365
	new model incl. uNGAL	0.395	0.338	0.749	0.990
Events (n)		217	134	46	136
Nonevents (n)		267	350	438	348
AUROC	uNGAL alone	0.690 (0.647-0.731)	0.728 (0.686-0.767)	0.769 (0.729-0.806)	0.600 (0.555-0.644)
	clinical risk model	0.717 (0.670-0.764)	0.759 (0.710-0.809)	0.724 (0.643-0.805)	0.797 (0.754-0.840)
	new risk model (clinical + uNGAL)	0.749 (0.704-0.794)	0.799 (0.755-0.843)	0.824 (0.761-0.886)	0.804 (0.762-0.846)
	difference, <i>p</i> (clinical vs. new model)	0.017	0.011	0.005	0.27
Category- free NRI (%)	cfNRI _{events}	1.4 (-12.0–14.8)	22.4 (6.1-38.7)	47.8 (21.9-73.7)	-4.4 (-21.1-12.2)
	cfNRI _{nonevents}	48.7 (38.3-59.1)	49.1 (40.0-58.3)	46.6 (38.5-54.6)	34.5 (24.7-44.3)
	cfNRI	50.1 (33.0-67.1)	71.5 (52.9-90.2)	94.4 (67.2-121.7)	30.1 (10.7-49.4)
IDI and summary	IDI _{events}	0.0248 (0.0099-0.0398)	0.0398 (0.0185-0.0610)	0.0615 (0.0361-0.0868)	0.0115 (-0.0003-0.0233)
statistics	IDI _{nonevents}	0.0202 (0.0092-0.0312)	0.0152 (0.0049-0.0256)	0.0065 (-0.0007-0.0136)	0.0045 (-0.0008-0.0099)
	IDI	0.0450 (0.0264-0.0637)	0.0550 (0.0317-0.0782)	0.0679 (0.0413-0.0945)	0.0160 (0.0032-0.0289)
	IS _{old}	0.5263 (0.5006-0.5519)	0.4080 (0.3711-0.4449)	0.1947 (0.1344-0.2550)	0.4509 (0.4112-0.4905)
	IS _{new}	0.5511 (0.5226-0.5796)	0.4476 (0.4083-0.4870)	0.2557 (0.1917–0.3197)	0.4623 (0.4214-0.5032)
	1P _{old}	0.3849 (0.3651-0.4048)	0.2267 (0.2111-0.2422)	0.0846 (0.0781-0.0911)	0.2146 (0.1968-0.2325)
	IP _{new}	0.3648 (0.3425-0.3871)	0.2115 (0.1937–0.2293)	0.0782 (0.0693-0.0871)	0.2102 (0.1920-0.2283)

95% confidence intervals are shown in parentheses. ^aA Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness of fit was used to test calibration of the models. "New" refers to the classification model that includes the new biomarker and "old" refers to the classification model that does not.

AKI, acute kidney injury; AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; cfNRI, category-free net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement;

 $cfNRI = cfNRI_{events} + cfNRI_{nonevents}$; IS, integrated sensitivity; IP, integrated 1-specificity;

IDI = (IS_{new} - IS_{old}) - (IP_{new} - IP_{old}); KDIGO, Kidney Dises: Improving Global Outcomes; RRT, renal replacement therapy; uNGAL, urine neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin

Results



b)



Figure 15 a-d Model enhancement in a) AKI, b) severe (KDIGO stage 2-3) AKI, c) RRT, and d) 90-day mortality presented using risk assessment plots (RAPs) for the clinical risk models (baseline model, dashed lines) and new risk models (solid lines). The gray areas between the solid and the dashed lines represent IDI_{events} (area between black lines) and IDI_{nonevents} (area between red lines). (IV)

IDI, integrated discrimination improvement. Reproduced from Törnblom et al. Annals of Intensive Care 2020;10:51, with permission from SpringerOpen (Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License).

c)



b)


Figure 16 a-d Decision curve analysis (DCA) for the clinical risk model (baseline model, dashed black line) and clinical model with urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) (new model, dashed red line) to predict a) AKI, b) severe (KDIGO stage 2–3) AKI, c) RRT, and d) 90-day mortality. Black solid line: Assume no patient has the outcome. Gray solid line: Assume all patients have the outcome. A net benefit at a certain threshold probability is present for the new model when its curve runs above the curve of the baseline model (IV). Reproduced from Törnblom et al. Annals of Intensive Care 2020;10:51, with permission from SpringerOpen (Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License).

d)

6 **DISCUSSION**

AKI is a growing burden for hospitalized patients ²²⁸, which encourages a search for better biomarkers than the traditionally used Cr. Although still included in the latest AKI definition ⁴⁵, Cr seems too late a marker to detect high-risk patients for trials with new pharmacotherapies ¹³³. Another concern is that fluid resuscitation given to ICU patients in high volumes may dilute plasma Cr concentration and further delay AKI diagnosis ⁵⁷. Even though AKI is a heterogenous syndrome ²²⁹, in intensive care patients, up to 50% of AKI is sepsis-induced ^{6,65,69,179}. To effectively prevent and treat AKI of the critically ill, understanding the mechanisms of septic AKI is therefore crucial. Undoubtedly, AKI biomarkers intended for clinical use should also be suitable for sepsis patients. The inflammatory nature of septic AKI has been revealed lately ¹⁶. Unfortunately, many proposed AKI biomarkers are involved in systemic inflammation and lack specificity for AKI ¹³².

6.1 Effect of adjusting Cr for fluid balance on AKI incidence and on 90-day mortality (I)

The hemodynamic instability of the critically ill often requires aggressive fluid resuscitation, especially during the first hours of intensive care. Even after this initial stabilization, fluid accumulation is common in septic as well as in other ICU patients ²³⁰. Fluid overload worsens prognosis ^{89,90}, and may dilute plasma Cr ⁴⁷, possibly biasing AKI incidence and staging ⁵⁷. Our retrospective analysis of 2044 ICU patients showed that the number of patients changing category in either direction after adjusting Cr was 68 (3%) when only Cr criteria were used and 43 (2%) when applying the full KDIGO criteria. Even in the highest fluid balance quartile, when Cr was used as the only criterion, less than 5% got reclassified. To summarize, adjusting Cr for fluid balance led to minimal AKI incidence differences and the influence was even smaller if the full KDIGO criteria were applied to our study population.

Previous studies have reported higher reclassification rates and delayed AKI diagnosis ^{47,58}. However, comparison is not straightforward because these studies used older and less sensitive AKI criteria and did not apply UO criteria. Additionally, in the Macedo study, the proportion of patients with pre-existing CKD was substantially higher than in ours (31% vs 7%) ⁴⁷. Most importantly, a marked decrease in median cumulative fluid balance has occurred between studies of the early 2000s, that reported positive balances of 5 to 10 liters ^{47,231},

and our study, conducted in 2011–2012. As fluid therapy protocols have evolved towards being more restrictive over the last ten years, the need for adjusting Cr for fluid balance has probably diminished.

Some scholars have argued that "unrecognized" AKI is associated with increased risk of death. Liu and colleagues analyzed data from the 1000 Fluids and Catheters Treatment trial participants and observed higher mortality (31%) among patients whose AKI was identified only after adjusting for positive fluid balance than in patients who had AKI before but not after adjustment (11%) ⁵⁸. They defined AKI by AKIN criteria without UO ⁵⁸. Our 90-day mortality results using KDIGO Cr criteria are similar, but the low number of reclassified patients warrants caution when interpreting this finding. The observed higher cumulative fluid balance, known to be associated with mortality, in those classified as having AKI only after Cr adjustment, is a possible confounding factor. When we applied the full KDIGO criteria set, with either adjusted or non-adjusted Cr, to define AKI, we did not observe mortality difference between those changing category in opposite directions (AKI—no AKI vs. no AKI—AKI). This supports the assumption that using UO criteria better detects high-risk patients than Cr alone.

6.2 Association of inflammation and neutrophil activation with septic AKI (II)

In line with earlier reports ^{18,19}, the current study demonstrated that plasma IL-6 is associated with septic AKI. As anticipated, we also detected higher IL-8 levels among sepsis patients with AKI than among those without. Furthermore, plasma activin A, a cytosolic cytokine released from activated neutrophils, was associated with septic AKI. These findings support the suggested link between systemic inflammation, neutrophil activation, and septic AKI. However, more intense inflammation in patients with more severe disease, accompanied by OD such as AKI, is not unexpected, and not proof of an actual renal pathophysiological mechanism. Beyond intravascular inflammation and neutrophil activation, we also found that concomitant urine IL-6, IL-8 and MPO concentrations were higher in sepsis patients with AKI than in those without. Urine interleukins and MPO may either derive from plasma via renal excretion, or, locally, from the kidneys. Interestingly, plasma and urine concentrations of each studied biomarker did not have strong correlations. On the contrary, MPO in urine was associated with septic AKI but in plasma was not and, vice versa, activin A in plasma was associated with septic AKI but in urine was not. A few aspects could explain this. Being located in the neutrophil cytosol, activin A can be quickly released into circulation when neutrophils get activated ^{20-22,143}, whereas activated neutrophils secrete MPO principally after they have extravasated in the tissues ²⁶. The lack of correlation of urine MPO with plasma MPO might indicate that urine MPO is not derived from plasma but from the kidney itself, possibly reflecting renal accumulation of activated neutrophils, which has already been observed in experimental AKI ^{115,116}. This theory is further supported by the observed positive correlation between neutrophil activation marker MPO and neutrophil chemoattractant IL-8 in urine. Because direct biopsy-based organ-level investigation of septic AKI mechanisms is risky for patients and not ethically acceptable, we were able to study neutrophil activation only indirectly.

6.3 Timing of the "cytokine storm" and systemic neutrophil activation in sepsis (III)

It has been previously shown that experimental endotoxemia, a model designed to mimic sepsis, elevates IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations of healthy volunteers within 1-2 h from LPS dose ^{232,233}. However, this model has been criticized for differing from clinical sepsis caused by bacterial invasion and for being unsuitable for studying septic AKI 234. We observed a sharp IL-6 and IL-8 rise in sepsis patients' plasma near the time of OD onset in a "real life" clinical setting. The concentrations peaked during the first 24 h from OD onset but also decreased rapidly. Neutrophil activation markers HBP and MPO, on the other hand, were already over two times higher in sepsis patients than in healthy controls at a median of 12 h before the first observed OD. Furthermore, we did not detect a significant decline in HBP and MPO levels during the first 24 h following OD onset-a pattern reported previously ³¹. This early and stable elevation contrasts with the short-lived peaking of IL-6 and IL-8. In other words, during the first 24 h of intensive care, sepsis patients' IL-6 and IL-8 levels varied much more than their HBP and MPO concentrations. Thus, the risk for taking a sample at a "wrong" time seems smaller for HBP and MPO. Our findings indicate that HBP and MPO might outperform IL-6 and IL-8 as biomarkers, supporting previous studies claiming that HBP could be used as a biomarker for OD and AKI 28,235, and that MPO is associated with OD and mortality among sepsis patients 30,31.

6.4 Added value of uNGAL as a biomarker for septic AKI (IV)

Our findings suggest that uNGAL alone is not superior to our clinical risk models using routine admission data for AKI prediction in sepsis. Adding uNGAL to the clinical risk models improved them slightly, yielding point estimate AUROCs of 0.749 and 0.799 for AKI and severe AKI prediction, respectively. However, looking at DCAs and test trade-offs, testing 40 to 71 patients to gain one extra true-positive is hardly worthwhile. Based on these results, we cannot recommend using uNGAL to predict septic AKI.

The present results differ from the previous meta-analysis by Zhang and colleagues, who reported an AUROC of 0.90 for uNGAL to predict septic AKI 236. In our cohort of 484 sepsis patients, AUROCs were substantially lower for both AKI and severe (KDIGO 2-3) AKI, and not better than the AUROCs of clinical risk models using the information available upon ICU admission. A possible explanation for this discrepancy is that almost two-thirds of Zhang's 1263 meta-analysis patients were from a single country, China, and 228 were from emergency departments, not ICUs ²³⁶. Of note, one of the included studies, conducted in Danish ICUs, reported AUROCs comparable to ours-possibly indicating a similar patient population, setting, and clinical practice ²³⁷. Surprisingly, the included biomarker studies presenting AUROCs do not always give the cut-offs used to constitute high- and low-risk groups, although those are obligatory to guide decision making in a clinical setting. Many biomarkers have performed well in standardized study conditions, but the clinical reality is often more complex. The varied (gradual to rapid) or even fluctuating AKI development complicates defining the optimal time for drawing the sample. The environment is far more challenging than, for instance, in cardiac ischemia presenting with chest pain that starts at an easily identifiable time point.

6.5 uNGAL as a prognostic biomarker for RRT and 90day mortality among sepsis patients (IV)

The previous FINNAKI substudy reported that uNGAL predicted RRT with an AUROC of 0.839 ³². As anticipated, selecting only sepsis patients lowered the point estimate AUROC for RRT prediction (AUROC 0.769). Again, the clinical risk model (AUROC 0.724) and uNGAL combined improved RRT prediction only modestly—not clinically meaningfully. However, the number of outcome events (RRT) was small, so these results must be interpreted with caution. When it comes to sepsis patients' 90-day mortality, according to our study, uNGAL offered no predictive support at all.

6.6 Study strengths, limitations, and methodological considerations

The main strength of our study is the prospective data collection of a large critically ill population from 17 Finnish ICUs⁴. Importantly, the cohort comprised nonselected adult patients with precise sepsis documentation, recorded ODs and AKI criteria, including UO. When we studied a patient sample from a larger study (II-III), we included consecutive patients to maintain generalizability of the results. We used the most recent AKI definition. At the time of patient enrollment, sepsis was defined using the ACCP/SCCM criteria ³⁷. In Studies III-IV, we post hoc applied the latest Sepsis-3 criteria 42. We increased the reliability of our results by assessing more than one neutrophil activation marker (II-III), and by measuring neutrophil activation markers simultaneously in plasma and in urine (II). Additionally, we conducted a separate pilot study with plasma and urine samples from 32 sepsis patients to calculate sample size. At all times, the researchers performing the analyses were blinded to clinical data. All studies (I-IV) were researcher-driven without any economical or other conflicts of interests. Three out of four studies (I, III-IV) were published in an open access format to advance open science principles.

In Study IV, we conducted a thorough statistical analysis with novel statistical tools to assess the clinical usefulness of uNGAL for prediction of AKI, RRT, and 90-day mortality. We extended uNGAL assessment beyond the c-statistics commonly used in AKI biomarker literature (IV). The novel DCA, for example, enables risk model comparison, providing the net benefit of the new model compared to the old one at the chosen threshold probability ^{166,167}. A threshold probability weighs the false positives against the false negatives, an essential issue to be solved before implementing a new biomarker. Indeed, the evaluation of a biomarker's clinical usefulness involves numerous steps, and choosing appropriate statistical methods is mandatory ¹⁶⁸.

Some study limitations must be addressed. First, these studies were *post hoc* analyses of the FINNAKI study or its substudies. Although the required sample size was calculated whenever possible, we could not influence the patient number in all the groups. Second, despite prompt plasma and urine sample collection upon ICU admission, a considerable number of patients already fulfilled AKI criteria at sampling time. This is a common problem in AKI biomarker studies and compromises calculations of the biomarkers' predictive values. Third, OD, UO, and fluid balance records may have been incomplete preceding ICU admission and study enrollment. Furthermore, up to one-third of the patients in our studies did not have baseline Cr measured, and we had to use back-calculation with the MDRD formula. AKI incidence was lower among these patients than among those having baseline Cr. Thus, by using

estimated baseline Cr values, we probably missed some AKI cases. This, also, is a universal drawback of AKI biomarker studies. Using the more sensitive CKD-EPI formula might have changed the picture. Fourth, we did not have daily patient weight data to assess fluid balance (I). Fifth, we did not normalize urine biomarker levels for urine Cr ²³⁸. Sixth, considering Study II, the maximum SOFA score without the renal component was associated with AKI and thus plasma biomarker levels may have mirrored disease severity rather than AKI. Seventh, no major changes in ICU treatment protocols took place during the 6-month study enrollment period, but since then, the potential harms of excessive fluid loading have raised concern. This awareness has changed fluid therapy practices, which might have influenced Study I results had it been conducted today. Still, more restrictive fluid management protocols would probably further underline our results. Finally, the study participants were Caucasians from a high-income state with a public healthcare system. Applying the results to more ethnically diverse or otherwise different populations and health care systems must be done with caution.

Some of the definitions we applied have evolved since the planning of the FINNAKI study from which our data derived. Differences between AKIN and KDIGO AKI criteria are minor. The Sepsis-3 definition, on the other hand, is somewhat more sensitive than its predecessor ⁴², and, importantly, its clear OD definition is simpler for the clinician than the vague ACCP/SCCM criteria. We applied the Sepsis-3 criteria *post hoc* and found that nearly all the patients included using the former ACCP/SCCM sepsis criteria ³⁷ fulfilled the Sepsis-3 criteria as well (III–IV). However, we do not know how many FINNAKI study participants not fulfilling the former criteria would have been included in our studies had the Sepsis-3 criteria been applied in the first place. We may have lost some patients from the less severe end of the sepsis syndrome.

Regarding fluid balance assessment (I), daily weighing should probably have been included in the CRF when planning the original study despite resources and equipment in ICUs varying. Fluid input and output calculations are only a rough estimate of the actual fluid balance. No consensus protocols for commencing RRT in the ICU exist, so the decision to start the treatment was made by the clinician. The reasons for these decisions were not recorded, only decisions to restrict care were. The fact that RRT indications and practices vary substantially in ICUs around the world must be considered when appraising biomarker studies and their generalizability.

Most importantly, we analyzed data from a prospective cohort study. The observational nature of the data and retrospectively designed substudies carry well-known limitations. An association does not equal causation. Even in the studies with reasonably large sample size, 484 (IV) to 2044 (I) patients, some outcome events were too rare and subgroups too small to draw conclusions.

6.7 Clinical implications and future aspects

Studying a large, non-selected ICU cohort, we demonstrated the futileness of adjusting Cr for fluid balance to diagnose AKI. Instead, we recommend applying the full KDIGO criteria, including UO, in clinical practice as well as in future trials. The current KDIGO AKI definition has been explicitly criticized for including Cr, a late marker of kidney function, not injury ²³⁹. Definition weaknesses inevitably hamper AKI biomarker studies, and revision of the criteria is an important future target.

The present results support the experimentally observed inflammatory mechanisms of septic AKI. Besides the association of systemic inflammation with AKI, we found that high urine MPO, which could not be explained by plasma levels alone, was associated with septic AKI. This could indicate renal neutrophil infiltration and activation—similarly as seen in previous animal studies. Still, further studies are needed to confirm our results.

Understanding the kinetics of a biomarker is mandatory before its clinical implementation ¹³³. Our findings demonstrate that even small differences in sampling timing, in relation to the phase of sepsis, markedly influence the measured interleukin levels. Contrasting the rapid peaking and descending of IL-6 and IL-8 around OD onset, plasma HBP and MPO increased earlier and stayed elevated longer, making them more suitable for use as sepsis biomarkers. As another clinical implication, it has been suggested that heparin, an anticoagulant reducing HBP-mediated endothelial leak in an experimental setting ²⁷, should be investigated in sepsis. The versatile anti-inflammatory properties of heparin have been in focus lately: low-molecular-weight heparin apparently benefits COVID-19 patients not only by anticoagulation but also by reducing IL-6 release and biological activity ²⁴⁰. According to our findings on HBP kinetics, a sepsis treatment trial studying heparin should begin as soon as the patient enters the hospital. To achieve early diagnosis, pre-hospital alertness for sepsis symptoms is required and should be advanced with repeated campaigns for health care professionals as well as the general public.

Without effective prophylaxis and curative treatment for septic AKI, the present strategy has been early recognition of the impending OD and avoiding additional predisposing factors, as much as possible. Prognostication, that is, detecting AKI worsening or predicting the need for RRT has also raised interest. A better understanding of AKI progression could help in optimally directing limited critical care resources. The ongoing AKI biomarker search has not declared an indisputable winner, "renal troponin", yet, but laboratory tests for some candidates are commercially available ^{241,242}. Conditional recommendations for the use of damage biomarkers together with clinical assessment and functional markers have been published ⁶⁴, but as clinicians,

we are still far away from knowing how, when, and which biomarker(s) to use, or not use, in varying clinical situations ²⁴³. Sepsis is a particular problem as inflammation is a confounding factor for many proposed AKI biomarkers ¹⁹³, including NGAL. We scrutinized the added value of uNGAL as a predictive marker for AKI, RRT and 90-day mortality in sepsis patients. Our results indicate that uNGAL, although used in some countries, unfortunately does not have much incremental value for these purposes. Because clear biomarker cut-offs are difficult to define for the heterogenous ICU patient population, it has been proposed that serial measurements showing trends could improve the care of an individual patient. So far, no clinical randomized trial demonstrates the benefit of biomarkers to prevent clinically important adverse outcomes. A major obstacle to such septic AKI trials in the ICU is that, according to our data, many sepsis patients already present with AKI upon ICU admission—too late to be prevented by the intensivist.

Although statistically reasonable, collecting large representative sepsis cohorts for researcher-driven purposes may not be economically feasible. The recent COVID-19 pandemic may have a silver lining as the research burst on inflammatory mechanisms and immunomodulatory therapies may benefit sepsis patients as well. At least we can learn from the global, pragmatic, constantly evolving COVID-19 treatment trials how large cohorts can be collected with worldwide co-operation. Besides trials, we should improve automated data collection and utilization of electronic medical records and artificial intelligence. Additionally, increasing the use of databases created for quality improvement, benchmarking, and other applicable purposes is important. Based on these comprehensive albeit slightly lower quality data, randomized controlled trials could be targeted wisely.

Proteomics will probably help identify potential players involved in sepsis and AKI, but few candidates pass the cumbersome route to clinical usefulness. One reason for the slower than expected progress in septic AKI management might be the surprisingly scarce basic research on the subject. A review by Nakano revealed recently that only 1% of all AKI literature are basic science papers on septic AKI ²⁴⁴. We should humbly head back towards the physiological grounds of renal dysfunction and recovery; not desperately seek biomarkers before understanding the mechanisms of septic AKI. The emerging evidence on neutrophil activation in septic kidneys requires further studies, preferably also at organ level. New technologies enabling leaping from cell cultures toward complete laboratory-grown organs create exciting visions for future research on the tissue-level mechanisms of septic OD.

7 CONCLUSIONS

Based on these studies, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- 1. Adjusting Cr for cumulative fluid balance in ICU patients did not change AKI incidence clinically meaningfully. We found no difference in 90-day mortality between patients reclassified in either direction when using the full set of KDIGO criteria with or without Cr adjustment.
- 2. Proinflammatory cytokines in plasma and urine were higher in patients with septic AKI compared to those without. Concomitant plasma and urine MPO measurements suggest renal neutrophil accumulation and activation. Neutrophil activation in plasma and urine was associated with septic AKI.
- 3. In evolving sepsis, intravascular neutrophil activation already occurred before the first observed OD and lasted longer than the initial proinflammatory cytokine peak.
- 4. Analyzing critically ill sepsis patients with novel statistical instruments, uNGAL did not add value to routine clinical and laboratory evaluation in prediction of AKI, RRT or 90-day mortality.

8 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Rewa O, Bagshaw SM. Acute kidney injury-epidemiology, outcomes and economics. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2014;10(4):193-207.
- 2. Hsu RK, McCulloch CE, Dudley RA, Lo LJ, Hsu C-y. Temporal Changes in Incidence of Dialysis-Requiring AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2012;24(1):37-42.
- 3. Nash K, Hafeez A, Hou S. Hospital-acquired renal insufficiency. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*. 2002;39(5):930-936.
- 4. Nisula S, Kaukonen K-M, Vaara ST, Korhonen A-M, Poukkanen M, Karlsson S, Haapio M, Inkinen O, Parviainen I, Suojaranta-Ylinen R, Laurila JJ, Tenhunen J, Reinikainen M, Ala-Kokko T, Ruokonen E, Kuitunen A, Pettilä V. Incidence, risk factors and 90-day mortality of patients with acute kidney injury in Finnish intensive care units: the FINNAKI study. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2013;39(3):420-428.
- Srisawat N, Sileanu FE, Murugan R, Bellomo R, Calzavacca P, Cartin-Ceba R, Cruz D, Finn J, Hoste EA, Kashani K, Ronco C, Webb S, Kellum JA. Variation in Risk and Mortality of Acute Kidney Injury in Critically Ill Patients: A Multicenter Study. *American Journal of Nephrology*. 2015;41(1):81-88.
- 6. Uchino S, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Doig GS, Morimatsu H, Morgera S, Schetz M, Tan I, Bouman C, Macedo E, Gibney N, Tolwani A, Ronco C. Acute renal failure in critically ill patients: a multinational, multicenter study. *JAMA*. 2005;294.
- 7. Coca SG, Singanamala S, Parikh CR. Chronic kidney disease after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney Int.* 2012;81(5):442-448.
- Ferenbach DA, Bonventre JV. Mechanisms of maladaptive repair after AKI leading to accelerated kidney ageing and CKD. *Nature reviews. Nephrology*. 2015;11(5):264-276.
- 9. Schrier RW, Wang W. Acute renal failure and sepsis. N Engl J Med. 2004;351.
- 10. Lerolle N, Nochy D, Guérot E, Bruneval P, Fagon J-Y, Diehl J-L, Hill G. Histopathology of septic shock induced acute kidney injury: apoptosis and leukocytic infiltration. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2010;36(3):471-478.
- Takasu O, Gaut JP, Watanabe E, To K, Fagley RE, Sato B, Jarman S, Efimov IR, Janks DL, Srivastava A, Bhayani SB, Drewry A, Swanson PE, Hotchkiss RS. Mechanisms of Cardiac and Renal Dysfunction in Patients Dying of Sepsis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2013;187(5):509-517.
- 12. Prowle JR, Ishikawa K, May CN, Bellomo R. Renal Blood Flow during Acute Renal Failure in Man. *Blood Purification*. 2009;28(3):216-225.
- 13. Murugan R, Karajala-Subramanyam V, Lee M, Yende S, Kong L, Carter M, Angus DC, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury in non-severe pneumonia is associated with an increased immune response and lower survival. *Kidney Int.* 2010;77.
- 14. Cunningham PN, Dyanov HM, Park P, Wang J, Newell KA, Quigg RJ. Acute Renal Failure in Endotoxemia Is Caused by TNF Acting Directly on TNF Receptor-1 in Kidney. *The Journal of Immunology.* 2002;168(11):5817-5823.

- 15. Herter JM, Rossaint J, Spieker T, Zarbock A. Adhesion Molecules Involved in Neutrophil Recruitment during Sepsis-Induced Acute Kidney Injury. *Journal of Innate Immunity*. 2014;6(5):597-606.
- 16. Gomez H, Ince C, De Backer D, Pickkers P, Payen D, Hotchkiss J, Kellum JA. A Unified Theory of Sepsis-Induced Acute Kidney Injury: Inflammation, microcirculatory dysfunction, bioenergetics and the tubular cell adaptation to injury. *Shock*. 2014;41(1):3-11.
- 17. Angus DC, van der Poll T. Severe sepsis and septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;369(9):840-851.
- 18. Chawla LS, Seneff MG, Nelson DR, Williams M, Levy H, Kimmel PL, Macias WL. Elevated plasma concentrations of IL-6 and elevated APACHE II score predict acute kidney injury in patients with severe sepsis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2007;2(1):22-30.
- 19. Payen D, Lukaszewicz AC, Legrand M, Gayat E, Faivre V, Megarbane B, Azoulay E, Fieux F, Charron D, Loiseau P, Busson M. A multicentre study of acute kidney injury in severe sepsis and septic shock: association with inflammatory phenotype and HLA genotype. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(6):e35838.
- 20. Sideras P, Apostolou E, Stavropoulos A, Sountoulidis A, Gavriil A, Apostolidou A, Andreakos E. Activin, neutrophils, and inflammation: just coincidence? *Seminars in Immunopathology*. 2013;35(4):481-499.
- 21. Chen Y, Wu H, Winnall WR, Loveland KL, Makanji Y, Phillips DJ, Smith JA, Hedger MP. Tumour necrosis factor-α stimulates human neutrophils to release preformed activin A. *Immunology & Cell Biology*. 2011;89(8):889-896.
- 22. Wu H, Chen Y, Winnall WR, Phillips DJ, Hedger MP. Acute regulation of activin A and its binding protein, follistatin, in serum and tissues following lipopolysaccharide treatment of adult male mice. *American Journal of Physiology*. *Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*. 2012;303(6):R665-R675.
- 23. Jones KL, Brauman JN, Groome NP, de Kretser DM, Phillips DJ. Activin A Release into the Circulation Is an Early Event in Systemic Inflammation and Precedes the Release of Follistatin. *Endocrinology*. 2000;141(5):1905-1908.
- 24. Jones KL, de Kretser DM, Clarke IJ, Scheerlinck JP, Phillips DJ. Characterisation of the rapid release of activin A following acute lipopolysaccharide challenge in the ewe. *J Endocrinol.* 2004;182(1):69-80.
- 25. Lee JK, Choi SM, Lee J, Park YS, Lee CH, Yim JJ, Yoo CG, Kim YW, Han SK, Lee SM. Serum activin-A as a predictive and prognostic marker in critically ill patients with sepsis. *Respirology*. 2016;21(5):891-897.
- 26. Tapper H, Karlsson A, Mörgelin M, Flodgaard H, Herwald H. Secretion of heparin-binding protein from human neutrophils is determined by its localization in azurophilic granules and secretory vesicles. *Blood.* 2002;99(5):1785-1793.
- 27. Fisher J, Russell JA, Bentzer P, Parsons D, Secchia S, Mörgelin M, Walley KR, Boyd JH, Linder A. Heparin-Binding Protein (HBP): A Causative Marker and Potential Target for Heparin Treatment of Human Sepsis-Induced Acute Kidney Injury. *Shock.* 2017;48(3):313-320.
- 28. Tverring J, Vaara ST, Fisher J, Poukkanen M, Pettilä V, Linder A, Group FS. Heparin-binding protein (HBP) improves prediction of sepsis-related acute kidney injury. *Ann Intensive Care*. 2017;7(1):105-105.

- 29. Linder A, Arnold R, Boyd JH, Zindovic M, Zindovic I, Lange A, Paulsson M, Nyberg P, Russell JA, Pritchard D, Christensson B, Åkesson P. Heparin-Binding Protein Measurement Improves the Prediction of Severe Infection With Organ Dysfunction in the Emergency Department. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2015;43(11):2378-2386.
- 30. Maruchi Y, Tsuda M, Mori H, Takenaka N, Gocho T, Huq MA, Takeyama N. Plasma myeloperoxidase-conjugated DNA level predicts outcomes and organ dysfunction in patients with septic shock. *Critical Care*. 2018;22(1):176.
- 31. Bonaventura A, Carbone F, Vecchié A, Meessen J, Ferraris S, Beck E, Keim R, Minetti S, Elia E, Ferrara D, Ansaldo AM, Novelli D, Caironi P, Latini R, Montecucco F. The role of resistin and myeloperoxidase in severe sepsis and septic shock: Results from the ALBIOS trial. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2020;50(10):e13333.
- 32. Nisula S, Yang R, Kaukonen K-M, Vaara ST, Kuitunen A, Tenhunen J, Pettila V, Korhonen A-M. The Urine Protein NGAL Predicts Renal Replacement Therapy, but Not Acute Kidney Injury or 90-Day Mortality in Critically III Adult Patients. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*. 2014;119(1):95-102.
- Nisula S, Yang R, Poukkanen M, Vaara ST, Kaukonen KM, Tallgren M, Haapio M, 33. Tenhunen J, Korhonen AM, Pettilä V, Laru-Sompa R, Pulkkinen A, Saarelainen M, Reilama M, Tolmunen S, Rantalainen U, Miettinen M, Suvela M, Pesola K, Saastamoinen P, Kauppinen S, Pettilä V, Kaukonen K-M, Korhonen A-M, Nisula S, Vaara S, Suojaranta-Ylinen R, Mildh L, Haapio M, Nurminen L, Sutinen S, Pettilä L, Laitinen H, Syrjä H, Henttonen K, Lappi E, Boman H, Varpula T, Porkka P, Mira Rahkonen MS, Tsurkka A, Nieminen T, Prittinen N, Alaspää A, Salanto V, Juntunen H, Sanisalo T, Parviainen I, Uusaro A, Ruokonen E, Bendel S, Rissanen N, Lång M, Rahikainen S, Rissanen S, Ahonen M, Halonen E, Vaskelainen E, Poukkanen M, Lintula E, Suominen S, Heikkinen J, Lavander T, Heinonen K, Juopperi A-M, Kaminski T, Gäddnäs F, Kuusela T, Roiko J, Karlsson S, Reinikainen M, Surakka T, Jyrkönen H, Eiserbeck T, Kallinen J, Lund V, Tuominen P, Perkola P, Tuominen R, Hietaranta M, Johansson S, Hovilehto S, Kirsi A, Tiainen P, Myllärinen T, Leino P, Toropainen A, Kuitunen A, Leppänen I, Levoranta M, Hoppu S, Sauranen J, Tenhunen J, Kukkurainen A, Kortelainen S, Varila S, Inkinen O, Koivuviita N, Kotamäki J, Laine A, Ala-Kokko T, Laurila J, Sälkiö S, Koivisto S-P, Hautamäki R, Skinnar M. Predictive value of urine interleukin-18 in the evolution and outcome of acute kidney injury in critically ill adult patients. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2015;114(3):460-468.
- 34. Dai X, Zeng Z, Fu C, Zhang Sa, Cai Y, Chen Z. Diagnostic value of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, cystatin C, and soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 in critically ill patients with sepsis-associated acute kidney injury. *Critical care*. 2015;19(1):223-223.
- 35. Honore PM, Nguyen HB, Gong M, Chawla LS, Bagshaw SM, Artigas A, Shi J, Joannes-Boyau O, Vincent J-L, Kellum JA, Sapphire, Topaz I. Urinary Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase-2 and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-Binding Protein 7 for Risk Stratification of Acute Kidney Injury in Patients With Sepsis. *Critical care medicine*. 2016;44(10):1851-1860.
- 36. Vincent JL, Marshall JC, Namendys-Silva SA, François B, Martin-Loeches I, Lipman J, Reinhart K, Antonelli M, Pickkers P, Njimi H, Jimenez E, Sakr Y. Assessment of the worldwide burden of critical illness: the intensive care over nations (ICON) audit. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2014;2(5):380-386.

- 37. Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, Schein R, Sibbald WJ. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. *Chest Journal*. 1992;101(6):1644-1655.
- 38. Vincent JL, Moreno R, Takala J, Willatts S, De Mendonça A, Bruining H, Reinhart CK, Suter PM, Thijs LG. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 1996;22(7):707-710.
- Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, Cohen J, Opal SM, Vincent J-L, Ramsay G. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2003;29(4):530-538.
- 40. Kaukonen K-M, Bailey M, Pilcher D, Cooper DJ, Bellomo R. Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome Criteria in Defining Severe Sepsis. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2015;372(17):1629-1638.
- 41. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour C, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (sepsis-3). *JAMA*. 2016;315(8):801-810.
- 42. Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, Brunkhorst FM, Rea TD, Scherag A, Rubenfeld G, Kahn JM, Shankar-Hari M, Singer M, Deutschman CS, Escobar GJ, Angus DC. Assessment of Clinical Criteria for Sepsis: For the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):762-774.
- 43. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, the Aw. Acute renal failure – definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Critical Care*. 2004;8(4):R204-R212.
- 44. Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock D, Levin A. Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. *Crit Care*. 2007;11.
- 45. National Guideline C. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. *Kidney International Supplements* 2012; http://www.guideline.gov/content. aspx?id=38024. Accessed 1/28/2016.
- 46. A S Levey, R D Perrone a, Madias NE. Serum Creatinine and Renal Function. Annual Review of Medicine. 1988;39(1):465-490.
- 47. Macedo E, Bouchard J, Soroko SH, Chertow GM, Himmelfarb J, Ikizler TA, Paganini EP, Mehta RL, Program to Improve Care in Acute Renal Disease S. Fluid accumulation, recognition and staging of acute kidney injury in criticallyill patients. *Critical care*. 2010;14(3):R82-R82.
- 48. Jones CA, McQuillan GM, Kusek JW, Eberhardt MS, Herman WH, Coresh J, Salive M, Jones CP, Agodoa LY. Serum creatinine levels in the US population: third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 1998;32(6):992-999.
- 49. Filler G, Bökenkamp A, Hofmann W, Le Bricon T, Martínez-Brú C, Grubb A. Cystatin C as a marker of GFR—history, indications, and future research. *Clinical biochemistry*. 2005;38(1):1-8.
- 50. Tangri N, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang Y, Beck GJ, Greene T, Coresh J, Levey AS. Changes in dietary protein intake has no effect on serum cystatin C levels independent of the glomerular filtration rate. *Kidney International*. 2011;79(4):471-477.

- 51. Shlipak MG, Praught ML, Sarnak MJ. Update on cystatin C: new insights into the importance of mild kidney dysfunction. *Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension*. 2006;15(3):270-275.
- 52. Levey AS, Coresh J, Balk E, et al. National kidney foundation practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: Evaluation, classification, and stratification. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2003;139(2):137-147.
- 53. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang Y, Castro AF, Feldman HI, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Greene T, Coresh J. A New Equation to Estimate Glomerular Filtration Rate. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2009;150(9):604-612.
- 54. Levey AS, Stevens LA. Estimating GFR using the CKD Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) creatinine equation: more accurate GFR estimates, lower CKD prevalence estimates, and better risk predictions. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2010;55(4):622-627.
- 55. Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, Kusek JW, Manzi J, Van Lente F, Zhang YL, Coresh J, Levey AS. Estimating Glomerular Filtration Rate from Serum Creatinine and Cystatin C. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2012;367(1):20-29.
- 56. Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Ronco C. Does this patient have acute kidney injury? An AKI checklist. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2016;42(1):96-99.
- 57. Pickering JW, Ralib AM, Endre ZH. Combining creatinine and volume kinetics identifies missed cases of acute kidney injury following cardiac arrest. *Critical care*. 2013;17(1):R7-R7.
- 58. Liu KD, Thompson BT, Ancukiewicz M, Steingrub JS, Douglas IS, Matthay MA, Wright P, Peterson MW, Rock P, Hyzy RC, Anzueto A, Truwit JD, National Institutes of Health National Heart L, Blood Institute Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome N. Acute kidney injury in patients with acute lung injury: impact of fluid accumulation on classification of acute kidney injury and associated outcomes. *Critical care medicine*. 2011;39(12):2665-2671.
- 59. Myles P, Bellomo R, Corcoran T, Forbes A, Wallace S, Peyton P, Christophi C, Story D, Leslie K, Serpell J, McGuinness S, Parke R. Restrictive versus liberal fluid therapy in major abdominal surgery (RELIEF): rationale and design for a multicentre randomised trial. *BMJ open.* 2017;7(3):e015358.
- 60. Prowle JR, Leitch A, Kirwan CJ, Forni LG. Positive fluid balance and AKI diagnosis: assessing the extent and duration of 'creatinine dilution'. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2015;41(1):160-161.
- 61. Bagshaw SM, Bennett M, Devarajan P, Bellomo R. Urine biochemistry in septic and non-septic acute kidney injury: a prospective observational study. *Journal of critical care.* 2013;28(4):371-378.
- 62. Endre ZH, Pickering JW. Acute kidney injury: cell cycle arrest biomarkers win race for AKI diagnosis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2014;10(12):683-685.
- 63. Vanmassenhove J, Vanholder R, Nagler E, Van Biesen W. Urinary and serum biomarkers for the diagnosis of acute kidney injury: an in-depth review of the literature. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2013;28(2):254-273.
- 64. Ostermann M, Zarbock A, Goldstein S, Kashani K, Macedo E, Murugan R, Bell M, Forni L, Guzzi L, Joannidis M, Kane-Gill SL, Legrand M, Mehta R, Murray PT, Pickkers P, Plebani M, Prowle J, Ricci Z, Rimmelé T, Rosner M, Shaw AD, Kellum JA, Ronco C. Recommendations on Acute Kidney Injury Biomarkers From the Acute Disease Quality Initiative Consensus Conference: A Consensus Statement. *JAMA Network Open.* 2020;3(10):e2019209-e2019209.

- 65. Hoste EAJ, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R, Cely CM, Colman R, Cruz DN, Edipidis K, Forni LG, Gomersall CD, Govil D, Honoré PM, Joannes-Boyau O, Joannidis M, Korhonen A-M, Lavrentieva A, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, Roessler E, Ronco C, Uchino S, Vazquez JA, Vidal Andrade E, Webb S, Kellum JA. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: the multinational AKI-EPI study. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2015;41(8):1411-1423.
- 66. Finfer S, Bellomo R, Lipman J, French C, Dobb G, Myburgh J. Adult-population incidence of severe sepsis in Australian and New Zealand intensive care units. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2004;30(4):589-596.
- 67. Suarez De La Rica A, Gilsanz F, Maseda E. Epidemiologic trends of sepsis in western countries. *Annals of Translational Medicine*. 2016;4(17):325.
- 68. Karlsson S, Varpula M, Ruokonen E, Pettilä V, Parviainen I, Ala-Kokko TI, Kolho E, Rintala EM. Incidence, treatment, and outcome of severe sepsis in ICU-treated adults in Finland: the Finnsepsis study. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2007;33(3):435-443.
- 69. Poukkanen M, Vaara ST, PettilÄ V, Kaukonen KM, Korhonen AM, Hovilehto S, Inkinen O, Laru-Sompa R, Kaminski T, Reinikainen M, Lund V, Karlsson S, group Fs. Acute kidney injury in patients with severe sepsis in Finnish Intensive Care Units. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*. 2013;57(7):863-872.
- 70. Angus D. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: Analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. *Crit Care Med.* 2001.
- 71. Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, Colombara DV, Ikuta KS, Kissoon N, Finfer S, Fleischmann-Struzek C, Machado FR, Reinhart KK, Rowan K, Seymour CW, Watson RS, West TE, Marinho F, Hay SI, Lozano R, Lopez AD, Angus DC, Murray CJL, Naghavi M. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet*. 2020;395(10219):200-211.
- 72. Fleischmann C, Scherag A, Adhikari NK, Hartog CS, Tsaganos T, Schlattmann P, Angus DC, Reinhart K. Assessment of Global Incidence and Mortality of Hospital-treated Sepsis. Current Estimates and Limitations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2016;193(3):259-272.
- 73. Gordon AC, Mason AJ, Thirunavukkarasu N, et al. Effect of early vasopressin vs norepinephrine on kidney failure in patients with septic shock: The vanish randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. 2016;316(5):509-518.
- 74. Poston JT, Koyner JL. Sepsis associated acute kidney injury. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.).* 2019;364:k4891-k4891.
- 75. Vilander LM, Kaunisto MA, Pettilä V. Genetic predisposition to acute kidney injury--a systematic review. *BMC nephrology*. 2015;16:197-197.
- 76. Stuber F, Petersen M, Bokelmann F, Schade U. A genomic polymorphism within the tumor necrosis factor locus influences plasma tumor necrosis factor-alpha concentrations and outcome of patients with severe sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 1996;24(3):381-384.
- 77. Cardinal-Fernandez P, Ferruelo A, El-Assar M, Santiago C, Gomez-Gallego F, Martin-Pellicer A, Frutos-Vivar F, Penuelas O, Nin N, Esteban A, Lorente JA. Genetic predisposition to acute kidney injury induced by severe sepsis. *J Crit Care*. 2013;28(4):365-370.

- Perianayagam MC, Tighiouart H, Liangos O, Kouznetsov D, Wald R, Rao F, O'Connor DT, Jaber BL. Polymorphisms in the myeloperoxidase gene locus are associated with acute kidney injury-related outcomes. *Kidney international*. 2012;82(8):909-919.
- 79. Dalboni MA, Quinto BMR, Grabulosa CC, Narciso R, Monte JC, Durão M, Jr., Rizzo L, Cendoroglo M, Santos OP, Batista MC. Tumour necrosis factor-α plus interleukin-10 low producer phenotype predicts acute kidney injury and death in intensive care unit patients. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 2013;173(2):242-249.
- 80. Scicluna BP, van Vught LA, Zwinderman AH, Wiewel MA, Davenport EE, Burnham KL, Nürnberg P, Schultz MJ, Horn J, Cremer OL, Bonten MJ, Hinds CJ, Wong HR, Knight JC, van der Poll T, de Beer FM, Bos LDJ, Frencken JF, Koster-Brouwer ME, van de Groep K, Verboom DM, Glas GJ, van Hooijdonk RTM, Hoogendijk AJ, Huson MA, Klouwenberg PMK, Ong DSY, Schouten LRA, Straat M, Witteveen E, Wieske L. Classification of patients with sepsis according to blood genomic endotype: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*. 2017;5(10):816-826.
- 81. Seymour CW, Kennedy JN, Wang S, Chang C-CH, Elliott CF, Xu Z, Berry S, Clermont G, Cooper G, Gomez H, Huang DT, Kellum JA, Mi Q, Opal SM, Talisa V, van der Poll T, Visweswaran S, Vodovotz Y, Weiss JC, Yealy DM, Yende S, Angus DC. Derivation, Validation, and Potential Treatment Implications of Novel Clinical Phenotypes for Sepsis. *JAMA*. 2019;321(20):2003-2017.
- 82. Davenport EE, Burnham KL, Radhakrishnan J, Humburg P, Hutton P, Mills TC, Rautanen A, Gordon AC, Garrard C, Hill AVS, Hinds CJ, Knight JC. Genomic landscape of the individual host response and outcomes in sepsis: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*. 2016;4(4):259-271.
- 83. Jacobs R, Honore PM, Joannes-Boyau O, Boer W, De Regt J, De Waele E, Collin V, Spapen HD. Septic Acute Kidney Injury: The Culprit Is Inflammatory Apoptosis rather than Ischemic Necrosis. *Blood Purification*. 2011;32(4):262-265.
- 84. Maiden MJ, Otto S, Brealey JK, Finnis ME, Chapman MJ, Kuchel TR, Nash CH, Edwards J, Bellomo R. Structure and Function of the Kidney in Septic Shock. A Prospective Controlled Experimental Study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2016;194(6):692-700.
- 85. Langenberg C, Gobe G, Hood S, May CN, Bellomo R. Renal Histopathology During Experimental Septic Acute Kidney Injury and Recovery. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2014;42(1):e58-e67.
- 86. Asfar P, Meziani F, Hamel JF, Grelon F, Megarbane B, Anguel N, Mira JP, Dequin PF, Gergaud S, Weiss N, Legay F, Le Tulzo Y, Conrad M, Robert R, Gonzalez F, Guitton C, Tamion F, Tonnelier JM, Guezennec P, Van Der Linden T, Vieillard-Baron A, Mariotte E, Pradel G, Lesieur O, Ricard JD, Herve F, du Cheyron D, Guerin C, Mercat A, Teboul JL, Radermacher P, Investigators S. High versus low blood-pressure target in patients with septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;370(17):1583-1593.
- 87. Chua H-R, Glassford N, Bellomo R. Acute kidney injury after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation*.83(6):721-727.
- 88. Langenberg C, Bellomo R, May C, Wan L, Egi M, Morgera S. Renal blood flow in sepsis. *Crit Care*. 2005;9.

- 89. Finfer S, Myburgh J, Bellomo R. Intravenous fluid therapy in critically ill adults. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*. 2018;14(9):541-557.
- 90. Silversides JA, Perner A, Malbrain MLNG. Liberal versus restrictive fluid therapy in critically ill patients. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2019;45(10):1440-1442.
- 91. Prowle JR, Chua H-R, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R. Clinical review: Volume of fluid resuscitation and the incidence of acute kidney injury a systematic review. *Critical Care*. 2012;16(4):230.
- 92. Vaara ST, Ostermann M, Bitker L, Schneider A, Poli E, Hoste E, Fierens J, Joannidis M, Zarbock A, van Haren F, Prowle J, Selander T, Bäcklund M, Pettilä V, Bellomo R, team R-As. Restrictive fluid management versus usual care in acute kidney injury (REVERSE-AKI): a pilot randomized controlled feasibility trial. *Intensive care medicine*. 2021;47(6):665-673.
- 93. Prowle JR, Molan MP, Hornsey E, Bellomo R. Measurement of renal blood flow by phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging during septic acute kidney injury: A pilot investigation. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2012;40(6):1768-1776.
- 94. Post EH, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Vincent J-L. Renal perfusion in sepsis: from macro- to microcirculation. *Kidney International*. 2017;91(1):45-60.
- 95. Martensson J, Bellomo R. Sepsis-Induced Acute Kidney Injury. *Crit Care Clin.* 2015;31(4):649-660.
- 96. Singh P, Okusa MD. The role of tubuloglomerular feedback in the pathogenesis of acute kidney injury. *Contrib Nephrol.* 2011;174:12-21.
- 97. Kumar S, Molitoris BA. Renal Endothelial Injury and Microvascular Dysfunction in Acute Kidney Injury. *Seminars in nephrology*. 2015;35(1):96-107.
- 98. Holthoff JH, Wang Z, Seely KA, Gokden N, Mayeux PR. Resveratrol improves renal microcirculation, protects the tubular epithelium, and prolongs survival in a mouse model of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. *Kidney International*. 2012;81(4):370-378.
- 99. Wu L, Tiwari M, Messer K. Peritubular capillary dysfunction and renal tubular epithelial cell stress following lipopolysaccharide administration in mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* 2007;292(1):F261-268.
- 100. Mariano F, Cantaluppi V, Stella M, Romanazzi GM, Assenzio B, Cairo M, Biancone L, Triolo G, Ranieri VM, Camussi G. Circulating plasma factors induce tubular and glomerular alterations in septic burns patients. *Critical Care.* 2008;12(2):R42-R42.
- 101. Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, Bertolotto M, Montecucco F, Busca A, Dallegri F, Ottonello L, Pistoia V. Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells Inhibit Neutrophil Apoptosis: A Model for Neutrophil Preservation in the Bone Marrow Niche. *STEM CELLS*. 2008;26(1):151-162.
- 102. Sônego F, Castanheira FVES, Ferreira RG, Kanashiro A, Leite CAVG, Nascimento DC, Colón DF, Borges VdF, Alves-Filho JC, Cunha FQ. Paradoxical Roles of the Neutrophil in Sepsis: Protective and Deleterious. *Front Immunol.* 2016;7:155-155.
- 103. Luster AD. Chemokines--chemotactic cytokines that mediate inflammation. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;338(7):436-445.
- 104. Stillie R, Farooq SM, Gordon JR, Stadnyk AW. The functional significance behind expressing two IL–8 receptor types on PMN. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 2009;86(3):529-543.

- 105. Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 2007;81(1):1-5.
- Galli SJ, Borregaard N, Wynn TA. Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat Immunol*. 2011;12(11):1035-1044.
- 107. Lundqvist-Gustafsson H, Bengtsson T. Activation of the granule pool of the NADPH oxidase accelerates apoptosis in human neutrophils. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 1999;65(2):196-204.
- 108. Qi Y, Ge J, Ma C, Wu N, Cui X, Liu Z. Activin A regulates activation of mouse neutrophils by Smad3 signalling. *Open biology*. 2017;7(5):160342.
- 109. Herwald H, Cramer H, Mörgelin M, Russell W, Sollenberg U, Norrby-Teglund A, Flodgaard H, Lindbom L, Björck L. M Protein, a Classical Bacterial Virulence Determinant, Forms Complexes with Fibrinogen that Induce Vascular Leakage. *Cell*. 2004;116(3):367-379.
- 110. Navarini AA, Lang KS, Verschoor A, Recher M, Zinkernagel AS, Nizet V, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Innate immune-induced depletion of bone marrow neutrophils aggravates systemic bacterial infections. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2009;106(17):7107-7112.
- 111. Hoesel LM, Neff TA, Neff SB, Younger JG, Olle EW, Gao H, Pianko MJ, Bernacki KD, Sarma JV, Ward PA. Harmful and protective roles of neutrophils in sepsis. Shock. 2005;24(1):40-47.
- Brown KA, Brain SD, Pearson JD, Edgeworth JD, Lewis SM, Treacher DF. Neutrophils in development of multiple organ failure in sepsis. *The Lancet*. 2006;368(9530):157-169.
- 113. Hayashi H, Imanishi N, Ohnishi M, Tojo SJ. Sialyl Lewis X and Anti-P-Selectin Antibody Attenuate Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Acute Renal Failure in Rabbits. *Nephron.* 2001;87(4):352-360.
- 114. Cunningham PN, Wang Y, Guo R, He G, Quigg RJ. Role of Toll-Like Receptor 4 in Endotoxin-Induced Acute Renal Failure. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2004;172(4):2629-2635.
- 115. Singbartl K, Bockhorn SG, Zarbock A, Schmolke M, Van Aken H. T Cells Modulate Neutrophil-Dependent Acute Renal Failure during Endotoxemia: Critical Role for CD28. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2005;16(3):720-728.
- 116. Castoldi A, Braga TT, Correa-Costa M, Aguiar CF, Bassi ÊJ, Correa-Silva R, Elias RM, Salvador F, Moraes-Vieira PM, Cenedeze MA, Reis MA, Hiyane MI, Pacheco-Silva Á, Gonçalves GM, Saraiva Câmara NO. TLR2, TLR4 and the MYD88 signaling pathway are crucial for neutrophil migration in acute kidney injury induced by sepsis. *PloS one*. 2012;7(5):e37584-e37584.
- 117. Kalakeche R, Hato T, Rhodes G, Dunn KW, El-Achkar TM, Plotkin Z, Sandoval RM, Dagher PC. Endotoxin uptake by S1 proximal tubular segment causes oxidative stress in the downstream S2 segment. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2011;22(8):1505-1516.
- 118. Finkel T, Hwang PM. The Krebs cycle meets the cell cycle: mitochondria and the G1-S transition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2009;106(29):11825-11826.

- 119. Rosen S, Samuel NH. Difficulties in understanding human "acute tubular necrosis": limited data and flawed animal models. *Kidney International*. 2001;60(4):1220-1224.
- 120. Hsiao H-W, Tsai K-L, Wang L-F, Chen Y-H, Chiang P-C, Chuang S-M, Hsu C. The Decline of Autophagy Contributes to Proximal Tubular Dysfunction During Sepsis. *Shock*. 2012;37(3):289-296.
- 121. Kreydiyyeh SI, Markossian S. Tumor necrosis factor α down-regulates the Na+– K+ ATPase and the Na+-K+2Cl– cotransporter in the kidney cortex and medulla. *Cytokine*. 2006;33(3):138-144.
- 122. Kreydiyyeh SI, Al-Sadi R. Interleukin-1beta increases urine flow rate and inhibits protein expression of Na(+)/K(+)-ATPase in the rat jejunum and kidney. *J Interferon Cytokine Res.* 2002;22(10):1041-1048.
- 123. Good DW, George T, Watts BA. Lipopolysaccharide directly alters renal tubule transport through distinct TLR4-dependent pathways in basolateral and apical membranes. *American Journal of Physiology Renal Physiology*. 2009;297(4):F866-F874.
- 124. Doi K, Rabb H. Impact of acute kidney injury on distant organ function: recent findings and potential therapeutic targets. *Kidney International*. 2016;89(3):555-564.
- 125. Hoke TS, Douglas IS, Klein CL, He Z, Fang W, Thurman JM, Tao Y, Dursun B, Voelkel NF, Edelstein CL, Faubel S. Acute renal failure after bilateral nephrectomy is associated with cytokine-mediated pulmonary injury. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2007;18.
- 126. Ahuja N, Andres-Hernando A, Altmann C, Bhargava R, Bacalja J, Webb RG, He Z, Edelstein CL, Faubel S. Circulating IL-6 mediates lung injury via CXCL1 production after acute kidney injury in mice. *American journal of physiology. Renal physiology.* 2012;303(6):F864-F872.
- 127. Andres-Hernando A, Altmann C, Bhargava R, Okamura K, Bacalja J, Hunter B, Ahuja N, Soranno D, Faubel S. Prolonged acute kidney injury exacerbates lung inflammation at 7 days post-acute kidney injury. *Physiol Rep.* 2014;2(7):e12084.
- 128. Liu KD, Glidden DV, Eisner MD, Parsons PE, Ware LB, Wheeler A, Korpak A, Thompson BT, Chertow GM, Matthay MA, the National Heart L, Blood Institute ANCTG. Predictive and pathogenetic value of plasma biomarkers for acute kidney injury in patients with acute lung injury. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2007;35(12):2755-2761.
- 129. Darmon M, Clec'h C, Adrie C, Argaud L, Allaouchiche B, Azoulay E, Bouadma L, Garrouste-Orgeas M, Haouache H, Schwebel C, Goldgran-Toledano D, Khallel H, Dumenil A-S, Jamali S, Souweine B, Zeni F, Cohen Y, Timsit J-F. Acute respiratory distress syndrome and risk of AKI among critically ill patients. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. 2014;9(8):1347-1353.
- 130. van den Akker JPC, Egal M, Groeneveld ABJ. Invasive mechanical ventilation as a risk factor for acute kidney injury in the critically ill: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Critical care*. 2013;17(3):R98-R98.
- 131. Investigators S-A, Canadian Critical Care Trials G, Australian, New Zealand Intensive Care Society Clinical Trials G, United Kingdom Critical Care Research G, Canadian Nephrology Trials N, Irish Critical Care Trials G, Bagshaw SM, Wald R, Adhikari NKJ, Bellomo R, da Costa BR, Dreyfuss D, Du B, Gallagher MP, Gaudry S, Hoste EA, Lamontagne F, Joannidis M, Landoni G, Liu KD, McAuley

DF, McGuinness SP, Neyra JA, Nichol AD, Ostermann M, Palevsky PM, Pettila V, Quenot JP, Qiu H, Rochwerg B, Schneider AG, Smith OM, Thome F, Thorpe KE, Vaara S, Weir M, Wang AY, Young P, Zarbock A. Timing of Initiation of Renal-Replacement Therapy in Acute Kidney Injury. *N Engl J Med*. 2020;383(3):240-251.

- 132. Vanmassenhove J, Kielstein J, Ostermann M. Have renal biomarkers failed in acute kidney injury? Yes. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2017;43.
- 133. Endre ZH, Pickering JW. Biomarkers and creatinine in AKI: the trough of disillusionment or the slope of enlightenment? *Kidney International*. 2013;84(4):644-647.
- 134. Wang K, Xie S, Xiao K, Yan P, He W, Xie L. Biomarkers of Sepsis-Induced Acute Kidney Injury. *BioMed research international*. 2018;2018:6937947-6937947.
- 135. Dellepiane S, Marengo M, Cantaluppi V. Detrimental cross-talk between sepsis and acute kidney injury: new pathogenic mechanisms, early biomarkers and targeted therapies. *Crit Care.* 2016;20:61.
- 136. Albert C, Zapf A, Haase M, Röver C, Pickering JW, Albert A, Bellomo R, Breidthardt T, Camou F, Chen Z, Chocron S, Cruz D, de Geus HRH, Devarajan P, Di Somma S, Doi K, Endre ZH, Garcia-Alvarez M, Hjortrup PB, Hur M, Karaolanis G, Kavalci C, Kim H, Lentini P, Liebetrau C, Lipcsey M, Mårtensson J, Müller C, Nanas S, Nickolas TL, Pipili C, Ronco C, Rosa-Diez GJ, Ralib A, Soto K, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Heinz J, Haase-Fielitz A. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin Measured on Clinical Laboratory Platforms for the Prediction of Acute Kidney Injury and the Associated Need for Dialysis Therapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2020;76(6):826-841.e821.
- 137. Geng J, Qiu Y, Qin Z, Su B. The value of kidney injury molecule 1 in predicting acute kidney injury in adult patients: a systematic review and Bayesian metaanalysis. *J Transl Med.* 2021;19(1):105.
- 138. Zhang D, Yuan Y, Guo L, Wang Q. Comparison of urinary TIMP-2 and IGFBP7 cutoffs to predict acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: A PRISMA-compliant systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. 2019;98(26):e16232.
- 139. Su L-x, Feng L, Zhang J, Xiao Y-j, Jia Y-h, Yan P, Feng D, Xie L-x. Diagnostic value of urine sTREM-1 for sepsis and relevant acute kidney injuries: a prospective study. *Critical Care*. 2011;15(5):R250.
- 140. Murugan R, Wen X, Keener C, Pike F, Palevsky PM, Unruh M, Finkel K, Vijayan A, Elder M, Chen Y-F, Kellum JA. Associations between Intensity of RRT, Inflammatory Mediators, and Outcomes. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2015;10(6):926-933.
- 141. Simmons EM, Himmelfarb J, Sezer MT, Chertow GM, Mehta RL, Paganini EP, Soroko S, Freedman S, Becker K, Spratt D, Shyr Y, Ikizler TA. Plasma cytokine levels predict mortality in patients with acute renal failure. *Kidney Int*. 2004;65.
- 142. Jones KL, Mansell A, Patella S, Scott BJ, Hedger MP, de Kretser DM, Phillips DJ. Activin A is a critical component of the inflammatory response, and its binding protein, follistatin, reduces mortality in endotoxemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104(41):16239-16244.
- 143. Wu H, Chen Y, Winnall WR, Phillips DJ, Hedger MP. Regulation of activin A release from murine bone marrow-derived neutrophil precursors by tumour necrosis factor- α and insulin. *Cytokine*. 2013;61(1):199-204.

- 144. Michel U, Ebert S, Phillips D, Nau R. Serum concentrations of activin and follistatin are elevated and run in parallel in patients with septicemia. *Eur J Endocrinol.* 2003;148(5):559-564.
- 145. Bentzer P, Fisher J, Kong HJ, Mörgelin M, Boyd JH, Walley KR, Russell JA, Linder A. Heparin-binding protein is important for vascular leak in sepsis. *Intensive care medicine experimental*. 2016;4(1):33-33.
- 146. Fisher J, Linder A. Heparin-binding protein: a key player in the pathophysiology of organ dysfunction in sepsis. *Journal of Internal Medicine*. 2017;281(6):562-574.
- 147. Linder A, Christensson B, Herwald H, Björck L, Åkesson P. Heparin-Binding Protein: An Early Marker of Circulatory Failure in Sepsis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2009;49(7):1044-1050.
- 148. Haase M, Bellomo R, Devarajan P, Schlattmann P, Haase-Fielitz A. Accuracy of Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin (NGAL) in Diagnosis and Prognosis in Acute Kidney Injury: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*.54(6):1012-1024.
- 149. Hjortrup PB, Haase N, Wetterslev M, Perner A. Clinical review: Predictive value of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin for acute kidney injury in intensive care patients. *Critical Care*. 2013;17(2):211.
- 150. Mårtensson J, Bell M, Xu S, Bottai M, Ravn B, Venge P, Martling C-R. Association of plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) with sepsis and acute kidney dysfunction. *Biomarkers*. 2013;18(4):349-356.
- 151. Bagshaw SM, Bennett M, Haase M, Haase-Fielitz A, Egi M, Morimatsu H, D'amico G, Goldsmith D, Devarajan P, Bellomo R. Plasma and urine neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin in septic versus non-septic acute kidney injury in critical illness. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2010;36(3):452-461.
- 152. Bolignano D, Lacquaniti A, Coppolino G, Donato V, Campo S, Fazio MR, Nicocia G, Buemi M. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin (NGAL) and Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2009;4(2):337-344.
- 153. Vaidya VS, Ramirez V, Ichimura T, Bobadilla NA, Bonventre JV. Urinary kidney injury molecule-1: a sensitive quantitative biomarker for early detection of kidney tubular injury. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*. 2006;290(2):F517-F529.
- 154. Han WK, Bailly V, Abichandani R, Thadhani R, Bonventre JV. Kidney Injury Molecule-1 (KIM-1): A novel biomarker for human renal proximal tubule injury. *Kidney International.* 2002;62(1):237-244.
- 155. Tu Y, Wang H, Sun R, Ni Y, Ma L, Xv F, Hu X, Jiang L, Wu A, Chen X, Chen M, Liu J, Han F. Urinary netrin-1 and KIM-1 as early biomarkers for septic acute kidney injury. *Renal Failure*. 2014;36(10):1559-1563.
- 156. Kashani K, Al-Khafaji A, Ardiles T, Artigas A, Bagshaw SM, Bell M, Bihorac A, Birkhahn R, Cely CM, Chawla LS, Davison DL, Feldkamp T, Forni LG, Gong MN, Gunnerson KJ, Haase M, Hackett J, Honore PM, Hoste EA, Joannes-Boyau O, Joannidis M, Kim P, Koyner JL, Laskowitz DT, Lissauer ME, Marx G, McCullough PA, Mullaney S, Ostermann M, Rimmelé T, Shapiro NI, Shaw AD, Shi J, Sprague AM, Vincent J-L, Vinsonneau C, Wagner L, Walker MG, Wilkerson RG, Zacharowski K, Kellum JA. Discovery and validation of cell cycle arrest biomarkers in human acute kidney injury. *Critical Care*. 2013;17(1):R25.

- 157. Koyner JL, Davison DL, Brasha-Mitchell E, Chalikonda DM, Arthur JM, Shaw AD, Tumlin JA, Trevino SA, Bennett MR, Kimmel PL, Seneff MG, Chawla LS. Furosemide Stress Test and Biomarkers for the Prediction of AKI Severity. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2015;26(8):2023-2031.
- 158. Chawla LS, Davison DL, Brasha-Mitchell E, Koyner JL, Arthur JM, Shaw AD, Tumlin JA, Trevino SA, Kimmel PL, Seneff MG. Development and standardization of a furosemide stress test to predict the severity of acute kidney injury. *Critical care*. 2013;17(5):R207-R207.
- 159. Lumlertgul N, Peerapornratana S, Trakarnvanich T, Pongsittisak W, Surasit K, Chuasuwan A, Tankee P, Tiranathanagul K, Praditpornsilpa K, Tungsanga K, Eiam-Ong S, Kellum JA, Srisawat N, Group FSTS. Early versus standard initiation of renal replacement therapy in furosemide stress test non-responsive acute kidney injury patients (the FST trial). *Critical care*. 2018;22(1):101-101.
- 160. Rewa OG, Bagshaw SM, Wang X, Wald R, Smith O, Shapiro J, McMahon B, Liu KD, Trevino SA, Chawla LS, Koyner JL. The furosemide stress test for prediction of worsening acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: A multicenter, prospective, observational study. *Journal of Critical Care*. 2019;52:109-114.
- 161. D'Agostino RB. Risk prediction and finding new independent prognostic factors. *Journal of Hypertension*. 2006;24(4):643-645.
- 162. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Vasan RS. Statistical methods for assessment of added usefulness of new biomarkers. *Clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine*. 2010;48(12):1703-1711.
- 163. Kerr KF, Wang Z, Janes H, McClelland RL, Psaty BM, Pepe MS. Net reclassification indices for evaluating risk prediction instruments: a critical review. *Epidemiology*. 2014;25(1):114-121.
- 164. Hilden J, Gerds TA. A note on the evaluation of novel biomarkers: do not rely on integrated discrimination improvement and net reclassification index. *Statistics in Medicine*. 2014;33(19):3405-3414.
- Pickering JW, Endre ZH. New Metrics for Assessing Diagnostic Potential of Candidate Biomarkers. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2012;7(8):1355-1364.
- 166. Vickers AJ, Elkin EB. Decision curve analysis: a novel method for evaluating prediction models. *Medical decision making : an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making.* 2006;26(6):565-574.
- 167. Van Calster B, Wynants L, Verbeek JFM, Verbakel JY, Christodoulou E, Vickers AJ, Roobol MJ, Steyerberg EW. Reporting and Interpreting Decision Curve Analysis: A Guide for Investigators. *European Urology*. 2018;74(6):796-804.
- Steyerberg EW, Vergouwe Y. Towards better clinical prediction models: seven steps for development and an ABCD for validation. *European heart journal*. 2014;35(29):1925-1931.
- 169. Cook NR. Quantifying the added value of new biomarkers: how and how not. *Diagnostic and Prognostic Research*. 2018;2(1):14.
- 170. Kaukonen K, Bailey M, Suzuki S, Pilcher D, Bellomo R. Mortality related to severe sepsis and septic shock among critically ill patients in australia and new zealand, 2000-2012. *JAMA*. 2014;311(13):1308-1316.
- 171. Levy M. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign: results of an international guidelinebased performance improvement program targeting severe sepsis. 2010.

- 172. Lagu T, Rothberg MB, Shieh M-S, Pekow PS, Steingrub JS, Lindenauer PK. Hospitalizations, costs, and outcomes of severe sepsis in the United States 2003 to 2007. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2012;40(3):754-761.
- 173. Murugan R, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury: what's the prognosis? *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2011;7.
- 174. Bagshaw SM, George C, Bellomo R. Early acute kidney injury and sepsis: a multicentre evaluation. *Crit Care*. 2008;12.
- 175. Lopes JA, Jorge S, Resina C, Santos C, Pereira Á, Neves J, Antunes F, Prata MM. Acute kidney injury in patients with sepsis: a contemporary analysis. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2009;13(2):176-181.
- 176. Uchino S, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, et al. Acute renal failure in critically ill patients: A multinational, multicenter study. *JAMA*. 2005;294(7):813-818.
- 177. Thakar CV, Christianson A, Freyberg R, Almenoff P, Render ML. Incidence and outcomes of acute kidney injury in intensive care units: A Veterans Administration study. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2009;37(9):2552-2558.
- 178. Neveu H, Kleinknecht D, Brivet F, Loirat P, Landais P. Prognostic factors in acute renal failure due to sepsis. Results of a prospective multicentre study. The French Study Group on Acute Renal Failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 1996;11(2):293-299.
- 179. Bagshaw SM, Uchino S, Bellomo R, Morimatsu H, Morgera S, Schetz M, Tan I, Bouman C, Macedo E, Gibney N, Tolwani A, Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Ronco C, Kellum JA. Septic Acute Kidney Injury in Critically Ill Patients: Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2007;2(3):431-439.
- 180. Gaudry S, Hajage D, Schortgen F, Martin-Lefevre L, Pons B, Boulet E, Boyer A, Chevrel G, Lerolle N, Carpentier D, de Prost N, Lautrette A, Bretagnol A, Mayaux J, Nseir S, Megarbane B, Thirion M, Forel J-M, Maizel J, Yonis H, Markowicz P, Thiery G, Tubach F, Ricard J-D, Dreyfuss D. Initiation Strategies for Renal-Replacement Therapy in the Intensive Care Unit. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2016;375(2):122-133.
- 181. Barbar SD, Clere-Jehl R, Bourredjem A, Hernu R, Montini F, Bruyère R, Lebert C, Bohé J, Badie J, Eraldi J-P, Rigaud J-P, Levy B, Siami S, Louis G, Bouadma L, Constantin J-M, Mercier E, Klouche K, du Cheyron D, Piton G, Annane D, Jaber S, van der Linden T, Blasco G, Mira J-P, Schwebel C, Chimot L, Guiot P, Nay M-A, Meziani F, Helms J, Roger C, Louart B, Trusson R, Dargent A, Binquet C, Quenot J-P. Timing of Renal-Replacement Therapy in Patients with Acute Kidney Injury and Sepsis. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2018;379(15):1431-1442.
- 182. Mehta S, Chauhan K, Patel A, Patel S, Pinotti R, Nadkarni GN, Parikh CR, Coca SG. The prognostic importance of duration of AKI: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC nephrology*. 2018;19(1):91-91.
- 183. Siew ED, Abdel-Kader K, Perkins AM, Greevy RA, Jr., Parr SK, Horner J, Vincz AJ, Denton J, Wilson OD, Hung AM, Robinson-Cohen C, Matheny ME. Timing of Recovery From Moderate to Severe AKI and the Risk for Future Loss of Kidney Function. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2020;75(2):204-213.
- 184. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Readmission Diagnoses After Hospitalization for Severe Sepsis and Other Acute Medical Conditions. JAMA. 2015;313(10):1055-1057.

- 185. Kellum JA, Sileanu FE, Bihorac A, Hoste EAJ, Chawla LS. Recovery after Acute Kidney Injury. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 2017;195(6):784-791.
- 186. Hsu C-y. Yes, AKI Truly Leads to CKD. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2012;23(6):967-969.
- 187. Christiansen S, Christensen S, Pedersen L, Gammelager H, Layton JB, Brookhart MA, Christiansen CF. Timing of renal replacement therapy and long-term risk of chronic kidney disease and death in intensive care patients with acute kidney injury. *Critical Care*. 2017;21(1):326.
- 188. Sawhney S, Marks A, Fluck N, Levin A, McLernon D, Prescott G, Black C. Post-discharge kidney function is associated with subsequent ten-year renal progression risk among survivors of acute kidney injury. *Kidney international*. 2017;92(2):440-452.
- 189. Susantitaphong P, Cruz DN, Cerda J, Abulfaraj M, Alqahtani F, Koulouridis I, Jaber BL, Acute Kidney Injury Advisory Group of the American Society of N. World incidence of AKI: a meta-analysis. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. 2013;8(9):1482-1493.
- 190. Joslin J, Wilson H, Zubli D, Gauge N, Kinirons M, Hopper A, Pile T, Ostermann M. Recognition and management of acute kidney injury in hospitalised patients can be partially improved with the use of a care bundle. *Clin Med (Lond)*. 2015;15(5):431-436.
- 191. Koyner JL, Carey KA, Edelson DP, Churpek MM. The Development of a Machine Learning Inpatient Acute Kidney Injury Prediction Model. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2018;46(7):1070-1077.
- Rizo-Topete LM, Rosner MH, Ronco C. Acute Kidney Injury Risk Assessment and the Nephrology Rapid Response Team. *Blood Purification*. 2017;43(1-3):82-88.
- 193. Peerapornratana S, Manrique-Caballero CL, Gómez H, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury from sepsis: current concepts, epidemiology, pathophysiology, prevention and treatment. *Kidney international.* 2019;96(5):1083-1099.
- 194. Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of V. The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Microbiol.* 2020;5(4):536-544.
- 195. Osuchowski MF, Winkler MS, Skirecki T, Cajander S, Shankar-Hari M, Lachmann G, Monneret G, Venet F, Bauer M, Brunkhorst FM, Weis S, Garcia-Salido A, Kox M, Cavaillon J-M, Uhle F, Weigand MA, Flohé SB, Wiersinga WJ, Almansa R, de la Fuente A, Martin-Loeches I, Meisel C, Spinetti T, Schefold JC, Cilloniz C, Torres A, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Ferrer R, Girardis M, Cossarizza A, Netea MG, van der Poll T, Bermejo-Martín JF, Rubio I. The COVID-19 puzzle: deciphering pathophysiology and phenotypes of a new disease entity. *The Lancet. Respiratory medicine*. 2021;9(6):622-642.
- 196. Bonnet B, Cosme J, Dupuis C, Coupez E, Adda M, Calvet L, Fabre L, Saint-Sardos P, Bereiziat M, Vidal M, Laurichesse H, Souweine B, Evrard B. Severe COVID-19 is characterized by the co-occurrence of moderate cytokine inflammation and severe monocyte dysregulation. *EBioMedicine*. 2021;73:103622.
- 197. Bagshaw SM, Lapinsky S, Dial S, Arabi Y, Dodek P, Wood G, Ellis P, Guzman J, Marshall J, Parrillo JE, Skrobik Y, Kumar A. Acute kidney injury in septic shock: clinical outcomes and impact of duration of hypotension prior to initiation of antimicrobial therapy. *Intensive Care Med.* 2009;35.

- 198. Hümmeke-Oppers F, Hemelaar P, Pickkers P. Innovative Drugs to Target Renal Inflammation in Sepsis: Alkaline Phosphatase. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019;10:919-919.
- 199. Tang W, Huang J, Huang X, Han X, Tang W, Ke G, Xu Q. Effect of alkaline phosphatase on sepsis-associated acute kidney injury patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. 2020;99(4):e18788-e18788.
- 200. Bentala H, Verweij WR, der Vlag AH-V, van Loenen-Weemaes AM, Meijer DKF, Poelstra K. Removal of Phosphate from Lipid A as a Strategy to Detoxify Lipopolysaccharide. *Shock*. 2002;18(6):561-566.
- 201. Tiwari MM, Brock RW, Megyesi JK, Kaushal GP, Mayeux PR. Disruption of renal peritubular blood flow in lipopolysaccharide-induced renal failure: role of nitric oxide and caspases. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*. 2005;289(6):F1324-F1332.
- 202. van Veen SQ, van Vliet AK, Wulferink M, Brands R, Boermeester MA, van Gulik TM. Bovine Intestinal Alkaline Phosphatase Attenuates the Inflammatory Response in Secondary Peritonitis in Mice. *Infection and Immunity*. 2005;73(7):4309-4314.
- 203. Verweij WR, Bentala H, van der Vlag AH, Miek van Loenen-Weemaes A, Kooi K, Meijer DKF, Poelstra K. Protection against an Escherichia coli-induced sepsis by alkaline phosphatase in mice. *Shock.* 2004;22(2):174-179.
- 204. Vallon V, Mühlbauer B, Osswald H. Adenosine and Kidney Function. *Physiological Reviews*. 2006;86(3):901-940.
- 205. Tumlin JA, Murugan R, Deane AM, Ostermann M, Busse LW, Ham KR, Kashani K, Szerlip HM, Prowle JR, Bihorac A, Finkel KW, Zarbock A, Forni LG, Lynch SJ, Jensen J, Kroll S, Chawla LS, Tidmarsh GF, Bellomo R. Outcomes in Patients with Vasodilatory Shock and Renal Replacement Therapy Treated with Intravenous Angiotensin II. *Crit Care Med.* 2018;46(6):949-957.
- 206. Group RC, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, Linsell L, Staplin N, Brightling C, Ustianowski A, Elmahi E, Prudon B, Green C, Felton T, Chadwick D, Rege K, Fegan C, Chappell LC, Faust SN, Jaki T, Jeffery K, Montgomery A, Rowan K, Juszczak E, Baillie JK, Haynes R, Landray MJ. Dexamethasone in Hospitalized Patients with Covid-19. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2021;384(8):693-704.
- 207. Group TWREAfC-TW. Association Between Administration of Systemic Corticosteroids and Mortality Among Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2020;324(13):1330-1341.
- 208. Fang F, Zhang Y, Tang J, Lunsford LD, Li T, Tang R, He J, Xu P, Faramand A, Xu J, You C. Association of Corticosteroid Treatment With Outcomes in Adult Patients With Sepsis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2019;179(2):213-223.
- 209. Evans L, Rhodes A, Alhazzani W, Antonelli M, Coopersmith CM, French C, Machado FR, Mcintyre L, Ostermann M, Prescott HC, Schorr C, Simpson S, Wiersinga WJ, Alshamsi F, Angus DC, Arabi Y, Azevedo L, Beale R, Beilman G, Belley-Cote E, Burry L, Cecconi M, Centofanti J, Coz Yataco A, De Waele J, Dellinger RP, Doi K, Du B, Estenssoro E, Ferrer R, Gomersall C, Hodgson C, Hylander Møller M, Iwashyna T, Jacob S, Kleinpell R, Klompas M, Koh Y, Kumar A, Kwizera A, Lobo S, Masur H, McGloughlin S, Mehta S, Mehta Y, Mer M, Nunnally M, Oczkowski S, Osborn T, Papathanassoglou E, Perner A,

Puskarich M, Roberts J, Schweickert W, Seckel M, Sevransky J, Sprung CL, Welte T, Zimmerman J, Levy M. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock 2021. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2021;49(11):e1063-e1143.

- 210. Wang C, Kang K, Lan X, Fei D, Wang Q, Li X, Chong Y, Gao Y, Wang H, Li X, Zhao M, Yu K. Cytokine levels in sputum, not serum, may be more helpful for indicating the damage in the lung and the prognosis of severe COVID-19 A case series. *Journal of Infection*. 2021;83(5):e6-e9.
- 211. Group RC. Tocilizumab in patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 (RECOVERY): a randomised, controlled, open-label, platform trial. *Lancet*. 2021;397(10285):1637-1645.
- 212. Interleukin-6 Receptor Antagonists in Critically Ill Patients with Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2021;384(16):1491-1502.
- 213. Update to living WHO guideline on drugs for covid-19. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*. 2021;374:n2219.
- Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, Bretherick AD, Rawlik K, Pasko D, 214. Walker S, Parkinson N, Fourman MH, Russell CD, Furniss J, Richmond A, Gountouna E, Wrobel N, Harrison D, Wang B, Wu Y, Meynert A, Griffiths F, Oosthuyzen W, Kousathanas A, Moutsianas L, Yang Z, Zhai R, Zheng C, Grimes G, Beale R, Millar J, Shih B, Keating S, Zechner M, Haley C, Porteous DJ, Hayward C, Yang J, Knight J, Summers C, Shankar-Hari M, Klenerman P, Turtle L, Ho A, Moore SC, Hinds C, Horby P, Nichol A, Maslove D, Ling L, McAuley D, Montgomery H, Walsh T, Pereira AC, Renieri A, Millar J, Nichol A, Walsh T, Shankar-Hari M, Ponting C, Meikle J, Finernan P, McMaster E, Law A, Baillie JK, Paterson T, Wackett T, Armstrong R, Clark R, Coutts A, Donnelly L, Gilchrist T, Hafezi K, Macgillivray L, Maclean A, McCafferty S, Morrice K, Weaver J, Boz C, Golightly A, Ward M, Mal H, Szoor-McElhinney H, Brown A, Hendry R, Stenhouse A, Cullum L, Law D, Law S, Law R, Swets M, Day N, Taneski F, Duncan E, Parkinson N, Collier D, Wood S, Zak A, Borra C, Matharu M, May P, Alldis Z, Mitchelmore O, Bowles R, Easthope A, Bibi F, Lancoma-Malcolm I, Gurasashvili J, Pheby J, Shiel J, Bolton M, Patel M, Taylor M, Zongo O, Ebano P, Harding P, Astin-Chamberlain R, Choudhury Y, Cox A, Kallon D, Burton M, Hall R, Blowes S, Prime Z, Biddle J, Prysyazhna O, Newman T, Tierney C, Kassam J, Shankar-Hari M, Ostermann M, Campos S, Bociek A, Lim R, Grau N, Jones TO, Whitton C, Marotti M, Arbane G, Bonner S, Hugill K, Reid J, Welters I, Waugh V, Williams K, Shaw D, Roman JF, Martinez ML, Johnson E, Waite A, Johnston B, Hamilton D, Mulla S, McPhail M, Smith J, Baillie JK, Barclay L, Hope D, McCulloch C, McQuillan L, Clark S, Singleton J, Priestley K, Rea N, Callaghan M, Campbell R, Andrew G, Marshall L, McKechnie S, Hutton P, Bashyal A, Davidson N, Summers C, Polgarova P, Stroud K, Pathan N, Elston K, Agrawal S, Battle C, Newey L, Rees T, Harford R, Brinkworth E, Williams M, Murphy C, White I, Croft M, Bandla N, Gellamucho M, Tomlinson J, Turner H, Davies M, Quinn A, Hussain I, Thompson C, Parker H, Bradley R, Griffiths R, Scriven J, Nilsson A, Bates M, Dasgin J, Gill J, Puxty A, Cathcart S, Salutous D, Turner L, Duffy K, Puxty K, Joseph A, Herdman-Grant R, Simms R, Swain A, Naranjo A, Crowe R, Sollesta K, Loveridge A, Baptista D, Morino E, Davey M, Golden D, Jones J, Moreno Cuesta J, Haldeos A, Bakthavatsalam D, Vincent R, Elhassan M, Xavier K, Ganesan A, Purohit D, Abdelrazik M, Morgan J, Akeroyd

L, Bano S, Lawton T, Warren D, Bromley M, Sellick K, Gurr L, Wilkinson B, Nagarajan V, Szedlak P, Cupitt J, Stoddard E, Benham L, Preston S, Laha S, Slawson N, Bradshaw Z, Brown J, Caswell M, Melling S, Bamford P, Faulkner M, Cawley K, Jeffrey H, London E, Sainsbury H, Nagra I, Nasir F, Dunmore C, Jones R, Abraheem A, Al-Moasseb M, Girach R, Padden G, Egan J, Brantwood C, Alexander P, Bradley-Potts J, Allen S, Felton T, Manna S, Farnell-Ward S, Leaver S, Queiroz J, Maccacari E, The Gen OI, Gen OC, Gen Oc-i, Central m, laboratory t, Data analysis t, Barts Health Nhs Trust LUK, Guy's, St Thomas' Hospital LUK, James Cook University Hospital MUK, The Royal Liverpool University Hospital LUK, King's College Hospital LUK, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh EUK, John Radcliffe Hospital OUK, Addenbrooke's Hospital CUK, Morriston Hospital SUK, Ashford, St Peter's Hospital SUK, Royal Stoke University Hospital SUK, Queen Elizabeth Hospital BUK, Glasgow Royal Infirmary GUK, Kingston Hospital SUK, The Tunbridge Wells H, Maidstone Hospital KUK, North Middlesex University Hospital Nhs Trust LUK, Bradford Royal Infirmary BUK, Blackpool Victoria Hospital BUK, Countess of Chester Hospital CUK, Wythenshawe Hospital MUK, St George's Hospital LUK. Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in COVID-19. Nature. 2021;591(7848):92-98.

- 215. Panacek EA, Marshall JC, Albertson TE, Johnson DH, Johnson S, MacArthur RD, Miller M, Barchuk WT, Fischkoff S, Kaul M, Teoh L, Van Meter L, Daum L, Lemeshow S, Hicklin G, Doig C, Investigators MA-TARCSS. Efficacy and safety of the monoclonal anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody F(ab')2 fragment afelimomab in patients with severe sepsis and elevated interleukin-6 levels. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2004;32(11):2173-2182.
- 216. Davis JS, Ferreira D, Paige E, Gedye C, Boyle M. Infectious Complications of Biological and Small Molecule Targeted Immunomodulatory Therapies. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2020;33(3):e00035-00019.
- 217. Kuipers Maria T, Aslami H, Janczy John R, van der Sluijs Koenraad F, Vlaar APJ, Wolthuis Esther K, Choi G, Roelofs JJTH, Flavell Richard A, Sutterwala Fayyaz S, Bresser P, Leemans Jaklien C, van der Poll T, Schultz Marcus J, Wieland Catharina W. Ventilator-induced Lung Injury Is Mediated by the NLRP3 Inflammasome. *Anesthesiology*. 2012;116(5):1104-1115.
- 218. Schulert GS, Grom AA. Pathogenesis of macrophage activation syndrome and potential for cytokine- directed therapies. *Annual review of medicine*. 2015;66:145-159.
- 219. Pasin L, Cavalli G, Navalesi P, Sella N, Landoni G, Yavorovskiy AG, Likhvantsev VV, Zangrillo A, Dagna L, Monti G. Anakinra for patients with COVID-19: a meta-analysis of non-randomized cohort studies. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*. 2021;86:34-40.
- 220. Fisher CJ, Jr., Dhainaut JF, Opal SM, Pribble JP, Balk RA, Slotman GJ, Iberti TJ, Rackow EC, Shapiro MJ, Greenman RL, et al. Recombinant human interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in the treatment of patients with sepsis syndrome. Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Phase III rhIL-1ra Sepsis Syndrome Study Group. *Jama*. 1994;271(23):1836-1843.

- 221. Opal SM, Fisher CJ, Dhainaut J-FA, Vincent J-L, Brase R, Lowry SF, Sadoff JC, Slotman GJ, Levy H, Balk RA, Shelly MP, Pribble JP, LaBrecque JF, Lookabaugh J, Donovan H, Dubin H, Baughman R, Norman J, DeMaria E, Matzel K, Abraham E, Seneff M. Confirmatory interleukin-1 receptor antagonist trial in severe sepsis: A phase III, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. *Critical Care Medicine*. 1997;25(7):1115-1124.
- 222. Shakoory B, Carcillo JA, Chatham WW, Amdur RL, Zhao H, Dinarello CA, Cron RQ, Opal SM. Interleukin-1 Receptor Blockade Is Associated With Reduced Mortality in Sepsis Patients With Features of Macrophage Activation Syndrome: Reanalysis of a Prior Phase III Trial. *Critical care medicine*. 2016;44(2):275-281.
- 223. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, Wang B, Xiang H, Cheng Z, Xiong Y, Zhao Y, Li Y, Wang X, Peng Z. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA*. 2020;323(11):1061-1069.
- 224. Mark Moran S, Myers BD. Course of acute renal failure studied by a model of creatinine kinetics. *Kidney International*. 1985;27(6):928-937.
- 225. Taylor FB, Jr., Toh CH, Hoots WK, Wada H, Levi M. Towards definition, clinical and laboratory criteria, and a scoring system for disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Thromb Haemost.* 2001;86(5):1327-1330.
- 226. Vesin A, Azoulay E, Ruckly S, Vignoud L, Rusinovà K, Benoit D, Soares M, Azeivedo-Maia P, Abroug F, Benbenishty J, Timsit JF. Reporting and handling missing values in clinical studies in intensive care units. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2013;39(8):1396-1404.
- 227. DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the Areas under Two or More Correlated Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves: A Nonparametric Approach. *Biometrics*. 1988;44(3):837-845.
- 228. Xue JL, Daniels F, Star RA, Kimmel PL, Eggers PW, Molitoris BA, Himmelfarb J, Collins AJ. Incidence and Mortality of Acute Renal Failure in Medicare Beneficiaries, 1992 to 2001. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2006;17(4):1135-1142.
- 229. Kellum JA, Prowle JR. Paradigms of acute kidney injury in the intensive care setting. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*. 2018;14(4):217-230.
- 230. Sakr Y, Rubatto Birri PN, Kotfis K, Nanchal R, Shah B, Kluge S, Schroeder ME, Marshall JC, Vincent J-L, Investigators obotICON. Higher Fluid Balance Increases the Risk of Death From Sepsis: Results From a Large International Audit. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2017;45(3):386-394.
- 231. Wiedemann HP WA, Bernard GR. Comparison of Two Fluid-Management Strategies in Acute Lung Injury. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2006; 354(24):2564-2575.
- 232. Fong Y, Moldawer LL, Marano M, Wei H, Tatter SB, Clarick RH, Santhanam U, Sherris D, May LT, Sehgal PB. Endotoxemia elicits increased circulating beta 2-IFN/IL-6 in man. *The Journal of Immunology*. 1989;142(7):2321-2324.
- 233. Soop A, Johansson C, Hjemdahl P, Kristiansson M, Gyllenhammar H, Li N, Sollevi A. Adenosine Treatment Attenuates Cytokine Interleukin-6 Responses to Endotoxin Challenge in Healthy Volunteers. *Shock.* 2003;19(6):503-507.
- 234. van Lier D, Geven C, Leijte GP, Pickkers P. Experimental human endotoxemia as a model of systemic inflammation. *Biochimie*. 2019;159:99-106.

- 235. Linder A, Åkesson P, Inghammar M, Treutiger C-J, Linnér A, Sundén-Cullberg J. Elevated plasma levels of heparin-binding protein in intensive care unit patients with severe sepsis and septic shock. *Critical Care*. 2012;16(3):R90-R90.
- 236. Zhang A, Cai Y, Wang P-F, Qu J-N, Luo Z-C, Chen X-D, Huang B, Liu Y, Huang W-Q, Wu J, Yin Y-H. Diagnosis and prognosis of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin for acute kidney injury with sepsis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Critical Care.* 2016;20:41.
- 237. Hjortrup PB, Haase N, Treschow F, Møller MH, Perner A. Predictive value of NGAL for use of renal replacement therapy in patients with severe sepsis. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*. 2015;59(1):25-34.
- 238. Md Ralib A, Pickering JW, Shaw GM, Devarajan P, Edelstein CL, Bonventre JV, Endre ZH. Test Characteristics of Urinary Biomarkers Depend on Quantitation Method in Acute Kidney Injury. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2012;23(2):322-333.
- 239. Ostermann M, Bellomo R, Burdmann EA, Doi K, Endre ZH, Goldstein SL, Kane-Gill SL, Liu KD, Prowle JR, Shaw AD, Srisawat N, Cheung M, Jadoul M, Winkelmayer WC, Kellum JA, Bagshaw SM, Barreto EF, Bihorac A, Bobek I, Bouchard J, Cerdá J, Chakravarthi R, De Rosa S, Engelman DT, Forni LG, Hemmilä UK, Herzog CA, Hoste EA, Huen SC, Iseki K, Joannidis M, Kashani KB, Koyner JL, Kribben A, Lameire N, Levey AS, Macedo E, Małyszko J, Meersch M, Mehta RL, Mewburn I, Mironova O, Murray PT, Nadim MK, Pan JS, Pannu N, Peng Z, Philips B, Ponce D, Ray PE, Ricci Z, Rimmelé T, Ronco C, Siew ED, Stevens PE, Tolwani AJ, Tonelli M, Vaara ST, van Dam M, Vijayan A, Wise M, Wu V-C, Zarbock A. Controversies in acute kidney injury: conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Conference. *Kidney International*. 2020;98(2):294-309.
- 240. Shi C, Wang C, Wang H, Yang C, Cai F, Zeng F, Cheng F, Liu Y, Zhou T, Deng B, Vlodavsky I, Li J-P, Zhang Y. The Potential of Low Molecular Weight Heparin to Mitigate Cytokine Storm in Severe COVID-19 Patients: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2020;13(6):1087-1095.
- 241. Pickkers P, Darmon M, Hoste E, Joannidis M, Legrand M, Ostermann M, Prowle JR, Schneider A, Schetz M. Acute kidney injury in the critically ill: an updated review on pathophysiology and management. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2021;47(8):835-850.
- 242. van Duijl TT, Ruhaak LR, de Fijter JW, Cobbaert CM. Kidney Injury Biomarkers in an Academic Hospital Setting: Where Are We Now? *Clin Biochem Rev.* 2019;40(2):79-97.
- 243. Oh D-J. A long journey for acute kidney injury biomarkers. *Renal Failure*. 2020;42(1):154-165.
- 244. Nakano D. Septic acute kidney injury: a review of basic research. *Clinical and experimental nephrology.* 2020;24(12):1091-1102.

Errata

Page 68, Table 12: Erroneus placement of asterisks (*) in the column titled "Severe AKI (KDIGO 2-3, n=134)". Corrected Table 12 presented below.

Table 12 Associations of variables explored in the univariable models with outcomes in Study IV. Modified from table in Törnblom et al. Annals of Intensive Care 2020;10:51, supplementary information, with permission from SpringerOpen (Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License).

	Data	Two-sided p-values for outcomes			
	available	AKI	Severe AKI	RRT	Death by
	(of 484)	(KDIGO 1-3,	(KDIGO 2-3,	(n=46)	day 90
		n=217)	n=134)		(n=136)
Age	484	0.022*	0.450*	0.160*	<0.001*
Gender (male)	484	0.636*	0.180*	0.339	0.119*
Diabetes	484	0.663*	0.016*	0.113*	0.204*
CKD	484	0.016*	0.023*	0.003*	0.009*
COPD	476	0.221*	0.241*	0.801	0.680
Liver disease	478	0.596*	1.000	1.000	<0.001*
Systolic heart failure	484	0.958*	0.404*	0.269	0.025*
Hypertension	484	0.605*	0.669*	0.590	0.236*
Atherosclerosis	484	0.195*	0.715	1.000	0.294*
ACE or ARB	477	0.295*	0.783	1.000	0.792
NSAID	466	0.279*	0.263*	0.611	0.547*
Corticosteroids	481	0.506*	0.859	0.856	0.001*
Pre-ICU hypovolemia	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.003*	0.598
Pre-ICU diuretics	484	0.040*	0.020*	0.700	0.184*
Pre-ICU colloids	484	0.109*	0.179*	0.422	0.737
Pre-ICU hypotension	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.013*	0.007*
Nonoperative	484	0.776*	0.407*	0.672	0.005*
	400	0 700*	0.000*	0.000	0.00.4*
Emergency surgery	482	0.769*	0.336*	0.200	0.024*
SAPS II	484	0.192*	0.491*	0.466	<0.001*
(-age and renal points)					
Highest lactate (day 1)	484	<0.001*	<0.001*	0.002*	<0.001*
Acute liver failure	484	0.143*	0.008*	0.163	0.002*

Variables with smallest p-values*, restricting the number of covariates to 1 per 8 dependent endpoints, were included in multivariate logistic regression analyses with corresponding endpoints.

ACE, angiotensin convertase enzyme-inhibitor (permanent medication); ARB, angiotensin II receptor blocker (permanent medication); CKD, chronic kidney disease; colloids, starch or gelatin; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ICU, intensive care unit; NSAID, non-steroid anti-inflammatory drug (permanent medication); SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score